
 
 

Although members of the Town Council will be meeting in the Council chambers, the 
Council meetings are still available for members of the public to participate via Zoom or in-
person. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

NOTE: The Town of Durham requires 48 hours notice if special communication  
 aids are needed.  

 

I. Call to Order 

II. Town Council grants permission for fewer than a majority of Councilors to 
participate remotely  

 

III. Roll Call of Members. Those members participating remotely state why it is not 
reasonably practical for them to attend the meeting in person 

 

IV. Approval of Agenda  

V. Special Announcements – Chair reads Land Acknowledgement Statement 

VI. Public Comments (*) – Please state your name and address before speaking 

VII. Approval of Minutes – July 11, 2022  and September 12, 2022 

VIII. Councilor and Town Administrator Roundtable  

IX. Unanimous Consent Agenda (Requires unanimous approval.  Individual items may be 
removed by any councilor for separate discussion and vote) 
A. Shall the Town Council schedule a Public Hearing for Monday, October 17, 

2022, on a Resolution authorizing the acceptance of unanticipated revenues 
from the State of New Hampshire Department of Transportation (NHDOT) in 
the amount of $249,176.50 for road improvement/maintenance and 
$281,170.00 for bridge maintenance?  

B. RESOLUTION #2022-17 authorizing the repurposing of American Rescue Plan 
Act of 2021 federal funds in the amount of One Hundred Thousand Dollars 
($100,000.00) appropriated in the 2022 Capital Fund Budget originally for 
improvements at the WWTP to make improvements needed at the Lee Well 
Pump House 

TOWN OF DURHAM 
8 Newmarket Road 
Durham, NH 03824 
Tel:   603-868-5571 
Fax:  603-868-1858 

www.ci.durham.nh.us 
 

AGENDA 
 

DURHAM TOWN COUNCIL  
MONDAY, OCTOBER 3, 2022 

DURHAM TOWN HALL – COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
7:00 PM 

 

http://www.ci.durham.nh.us/


Durham Town Council Meeting Agenda 
October 3, 2022 – Page 2 

 

C. Shall the Town Council sign the Warrant for the General Election to be held on 
Tuesday, November 8, 2022? 

 
X. Committee Appointments  

Shall the Town Council appoint Joseph Warzin, 102 Madbury Road, to fill an 
alternate member vacancy on the Zoning Board of Adjustment? 
 

XI. Presentation Items 
A. Durham’s utility valuations for 2022 tax rate setting purposes – George 

Sansoucy, PE, LLC, Utilities Appraiser; Gail Jablonski, Business Manager 
B. Archeological research that has been done on Durham’s indigenous past – 

Meghan C.L. Howey, UNH Professor of Anthropology & Earth Systems 
Research Center; Paul and Denise Pouliot from the Cowasuck Band of the 
Pennacook Abenaki People 

C. Update on opening of the Oyster River Cooperative School District 2022/23 
school year – Dr. James Morse, Superintendent 

D. Update by the Housing Task Force - Heather Grant, Chair 
E. Electric Aggregation Plan for CPCNH (Community Power Coalition of NH) – 

Durham Energy Chair and Council Representative Jim Lawson and DEC 
member Steve Holmgren  

 
XII. Unfinished Business  

A. Shall the Town Council, upon request of the Housing Task Force, extend the 
task force for one year to October 2, 2023? 

B. Shall the Town Council approve the Durham Community Power Electric 
Aggregation Plan as recommended by the Durham Energy Committee? 

  
XIII. New Business   

 Other Business   
 
XIV. Nonpublic Session (if required)  
 
XV. Extended Councilor and Town Administrator Roundtable (if required) 
 
XVI. Adjourn (NLT 10:30 PM) 

_____________________________________ 
 

(*)   The public comment portion of the Council meeting is to allow members of the public 
        to address matters of public concern regarding town government for up to 5 minutes. 
        Obscene, violent, disruptive, disorderly comments, or those likely to induce violence, 
        disruption or disorder are not permitted and will not be tolerated. Complaints 
        regarding Town staff should be directed to the Administrator. 

 



TOW OF DURl--f Al 
8 NEWJ'vl RKET ROAD 
DURH M, NH 038_-1 

Tel: 603-868-5571 # 7 
Fa : 603-868-1858 AGENDA ITEM: 

www.ci.durham.nh.us 
DATE: October 3, 2022 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

INITIATED BY: Durham Town Council 

AGENDA ITEM: APPROVE THE TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES FOR JULY 11, 
2022 AND SEPTEMBER 12, 2022 

., 
CC PREPARED BY: Jennie Berry, Administrative 

PRESENTED BY: Todd I. Selig, Adminis 

AGENDA DESCRIPTION: 
Attached for the Council's review and approval are the minutes for the Town 
Council meetings held on Monday, July 11 and September 12, 2022. Please call or 
email Jennie Berry with any grammatical/ spelling changes prior to the meeting. 
Discussion at Monday evening's meeting should be limited only to substantive 
changes. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY: 
RSA 91-A:2 (II) specifies what must be contained in minutes of public meetings: 
"Minutes of all such meetings, including names of members, persons appearing before the 
bodies or agencies, and a brief description of the subject matter discussed and final decisions, 
shall be promptly recorded and open to public inspection not more than 5 business days after 
the public meeting, except as provided in RSA 91-A:6, and shall be treated as permanent 
records of any body or agency, or any subordinate body thereof, without exception." 

LEGAL OPINION: 
N/A 

FINANCIAL DETAILS: 
N/A 

ft 
~, PnntlJd on Recyr:led Paper 



Council Communication, 10/3/2022 - Page 2 
Re: Approval of Meeting Minutes 

SUGGESTED ACTION OR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

MOTION 1: 
The Durham Town Council does hereby approve the Town Council meeting minutes 
for Monday, July 11, 2022 (as presented/as amended). 

MOTION 2: 
The Durham Town Council does hereby approve the Town Council meeting minutes 
for Monday, September 12, 2022 (as presented /as amended). 



INITIATED BY: 

AGENDA ITEM: 

CC PREPARED BY: 

PRESENTED BY: 

TOWN OF DURHA 1 
8 NflVMARKET ROAD 
DURHAM, NH 03BAGENDA ITEM: 

Tel: 60 -868-5571 
Fax: 603-868- 1858 

WW\ .ri.durham.nh.u· 
DATE: October 3, 2022 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

Business Department 

SHALL THE TOWN COUNCIL, UPON RECOMMENDATION OF THE 

ADMINISTRATOR SCHEDULE A PUBLIC HEARING FOR MONDAY, 

OCTOBER 17, 2022 ON A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT HIGHWAY BLOCK 

GRANT FUNDING IN THE AMOUNT OF $249,176.50 TO BE USED FOR 
ROAD IMPROVEMENTS AND MAINTENANCE AND $281,170.00 TO BE 

USED FOR BRIDGE MAINTENANCE FROM THE STATE OF NEW 

HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION? 
I 7 

Gail Jablonski, Business ~ r 1/ 
Todd Selig, Town Administrat ~ \ / 
Gail Jablonski, Business Manager \ 

AGENDA DESCRIPTION: 

With the state reporting a record surplus of funds in fiscal year 2022, SB 401 was passed 
allowing for direct payments to cities and towns for infrastructure improvements. Using 
state general fund surplus generated in fiscal year 2022, the bill appropriated $36 million 
for the repair and maintenance of municipally-owned bridges and $30 million in 
additional municipal highway block grants. 

This funding does have restricted uses and is meant to supplement (not supplant) local 
budgets. The "supplement not supplant" provision requires that these funds must add to 
(supplement) and not replace (supplant) local budgeted funds when providing services 
that repair, maintain, and construct municipal bridges, repair and maintain class IV and V 
roads or acquire the equipment necessary to maintain Class IV and V roads. 

The Town of Durham will be receiving $249,176.50 in Highway block grant funds. These 
funds are allocated based 50% on the community's population in proportion to the entire 
state's population and 50% on the amount of Class IV and V road mileage in proportion to 
the total statewide Class IV and V mileage. 

The Town of Durham will be receiving $281,170.00 in Bridge Aid. These funds are 
allocated based 50% on a municipality's deck area proportional to the total deck area for 

ft 
"' Primed on Recycli'd Pap,:r 



Council Communication, 10/3/2022 - Page 2 
Re: Schedule a PH on a $255,707.79 Block Grant from State of NH for Road Improvements 

municipally-owned bridges within the state and 50% on the municipality's total share of 
the State's population. 

The Public Works Department will be proposing Capital Improvements Projects for 2023 
that will use these supplemental funds. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY: 
RSA 31:95-b III(a) states that "For unanticipated moneys in the amount of $10,000 or more, 
the selectmen or board of commissioners shall hold a prior public hearing on the action to be 
taken. Notice of the time, place, and subject of such hearing shall be published in a newspaper of 
general circulation in the relevant municipality at least 7 days before the hearing is held." 

LEGAL OPINION: 
N/A 

FINANCIAL DETAILS: 
The State of New Hampshire unanticipated revenue is valued at $249,176.50 for road 
maintenance and $281,170.00 for bridge maintenance. 

SUGGESTED ACTION OR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

MOTION: 
The Durham Town Council, upon recommendation of the Administrator, does hereby 
schedule a Public Hearing for Monday, October 17, 2022, on a resolution to accept 
highway block grant funding in the amount of $249,176.50 for road improvements and 
maintenance and $281,170.00 for bridge maintenance from the State of New Hampshire 
Department of Transportation. 



 

 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION #2022-XX OF DURHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
 

AUTHORIZING THE ACCEPTANCE OF UNANTICIPATED REVENUES FROM THE STATE OF NEW 
HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION IN THE AMOUNT OF $249,176.50 FOR 
ROAD IMPROVEMENT/MAINTENANCE AND $281,170.00 FOR BRIDGE MAINTENANCE  

 
 
 WHEREAS, in July 2022 the New Hampshire Senate passed SB 401 making 
an appropriation to the Department of Transportation for maintenance, construction 
and reconstruction of Class IV and V Highways and the repair and maintenance of 
municipally-owned bridges; and 
 
 WHEREAS, SB 401 allocates $30 million to New Hampshire Cities and Towns 
for roadway maintenance/repairs and $36 million for bridge maintenance; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Town of Durham has been allocated $249,176.50 for roadway 
maintenance and $281,170.00 for bridge maintenance; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Department of Public Works will be recommending the use 
of these funds in the 2023 Capital Improvements program; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Council approval is required for the acceptance of these funds; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, RSA 31:95-b III(a) states that “For unanticipated moneys in the 
amount of $10,000 or more, the selectmen or board of commissioners shall hold a prior public 
hearing on the action to be taken. Notice of the time, place, and subject of such hearing shall 
be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the relevant municipality at least 7 
days before the hearing is held.” and 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with RSA 31:95-b a duly posted Public Hearing 
was held by the Durham Town Council on _____________ for acceptance of 
unanticipated highway block grant funding totaling $249,176.50 for road 
improvements and $281,170.00 for bridge maintenance from the State of New 
Hampshire Department of Transportation,  
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Durham Town Council, 
the legislative and governing body of the Town of Durham, New Hampshire does 
hereby adopt Resolution #2022-XX authorizing the acceptance of highway block 



Resolution #2022-XX – Page 2 

grant funding totaling $249,176.50 from the State of New Hampshire Department of 
Transportation to be used for road improvements and maintenance. 
  
 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Council of the Town of Durham, 
New Hampshire this    day of    by     affirmative votes,       negative 
votes, and      abstentions.       
 
 

 _____________________________ 
      Katherine Marple, Chair 
      Durham Town Council 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Lorrie Pitt, Town Clerk-Tax Collector 



TOWN OF DURHA I 
8 NEWA.1 RKET RO D 
DURHA I, NH 038-.J # 9 B 

Tel: 603-868-557 I AGENDA ITEM: 
Fax: 603-868-1858 ----

ww, .ci.durham.nh.u · DATE: October 3, 2022 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

INITIATED BY: 

AGENDA ITEM: 

CC PREPARED BY: 

PRESENTED BY: 

AGENDA DESCRIPTION: 

Business Department 

RESOLUTION #2022-17 AUTHORIZING THE REPURPOSING OF 
ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($100,000.00) OF 
APPROPRIATED FUNDS IN THE 2022 CAPITAL FUND BUDGET 
FROM THE WASTEWATER FACILITIES PLAN PROJECT TO THE 
LEE WELL IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 

Gail Jablonski, Business Mana 

-Gail Jablonski, Business Manage 

In 2021 the Town of Durham received $1,705,709.00 from the American Rescue Plan 
Act of 2021. The Public Works Department developed a proposal on use of the funds 
for years 2021, 2022 and 2023 using the guidelines for eligible uses provided by the 
Governor's Office of Emergency Relief and Recovery. When the 2022 Capital 
Improvements Program was adopted, the plan included using $100,000.00 of the 
funds for improvements at the Wastewater Treatment Plant. Upon further review in 
2022, the Public Works Department has determined that these funds would be of 
more benefit to the Town for improvements needed at the Lee Well Pump House. 

We are asking that $100,000.00 be repurposed from the Wastewater Facilities plan 
account 07-2239 to the Lee Well Improvements 07-2225. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY: 
Durham Town Charter Sec. 5.7. Transfers" .... The Administrator, with the approval 
of the Council, may transfer any unspent balance or any portion thereof from one 
department to another." 

LEGAL OPINION: 
N/A 

ft \,f Printed on Recycled Paper 



Council Communication, - Page 2 
Re: Resolution #2022-17 for Repurposing Funds in 2022 CIP 

FINANCIAL DETAILS: 
A total of $100,000 of approved funds in the 2022 CIP will be repurposed. 

SUGGESTED ACTION OR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

MOTION: 
The Durham Town Council does hereby ADOPT (as presented) (as amended) 
Resolution #2022-17 authorizing the repurposing of appropriated funds in the 2022 
Capital Fund Budget from the Wastewater Facilities Plan Account 07-2239 to the 
Lee Well Improvements Account 07-2225. 



 

 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION #2022-17 OF DURHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
 

AUTHORIZING THE REPURPOSING OF ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($100,000.00) 
OF APPROPRIATED FUNDS IN THE 2022 CAPITAL FUND BUDGET  
 

WHEREAS, in 2021 the Durham Town Council passed Resolution #2021-15 
Approving the FY 2022 General Operating Budgets, the Capital Fund Budget and 
the 2022-2031 Capital Improvement plan; and 
 

WHEREAS, the 2022 Capital Improvement Fund Budget included the use of 
$100,000.00 received from the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (ARP) for 
Improvements at the Wastewater Facility Plant; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Public Works Department has determined that the funds 
would be more appropriately spent on improvements to the Lee Well Pump House; 
and 
 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Durham Town Council, the 
governing and legislative body of the Town of Durham, New Hampshire, does 
hereby adopt Resolution #2022-17 to repurpose One Hundred Thousand Dollars 
($100,000.00) of previously appropriated funds received from the ARP for the 
purpose of improvements at the Lee Well Pump House. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this       day of    by a majority 
vote of the Durham Town Council with       affirmative votes,   
 negative votes, and       abstentions.    
  
 

 _____________________________ 
      Katherine Marple, Chair 
      Durham Town Council 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Lorrie Pitt, Town Clerk-Tax Collector 



TO\tVN OF DURHA 1 
8 NEW/VI RKET ROAD 
DURHAM, NH 0382.J # 9 C 

Tel: 60 -868-5577AGENDA ITEM: 
Fax: 603-868-1858 

W\ w.ci.durham.nh.us DATE: October 3, 2022 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

INITIATED BY: 

AGENDA ITEM: 

CC PREPARED BY: 

PRESENTED BY: 

AGENDA DESCRIPTION: 

Durham Town Council 

SHALL THE TOWN COUNCIL SIGN THE WARRANT FOR THE 
GENERAL ELECTION TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 8, 
2022? 

Jennie Berry, Administrative Ass· 

Todd I. Selig, Administra..t F 

In accordance with RSA 658:1 the Durham Town Council is required to post an 
Election Warrant at least fourteen (14) days prior to the November 8, 2022, General 
Election. The Town Council must sign the original Warrant; after which one copy of 
the Warrant will be posted at the election site, one copy at the Town Hall, and one 
copy at the Durham Public Library. Attached for the Council's review is a copy of the 
General Election Warrant to be signed by Council members. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY: 
658:1 General Election. - At least 14 days before any state general election, the 
selectmen shall post a warrant at all the polling places and at the office of the town 
or city clerk or at the town hall. Said warrant shall prescribe the hour the polls are to 
open and the hour before which they may not close as provided in RSA 659:4 and 
RSA 659:4-a. It shall also state all offices and questions which are to be voted on and 
the location of the central polling place and of any additional polling places. If the 
selectmen neglect to issue a warrant for the state general election, or if they neglect 
to cause copies of such warrant to be posted agreeably to any vote of the town, they 
shall for each offense be guilty of a violation and any fines collected shall be 
remitted to the town. 

ft \,J Pnnrad on R11CyCled P;,po, 



Council Communication, 10/3/2022 - Page 2 
Re: Sign Warrant for General Election on November 8, 2022 

LEGAL OPINION: 
N/A 

FINANCIAL DETAILS: 
N/A 

SUGGESTED ACTION OR RECOMMENDATIONS: 
In accordance with RSA 658:1, it is requested that on Monday evening Councilors sign 
the Town of Durham Warrant for the November 8, 2022, General Election; copies of 
which will be posted at the polling place, the Town Hall, and the Durham Public 
Library. 



 
 
 

 
    WARRANT 

 
GENERAL ELECTION, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 8, 2022 

 
 
To the inhabitants of the Town of Durham, the County of Strafford, New Hampshire. 
 
You are hereby notified to meet at the Oyster River High School Gymnasium, 55 Coe Drive, 
in said Durham, New Hampshire, on Tuesday, the eighth day of November, 2022. The polls 
will be open between the hours of 7:00 A.M. and 7:00 P.M. to act upon the following 
subjects: 
 

To bring in your votes for Governor, US Senator, Representatives in 
Congress, Executive Councilor, State Senator, State Representatives, and 
County Officers. 
 

 
NOTE: Absentee ballots will be processed beginning at 9:00 AM. 

____________________ 
 
Given under our hands and seal this third (3rd) day of October, in the year of Our Lord two 
thousand and twenty-two. 
 
__________________________________ 
Katherine Marple, Chair 

__________________________________ 
James Lawson 

 
__________________________________ 
Sally Needell, Chair Pro Tem 

 
__________________________________ 
Eleanor (Ellie) Lonske 

 
__________________________________ 
Joe Friedman 

 
__________________________________ 
Eric Lund 

 
_________________________________ 
Charles (Chuck) Hotchkiss 

 
__________________________________ 
Sally Tobias 

  
_________________________________ 
Carden Welsh 
 

COUNCILORS OF DURHAM 



TO\tVN OF DURH 1 
8 NEVVMARKET ROAD 
DURHAM, NH 03824 # 1 0 

Tel: 60 -868-5571 AGENDA ITEM: 
Fax: 603-868-1858 

WW\ .ci.clurham.nh.u DATE: October 3, 2022 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

INITIATED BY: Joseph Warzin, 102 Madbury Road 

AGENDA ITEM: SHALL THE TOWN COUNCIL APPOINT JOSEPH WARZIN, 102 
MADBURY ROAD, TO FILL A THREE-YEAR ALTERNATE MEMBER 
TERM VACANCY ON THE ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT? 

CC PREPARED BY: Jennie Berry, Administrative Ass· 

PRESENTED BY: Todd I. Selig, Administr.µ r - / 

AGENDA DESCRIPTION: 
Attached for the Council's information and consideration is an application for board 
appointment submitted by Joseph Warzin, 102 Madbury Road, requesting 
appointment as an alternate member to the Zoning Board of Adjustment. There are 
currently three (3) alternate member vacancies with term expirations of April 30, 
2023, 2024, and 2025. 

Mr. Warzin has met with ZBA Chair Micah Warnock and has attended at least one 
meeting of board. Attached is correspondence from Chair Warnock endorsing Mr. 
Warzin' s appointment. 

Mr. Warzin has been invited to attend Monday night's Town Council meeting for 
introduction and to respond to any questions Council members may have 
concerning his appointment. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY: 
Section 11.5 "Vacancies in Elected or Appointed Office" states that, "Unless othenvise 
specified in this Charter, in the event of a vacancy in an elected or appointed office, board, 
commission or committee of the town, the Town Council shall fill that vacancy by appointment, 
such appointment to continue until the next town election for elected positions or the remainder 
of a person's term if an appointed position." 

LEGAL OPINION: 
N/A 

ft, \,f Prinred Ofl Recycled Pape, 



Council Communication, 10/3/2022 - Page 2 
Re: Appoint Joseph Warzin to the Zoning Board of Adjustment 

FINANCIAL DETAILS: 
N/A 

SUGGESTED ACTION OR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

MOTION: 
The Durham Town Council does hereby appoint Joseph Warzin, 102 Madbury 
Road, to fill an unexpired alternate member term vacancy on the Zoning 
Board of Adjustment with a term expiration of April 30, 2025 



X

X

Town of Durha1n 
8 Newmarket Road 

Durham, NH 03824-2898 
Tel: 603/868-5571 
Fax 603/868-1858 

jberry@ci.durham.nh.us 

Application for Board Appoint1nent 

Type of Appointment and Position Desired (Please select only one): 

New appointment/ regular member □ 
Reappointment/ regular member □ 

New appointment/ alternate member 
Reappointment/ alternate member 

NOTE: New applicants are asked to attend AT LEAST ONE meeting, as well as to meet 
separately with the Chair(s) of the committee(s) to which they are applying, prior t 
submitting c1n c1pplkdtion for c1ppoiotmenl. 

Applicant has: 
ATTENDED A MEETING 

~ SPOKEN WITH CHAIR/V CHAIR 
BEEN RECOMMENDED FOR MEMBERSHIP 

Name: J o S c p \,, vJ ~• r ?- , f\ 

Address: i o '2 r✓i a cl b v r-'1 Rd 

E-Mail Address: \;J" r 1- ,,..... @ j rt") rJ., \. co r-r, 

C- ·,- d0 ri 
Telephone: :i b I...() - , .:.1 .) - Co 3 3 l, 

Board/Commission/Committee to which you are interested in being appointed. (Please list in 
order of preference, if interested in more than one appointment). 

1. L on , 0 j f'..::>o c-, r Q 

2. 

3. 

Are you willing to attend ongoing educational sessions offered by the New Hampshire 
Municipal Association, Strafford Regional Planning Commission, et at and otherwise develop 
skills and knowledge relevant to your work on the board/ committee? ~ NO 

(Over) 



Town of Durham - Application for Board Appointment 
Page 2 

Please provide a brief explanation for your interest in appointment to a particular board, 
commission or committee: 

,n 

t\">e, C...ho,,r- <:1r,Q +V),$ S<!efV',5 Id( e u. ~cuO Ofporf""·, t 'j, 

Please provide brief background information about yourself: 

"1. t'A (v"'I ,v, C,1 • r I 1 "I C. pl ) o t f / ,J 1 'I _j r o r J "(, f B j V (:, . "[ Y,, ii \I f. I I V (, d I I") 

D V r h (1 ,v--, .fo r (JI ,, e O ( C.< r, d I I) N t VV FI e \ ct ~ r v r Cl b O ,J + <; ; -j.. , 

Please provide below the names and telephone numbers of up to three personal references: 

Name: t./\,{...q\.--i W"'rnu ' K Telephone: t; 4 0 ·· 4 '2. I ~ 3 i O S-

Name: Mtd··t 'K.rvejcr Telephone: 810-423 •' G\\G,1 

Name: Jos \-i Pe. (,G Telephone: C\7-o -- "3G8 - 0993 

♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦♦ 

Thank you for your interest in serving the Town. Please return this application, along with a 
resume, if available, to: Town Administrator, 8 Newmarket Road, Durham, NH 03824, or 
email Jennie Berry at jberrv@ci.durham.nh.us. 



From: Micah Warnock
To: Jen Berry
Subject: Re: October 3 Town Council Meeting
Date: Thursday, September 15, 2022 12:02:22 PM

Hi Jen,  Here is my recommendation.

Counselors,

I am pleased to recommend Joe Warzin to the Town of Durham, Zoning Board of Appeals. 
Joe attended a meeting on Sept 13th and has shown abundant interest in how the board works
to better understand the process.  I feel he will be an asset to the board and fill many of our
gaps.  Joe has been a resident of Durham for over a year and a resident in New Hampshire for
more than 5 years.

Thank you for considering him to join the board.

Best Regards,

Micah

On Thu, Sep 15, 2022 at 9:51 AM Jen Berry <jberry@ci.durham.nh.us> wrote:

Hi Joseph,

 

I understand you have attended a ZBA meeting. I will place your
appointment on the Town Council agenda for October 3rd if you will be
able to attend that meeting.  Just let me know.

 

Micah:  Could you please send over your recommendation for
Joseph’s appointment to me?

 

Thank you both.

 

Jen—

 

Jennie Berry

mailto:warnockmr@gmail.com
mailto:jberry@ci.durham.nh.us
mailto:jberry@ci.durham.nh.us


TO\ OF DURHA 1 
8 NEWM RKET ROAD 
DURHA 1, NH 03824 # 11 A 

Tel: 60 -868-5 AGENDA ITEM: 
Fax: 603-868- 1858 

wwv .ci.durham.nh.u. DATE: October 3, 2022 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

INITIATED BY: 

AGENDA ITEM: 

CC PREPARED BY: 

PRESENTED BY: 

AGENDA DESCRIPTION: 

Todd I. Selig, Administrator 

DURHAM'S UTILITY VALUATIONS FOR 2022 TAX RATE 
SETTING PURPOSES - GEORGE SANSOUCY, PE, LLC, 
UTILITIES APPRAISER; GAIL JABLONSKI, BUSINESS 
MANAGER 

Jennie Berry, Administrative Assistant 

George Sansoucy, PE, LLC, Utilifo . ..A.pp~ 
Gail Jablonski, Business Manager 1 ,. 

The Town's utilities appraiser, George Sansoucy, has been invited to attend Monday 
night's Town Council meeting to provide a presentation on Durham's utility 
valuations for 2022. Total utility valuations for 2022 came in below expectations. Mr. 
Sansoucy will explain why and what can be expected moving forward. 

Business Manager Gail Jablonski and Administrator Selig will talk with the Council 
about how to address the upcoming tax rate setting process for 2022 given actual 
utility numbers. 

Attached is a spreadsheet prepared by Ms. Jablonski which shows that instead of an 
increased total valuation of $9.62 million or .77%, the actual valuation for 2022 has 
decreased by $8.3 million or .66%. This drop in valuation, resulting from utilities, 
would make it challenging to achieve the estimated tax rate of $8.01 for 2022. 

Ms. Jablonski and Administrator Selig will talk about some options the Council may 
want to consider moving forward. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY: 
N/A 

LEGAL OPINION: 
N/A 

0 Printed on Recycled Paper 



Council Communication, 10/3/2022 - Page 2 
RE: Presentation by Utilities Appraiser George Sansoucy 

FINANCIAL DETAILS: 
N/A 

SUGGESTED ACTION OR RECOMMENDATIONS: 
No formal action required. Receive presentation the Town's utilities appraiser 
George Sansoucy, Business Manager Gail Jablonski, and Administrator Selig and 
hold question and answer session if desired. 



9/30/2022

2021 APPROVED 2022 TOWN 
COUNCIL BUDGET

General Fund Operating Budget 16,963,700$         17,591,550$         627,850$            3.70%

LESS Estimated Revenues 7,637,750$           8,508,000$           870,250$            11.39%

Total Budget Revenue Needed 9,325,950$           9,083,550$           (242,400)$           -2.60%

PLUS Overlay 300,000$              900,000$              600,000$            200.00%

PLUS Exemptions 125,000$              125,000$              -$                     0.00%

Total Property Taxes Estimated 9,750,950$           10,108,550$         357,600$            3.67%

Valuation 1,252,334,006$   1,261,954,506$   9,620,500$         0.77%

Proposed Town Tax Rate 7.86$                     8.01$                     0.15$                   1.87%

2021 APPROVED
2022 ESTIMATED 
RATE WITH NEW 

VALUATION

General Fund Operating Budget 16,963,700$         17,591,550$         627,850$            3.70%

LESS Estimated Revenues 7,637,750$           8,508,000$           870,250$            11.39%

Total Budget Revenue Needed 9,325,950$           9,083,550$           (242,400)$           -2.60%

PLUS Overlay 300,000$              900,000$              600,000$            200.00%

PLUS Exemptions 125,000$              129,500$              4,500$                 3.60%

Total Property Taxes Estimated 9,750,950$           10,113,050$         362,100$            3.71%

Valuation 1,252,334,006$   1,244,027,342$   (8,306,664)$       -0.66%

Proposed Town Tax Rate 7.86$                     8.13$                     0.27$                   3.39%

**Total Valuation change is $1,261,954,506 (Estimated in approved budget) less $1,244,027,342 (actual reported in 2022) = $17,927,164

If Council wishes the tax rate to remain at the proposed $8.01 an estimated $150,000+/- of fund balance will need to be used.

YEAR VALUATION
 INCREASE/ 

DECREASE OVER 
PRIOR YEAR 

TOWN
LOCAL SCHOOL 

DISTRICT
STATE 

EDUCATION TAX
COUNTY TOTAL TAX RATE

2011 901,932,943$       7.57$                     15.69$                 2.33$                   2.61$             28.20$                   

2012 917,254,599$       1.70% 7.61$                     16.07$                 2.35$                   2.72$             28.75$                   

2013 910,158,142$       -0.77% 8.34$                     16.76$                 2.45$                   2.86$             30.41$                   

2014 920,784,115$       1.17% 8.34$                     16.80$                 2.51$                   2.87$             30.52$                   

2015 964,931,959$       4.79% 8.48$                     16.20$                 2.38$                   2.79$             29.85$                   

2016 1,007,876,992$   4.45% 8.48$                     16.17$                 2.27$                   2.81$             29.73$                   

2017 1,019,411,430$   1.14% 8.48$                     16.98$                 2.34$                   2.84$             30.64$                   

2018* 1,189,092,535$   7.37$                     14.93$                 2.49$                   2.01$             26.80$                   

2019 1,196,283,337$   0.60% 7.60$                     15.32$                 2.50$                   2.01$             27.43$                   

2020 1,230,868,663$   2.89% 7.79$                     15.37$                 2.00$                   2.57$             27.73$                   

2021 1,252,334,006$   1.74% 7.86$                     15.33$                 1.98$                   2.80$             27.97$                   

*2018 Rate is adjusted due to revaluation of all properties.

PROPOSED 2022 TOWN TAX RATE 

VARIANCE

TAX RATE HISTORY

VARIANCE



TOWN OF OURHA I 
8 Nf\.N fARKET ROAD 
DURHAM, NH 038_4 # 11 B 

Tel: 603-868-S-A"GENDA ITEM: 
Fax: 603-868-7 858 

w\vw.ci.clurham.nh.u DATE: October 3, 2022 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

INITIATED BY: Todd I. Selig, Administrator 

AGENDA ITEM: PRESENTATION ON ARCHEOLOGICAL RESEARCH THAT HAS BEEN 
DONE ON DURHAM'S INDIGENOUS PAST- MEGHAN C.l. HOWEY, 
UNH PROFESSOR OF ANTHROPOLOGY & EARTH SYSTEMS 
RESEARCH CENTER; PAUL AND DENISE POULIOT FROM THE 
COWASUCK BAND OF THE PENNACOOK ABENAKI PEOPLE 

CC PREPARED BY: Jennie Berry, Administrative Assistant 

PRESENTED BY: Meghan C.L. Howey; Paul and Denise Pouliot 

AGENDA DESCRIPTION: 
On September 18, 2017, the Town Council adopted Resolution #2017-28 designating 
the second Monday in October as "Indigenous Peoples' Day" in Durham, NH and 
reaffirming the Town's commitment to promote understanding, friendship, and the 
well-being and growth of its indigenous community. 

Since that time, in recognition of Indigenous Peoples' Day in Durham each year, 
the Council has invited guests to one of its meetings prior to Indigenous Peoples' 
Day to share information they have with respect to the Abenaki/ Penacook 
Indigenous people of the Durham/ Oyster River area. 

This year, Meghan C.L. Howey, UNH Professor of Anthropology & Earth Systems 
Research Center, along with Paul and Denise Pouliot from the Cowasuck Band of 
the Pennacook Abenaki People, have been invited to talk about the archeological 
research that has been done relating to Durham's indigenous past. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY: 

N/A 

ft "1 Prrnl/Jc/ on Recycleci Paper 



Council Communication, 10/3/2022 - Page 2 
Re: Presentation in recognition of Indigenous Peoples' Day in Durham 

LEGAL OPINION: 
N/A 

FINANCIAL DETAILS: 
N/A 

SUGGESTED ACTION OR RECOMMENDATIONS: 
No formal motion is required. Receive presentation from Meghan C.L. Howey, 
UNH Professor of Anthropology & Earth Systems Research Center, along with Paul 
and Denise Pouliot from the Cowasuck Band of the Pennacook Abenaki People, to 
talk about the archeological research that has been done relating to Durham's 
indigenous past and hold a question-and-answer session if desired. 



INITIATED BY: 

AGENDA ITEM: 

CC PREPARED BY: 

PRESENTED BY: 

AGENDA DESCRIPTION: 

TOVV OF DURH I 
8 NEWMARKET ROAD 

DURHAM, NH O 824 # 11 C 
T I: 603-868-S!i«GENDA ITEM: 
Fa, : 603-868-1858 

www.ci.durham.nh.us DATE: October 3, 2022 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

Dr. James Morse, Superintendent, ORCSD 

UPDATE ON OPENING OF THE OYSTER RIVER COOPERATIVE 

SCHOOL DISTRICT 2022/23 SCHOOL YEAR - DR. JAMES 
MORSE, SUPERINTENDENT 

Jennie Berry, Administrative Assist~ / 

Dr. James Morse, Superintendent, ORCSD -

Dr. James Morse, Superintendent of the Oyster River Cooperative School District, 
has been invited to attending Monday evening's Town Council meeting to provide 
Councilors with an update on the beginning of the Oyster River Cooperative School 
District 2022/23 school year to date. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY: 
N/A 

LEGAL OPINION: 
N/A 

FINANCIAL DETAILS: 
N/A 

SUGGESTED ACTION OR RECOMMENDATIONS: 
No formal action required. Receive progress report from Superintendent James 
Morse relative to the Oyster River Cooperative School District and hold discussion, 
if desired. 

ft \,J Ptl~lt!d on Reeycled Pnper 



TOW OF DURHAM 
8 Nfll\/i 1ARKET ROAD 
DURHA/vl, NH 03824 # 11 D 

T I: 60 -868-AGENDA ITEM: 
Fax: 603-868- 1858 

1vw1 .ci.durham.nh.u 
DATE: October 3, 2022 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

INITIATED BY: Todd Selig, Administrator 

AGENDA ITEM: UPDATE BY THE HOUSING TASK FORCE- HEATHER GRANT, 
CHAIR 

CC PREPARED BY: Jennie Berry, Administrative Assista 

PRESENTED BY: Todd Selig, Administrator 

AGENDA DESCRIPTION: 
On September 27, 2021, the Durham Town Council voted to "sunset" the Economic 
Development Committee and formed a Housing Task Force to continue to function 
temporarily for another year, at which time task force members would provide the 
Town Council with their recommendations regarding workforce and affordable 
housing. It was agreed that after one year, the Council would receive the task force's 
recommendations, and the Council would determine whether to sunset the housing 
task force or continue it for a longer duration, to be determined at that time. 

Heather Grant, Chair of the Housing Task Force, will be present at Monday night's 
Council meeting to provide an update on the work the task force has been doing 
over the past year. Ms. Grant is expected to ask the Council to grant another one­
year extension to the task force so that it may conclude its work and make 
recommendations to the Council at that time. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY: 
Durham Town Charter. 

LEGAL OPINION: 
N/A 

FINANCIAL DETAILS: 
N/A 

0 Pr,nfed on Rreyclad Pape, 



Council Communication, 10/3/2022- Page 2 
Re: Receive Update From the Housing Task Force 

SUGGESTED ACTION OR RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Receive update from Housing Task Force Chair Heather Grant and hold 
question and answer session. At the request of the Housing Task Force, 
consider the following motion: 

MOTION: 
The Durham Town Council does hereby, upon recommendation of the Durham 
Housing Task Force, extend the task force for one year to October 2, 2023. 



INITIATED BY: 

AGENDA ITEM: 

TO~VN OF DURHA 1 
8 NEWMARKET ROAD # 11 E 
DURHAM, NH QAGENDA ITEM: 

Tel: 603-868-5571 
Fa : 603-868-1858 DATE: October 3, 2022 

ww1v.ci.durham.nh.u · 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

Nat Balch and Steve Holmgren, Members of the DEC 
Jim Lawson, Councilor 

CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON THE DURHAM COMMUNITY 
POWER ELECTRIC AGGREGATION PLAN 

CC PREPARED BY: Jim Lawson, Councilor 7 

PRESENTED BY: Steve Holmgren and N 

AGENDA DESCRIPTION: 
Consideration and action on the Durham Energy Aggregation Plan (EAP). 

BACKGROUND 
The Town Council at its September 27, 2021, meeting unanimously authorized the 
Administrator to sign a Joint Powers Agreement and join the Community Power 
Coalition of New Hampshire (CPC-NH). By doing so, Durham joined other New 
Hampshire towns and cities in the effort to develop and implement Community Power 
Aggregation. The council also appointed a representative and alternate to the CPC-NH 
Board of Directors, which is currently held by Mandy Merrill and Nat Balch, 
respectively. 

Today, CPC-NH has twenty member towns and cities that represent 20% of the state's 
population. It has been meeting its objectives for members to: 

1. Streamline the process for authorizing a Community Power Program locally. 
2. Share services and staff support across member cities, towns and counties. 
3. Participate in joint power solicitations and local project development 

opportunities. 
4. Share knowledge and collaborate regionally on clean energy and resilient 

infrastructure development. 
5. Speak with one voice at the Legislature and Public Utilities Commission on 

public advocacy issues related to energy and Community Power. 

ft \it) Pr,nled or> Recycled Peper 



Council Communication, 10/3/2022- Page 2 
Re: Consideration of and action on the Durham. Community Power Electric Aggregation Plan 

by RSA 53-E. It authorizes the Town Council to arrange and contract for the 
professional services and the power supply necessary to launch Durham Community 
Power. However, the EAP does not commit Durham to retain those services and power 
supplies, and the town council would only do so after their careful evaluation of CPC­
NH offerings targeted for Spring 2023. 

The framework of the Energy Aggregation Plan document and much of the text was 
created by CPC-NH. Durham specific information was incorporated into the plan by 
Steve Holmgren and members of the Energy Committee. 

Lebanon's EAP was the first approved by the Public Utilities Commission in August, 
contingent on final rules being approved by the Joint Legislative Committee on 
Administrative Rules. The final rules were approved in early September. The EAPs of 
Durham and other CPC-NH members have been updated based on Lebanon's, 
including two new appendixes. 

In addition to drafting the EAP under consideration, Durham and the Energy 
Committee have conducted two community power information sessions at the Town 
Hall that were well attended and later available through DCAT On-Demand. 
Information has also been made available at the Earth Day and Durham Day 
community events, via the Friday Updates and the Town's website. 

Approving the EAP at the Council's October 3rd meeting will assure that Durham is in 
the first wave of CPCNH communities that can consider moving forward with 
community power in the spring of 2023. The second wave of CPCNH communities 
would be 6 months to a year later. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY: 
RSA 53E and PUC administrative rules detailed in the EAP 

LEGAL OPINION: 
N/A 

FINANCIAL DETAILS: 
None at this time. 

SUGGESTED ACTION OR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

MOTION: 

The Durham Town Council does hereby approve the Durham Community Power 
Electric Aggregation Plan (as presented/as amended). 



9/30/2022

1

Energy Aggregation Plan for 
Durham Community Power

An Overview Presentation to the Durham Town Council
October 3, 2022

13

DURHAM COMMUNITY POWER

Appointed CPCNH Directors
Approves EAP for Submission
Oversees DCP

Drafted Electric Aggregation Plan (EAP) PUBLIC UTILITIES 
COMMISSION

Approves Durham EAP

ENERGY COMMITTEE

CPCNH is formed and governed 
by 15 Member communities, 
including Durham. 

CPCNH provides 
comprehensive services to 
Durham Community Power

TOWN COUNCIL

DURHAM RESIDENTS

COMMUNITY POWER 
COALITION OF NEW 

HAMPSHIRE

Community-appointed Board & 
Committees

Expert staff & vendors

Contracts for power & serves 
customers on behalf of DCP

EVERSOURCE

Power Delivery,
Metering, Billing

EAP

ISO New England

Power Market

14

0 COMMUNITY 
POWER COALITION 
OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 
For communities, by communities. 



9/30/2022

2

Purpose of the EAP – a Framework
❖ Defines program goals and objectives
❖ Defines governance (e.g. - process for 

approving rates)
❖ Summarizes the anticipated implementation 

process
❖ Commits Durham to comply with applicable 

statutes and regulations in terms of:

• Otherwise commit the Town to any 
defined course of action; or

• Impose any financial commitment or 
liability on the Town of Durham or its 
taxpayers.

The Plan does not:
(a) Providing universal access, reliability, and 

equitable treatment of all classes of customers;

(b) Meeting, at a minimum, the basic 

environmental and service standards established 

by the Public Utilities Commission and other 

applicable agencies and laws and rules.

The Plan does:

Address issues required to be considered by 
RSA 53-E including:

(a) How net metering will be provided; and

(b) How customers enrolled in the Electric 
Assistance Program will receive their 
discount.

15

Electric Aggregation Plan Overview

1. Introduction to Community Power

2. Overview of Durham Community 
Power

3. The Community Power Coalition of NH

4. Durham’s Goals, Objectives & 
Requirements

5. Statutory Requirements for Durham’s 
Plan

1. Legislative Background (RSA 53-E)

2. Community Power Coalition Background

3. Renewable Portfolio Standard

4. Utility Procurement & Rate Setting

5. Utility Net Energy Metering Tariffs

6. Opportunities for Durham: Net Energy Metering, 
Group Net Metering, etc.

7. Durham’s public planning process

8. How Load Serving Entities will be Implemented

9. Customer Data Protection Plan

Chapters: Appendices:

16



9/30/2022

3

Durham Community Power: Goals & Objectives 

• To Develop long-range 
energy plans for the 
Town that are 
consistent with our 
Master Plan and our 
commitment to the 
Global Covenant of 
Mayors

1. Save Customers Money

2. Provide Green Power

3. Plan for Rate Stability

4. Consumer Protection and Public Advocacy

5. Assist Customers to Lower Total Energy Costs

6. Encourage Beneficial Electrification

7. Promote Renewable Energy

8. Community Resilience

9. Community Investment

10.Regional Collaborations

11.Grid Modernization

Goal: Objectives:

(EAP p. 17)

The Durham Community Power program will:
❖ Serve as the default electricity supplier for Durham residents – in an “opt-out” program

❖ Operate on a competitive basis – Customers will be able to switch back to Eversource energy 
service or other suppliers with no penalty.

❖ Be self-funded by rates paid by participating customers – The Town will not use taxes to cover 
program expenses.

❖ Contract for the necessary services and energy supplies through CPCNH, in order to: 
implement and operate  the program, and set customer rates prior to program launch. 

❖ Operate with the guidance and advice of the Durham Town Council, the Durham Energy 
Committee (DEC), and CPCNH, all of which will continue to  provide oversight thereafter.

❖ Offer additional service and rate choices to customers beyond the default, such as more 
renewable energy and (in the future) time-varying rates.

❖ Only launch if it can initially offer default rates lower than or competitive with those offered 
by Eversource and NH Electric Co-op

18



9/30/2022

4

19

Today

CPA Launch

April-May

2023

(Wave 1)

June- Oct 2022
Member Gov Body:

 Adoption of JPA Amendment

- Adoption of amended EAPs

- EAP submission to PUC

August to September 2022
RFP solicitation process concludes

CPCNH Board approves Service 
Agreement(s) with Vendor(s)

October-December 2022
Board & Member Gov Body approval:

- Cost-Sharing Agreement

- Energy Risk Management Policy

- Financial Reserves Policy

- Rates Policy

December 2022
“Price-to-Beat” known for all utilities

CPCNH commences procurement

Mid-February 2023

Critical Path Timeline: Actions for Members

CPCNH concludes procurement

CPCNH submits required notice of 
intent to launch CPA service date to 
PUC and utilities

Coming soon –
agreements & policies 
to review & approve

We are here

• Approval of EAP by Town Council does not place financial commitment on Durham.

• Additional CPCNH Policies and Agreements this Fall contain commitments and will require 

reviews and vote.

Key Policies (1) – Cost Sharing & Risk Mgmt

• Cost Sharing Agreement with CPCNH: 
• Ensure General & Administrative Costs are shared across members 

(proportional to annual electricity sales) within the framework 
established by the JPA. 

• Costs for additional (1) Member Services and (2) Direct Projects only 
accrue to CPAs that have chosen to participate in the project.

• Energy Risk Management Policy (ERMP): purpose is to:
• Identify risks in the procurement of the power supply. 
• Set policy parameters for managing risk in the power supply portfolio.
• Define how Member CPAs operate with CPCNH in the procurement 

process. 

20

)-
...._________,) 

I I 
I I 



9/30/2022

5

Key Policies (2) – Financial Reserves & Rates

• Financial Reserves Policy: sets appropriate target levels to ensure:
• CPCNH satisfies working capital requirements,
• Adheres to agreements, 
• Covers unanticipated expenditures, 
• Supports rate stability,
• Continues to strengthen credit rating.

• Rates Policy: ensures rates are set in a timely fashion to:
• Recover capital and operating costs of CPA program
• Ensure customer communication activities comply with state and local 

(EAP) requirements.
21

22

Today

CPA Launch

April-May

2023

(Wave 1)

June- Oct 2022
Member Gov Body:

 Adoption of JPA Amendment

- Adoption of amended EAPs

- EAP submission to PUC

August to September 2022
RFP solicitation process concludes

CPCNH Board approves Service 
Agreement(s) with Vendor(s)

October-December 2022
Board & Member Gov Body approval:

- Cost-Sharing Agreement

- Energy Risk Management Policy

- Financial Reserves Policy

- Rates Policy

December 2022
“Price-to-Beat” known for all utilities

CPCNH commences procurement

Mid-February 2023

Critical Path Timeline: Actions for Members

CPCNH concludes procurement

CPCNH submits required notice of 
intent to launch CPA service date to 
PUC and utilities

We are hereI ) 
I I 
I I 

~ 



 

 

Durham Community Power  
Electric Aggregation Plan 

 
 

 
 

October 3, 2022 
 

 

 

 



 

1 

Table of Contents 
INTRODUCTION TO COMMUNITY POWER ................................................................................................................. 1 
OVERVIEW OF DURHAM COMMUNITY POWER ......................................................................................................... 2 

CUSTOMER NOTIFICATION AND ENROLLMENT PROCESS ............................................................................................................. 2 
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS AND ELECTRICITY USAGE ESTIMATES ...................................................................................................... 3 
MEMBERSHIP IN THE COMMUNITY POWER COALITION OF NEW HAMPSHIRE ................................................................................. 3 
PURPOSE OF THIS ELECTRIC AGGREGATION PLAN ..................................................................................................................... 4 
APPROVAL PROCESS FOR DURHAM COMMUNITY POWER .......................................................................................................... 5 
IMPLEMENTATION PROCESS FOR THE COALITION & DURHAM COMMUNITY POWER ........................................................................ 5 

Town Participation in Joint Powers Agency Governance ......................................................................................... 5 
Development of Member Cost Sharing Agreement and Services for Durham Community Power ........................... 6 

COALITION ENGAGEMENT ON RULE MAKING AT THE PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION ........................................................................ 7 
COALITION & DURHAM COMMUNITY POWER IMPLEMENTATION MILESTONE CHARTS .................................................................... 8 

OVERVIEW OF THE COMMUNITY POWER COALITION OF NEW HAMPSHIRE ............................................................ 10 
REGULATORY AND POLICY ADVOCACY .................................................................................................................................. 11 
COALITION MEMBER SERVICES ........................................................................................................................................... 11 

Innovative Local Programs & Customer Services ................................................................................................... 12 
Energy Risk Management & Financial Reserve Policies, Procedures and Practices ............................................... 13 
Development of Renewable and Battery Storage Projects .................................................................................... 14 

DURHAM COMMUNITY POWER GOALS, OBJECTIVES AND REQUIREMENTS ............................................................ 16 
DURHAM’S POLICY GOALS ................................................................................................................................................. 16 
DURHAM COMMUNITY POWER OBJECTIVES .......................................................................................................................... 17 
NEAR-TERM OPERATIONAL REQUIREMENTS .......................................................................................................................... 18 

Performance Relative to Utility Default Service and Net Energy Metering Generation Rates ............................... 18 
Customer Rates and Products ................................................................................................................................ 19 
Renewable Portfolio Standard Requirements ........................................................................................................ 19 
Energy Risk Management and Financial Reserve Policies Compliance .................................................................. 20 

ELECTRIC AGGREGATION PLAN STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS .................................................................................. 21 
ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE OF THE PROGRAM ................................................................................................................... 21 
METHODS OF ENTERING INTO AND TERMINATING AGREEMENTS ............................................................................................... 21 
OPERATION AND FUNDING ................................................................................................................................................ 22 
RATE SETTING, COSTS, ENROLLMENT PROCESS, AND OPTIONS ................................................................................................. 22 

Rate Setting and Costs ........................................................................................................................................... 23 
Enrollment Process and Options ............................................................................................................................ 23 

RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF PROGRAM PARTICIPANTS ..................................................................................................... 24 
NET METERING AND GROUP NET METERING POLICIES ............................................................................................................ 25 
ENSURING DISCOUNTS FOR ELECTRIC ASSISTANCE PROGRAM PARTICIPANTS ............................................................................... 26 
TERMINATION OF THE PROGRAM ........................................................................................................................................ 26 

ATTACHMENT 1: LEGISLATIVE BACKGROUND AND LOCAL CONTROL AUTHORITIES ................................................... 1 
STATUS OF THE COMPETITIVE MARKET ................................................................................................................................... 2 
THE COMMUNITY POWER ACT ............................................................................................................................................. 2 

ATTACHMENT 2: THE COMMUNITY POWER COALITION OF NEW HAMPSHIRE .......................................................... 5 
COALITION DESIGN PROCESS ................................................................................................................................................ 6 
JOINT POWERS AGREEMENT DRAFTING PROCESS ..................................................................................................................... 6 
OUTREACH AND IMPLEMENTATION PROCESS ........................................................................................................................... 7 

ATTACHMENT 3: NEW HAMPSHIRE ’S RENEWABLE PORTFOLIO STANDARD ............................................................... 8 



 

2 

ATTACHMENT 4: UTILITY DEFAULT PROCUREMENT CYCLES AND RATE SETTING ..................................................... 10 
ATTACHMENT 5: OVERVIEW OF UTILITY NET ENERGY METERING TARIFFS .............................................................. 12 

DISCUSSION OF UTILITY NET METERING, GROUP NET METERING AND LOW-MODERATE INCOME SOLAR PROJECT TARIFFS .................. 12 
COMPARISON OF UTILITY “STANDARD” AND “ALTERNATIVE” NET ENERGY METERING TARIFFS ....................................................... 14 
NET ENERGY METERING SYSTEMS BY UTILITY TERRITORY ......................................................................................................... 15 

ATTACHMENT 6: DURHAM COMMUNITY POWER NET METERING, GROUP NET METERING AND LOW-MODERATE 
INCOME SOLAR PROJECT OPPORTUNITIES ............................................................................................................... 19 
ATTACHMENT 7: DURHAM’S PUBLIC PLANNING PROCESS ....................................................................................... 23 
ATTACHMENT 8: TOWN POLICY EXCERPTS .............................................................................................................. 24 
ATTACHMENT 9: ABBREVIATIONS ........................................................................................................................... 25 
ATTACHMENT 10: HOW LOAD SERVING ENTITY SERVICES WILL BE IMPLEMENTED ................................................. 26 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE COMMUNITY POWER COALITION OF NEW HAMPSHIRE (CPCNH) ........................................................... 27 
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE TOWN OF DURHAM ........................................................................................................................ 30 

ATTACHMENT 11: CUSTOMER DATA PROTECTION PLAN ......................................................................................... 32 
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE COMMUNITY POWER COALITION OF NEW HAMPSHIRE (CPCNH) ........................................................... 32 
CPCNH REQUIREMENTS TO ACCESS AND USE OF INDIVIDUAL CUSTOMER DATA .......................................................................... 34 
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE TOWN OF DURHAM ........................................................................................................................ 36 
ADDITIONAL REFERENCES: STATUTORY AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS ................................................................................. 37 
STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS FOR COMMUNITY POWER AGGREGATORS & SERVICE PROVIDERS ........................................................ 37 
ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS SPECIFIC TO BROKERS & COMPETITIVE SUPPLIERS ........................................................................... 39 
ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS FOR THE MULTI-USE ENERGY DATA PLATFORM .............................................................................. 40 

 



 

1 

INTRODUCTION TO COMMUNITY POWER 
New Hampshire’s updated Community Power law (RSA 53-E, as amended by SB 286 - Chapter 316, 
NH Laws of 2019, effective October 1, 2019, and HB 315, Chapter 229, NH Laws of 2021, effective 
October 24, 2021) is a bipartisan policy designed to further democratize, evolve, and enhance the 
economic efficiency of our electric power industry. The Legislature’s intent in enacting RSA 53-E 
was to “encourage voluntary, cost effective and innovative solutions to local needs with careful 
consideration of local conditions and opportunities.” To achieve this goal, RSA 53-E authorizes local 
governments (cities, towns, and counties) to launch Community Power programs that: 

• Provide electricity supply service to residents and businesses, who are notified and enrolled on 
an “opt-in” customer choice or “opt-out” default service basis — and may thereafter leave or 
rejoin the program by switching suppliers (in advance of their next billing cycle date); 

• Procure a reliable supply of “all-requirements” electricity, inclusive of Renewable Portfolio 
Standard requirements, with the option to participate directly in the ISO New England 
wholesale market as a load-serving entity on behalf of participating customers; 

• Offer a range of innovative services, products, new Net Energy Metering supply rates, and local 
programs to participating customers;  

• Establish a joint powers agency with other Community Power programs to share services, 
contract for energy project developments, and facilitate related energy initiatives; and 

• Work collaboratively with distribution utilities, regulators, policymakers and innovative energy 
businesses to help modernize our electrical grid and market infrastructure.  

These authorities and local benefits are depicted in the graphic below:  

 

Distribution utilities will continue to deliver power to all customers, regardless of whether they are 
supplied electricity by new Community Power programs or Competitive Electric Power Suppliers 
(or have chosen to switch back to utility-provided default service).   

COMMUNITY POWER AUTHORITIES & LOCAL BENEFITS 

lectricity Utility 
Choice Partnerships 

--·' '~-~ 1¥, ~,~ ~~ 

Innovative 
Services 



 

2 

OVERVIEW OF Durham COMMUNITY POWER  
Durham Community Power is a program authorized under RSA 53-E to provide electricity supply 
service for the Town’s residents, businesses, and other types of customers. The program will only 
launch if it is able to initially offer residential default rates that are lower than or competitive with 
those offered by Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative. Thereafter, the program will: 

• Serve as the default electricity supplier for all customers on a default “opt-out” basis; 
• Offer innovative services and generation rates to customers on an "opt-in" or "opt-up" basis 

(such as 100% renewable premium products, time-varying rates and Net Energy Metering 
generation credits for customers with solar photovoltaics); 

• Operate on a competitive basis, in that customers may choose to switch between Durham 
Community Power, service provided by Competitive Electric Power Suppliers, and utility-
provided default service; and 

• Be self-funded through revenues generated by participating customers (the Town will not use 
taxes to cover program expenses).  

Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative will continue to own and operate the distribution grid and 
be responsible for delivering power to all customers within the Town. Customers will be charged 
for utility delivery services at rates set by the Public Utilities Commission. 

The Town Council, in coordination with advisory support from the Durham Energy Committee, will 
be authorized to arrange and contract for the necessary services and power supplies to implement 
and operate the program, set customer rates prior to program launch and continue to provide 
oversight over the program thereafter. 

Customer Notification and Enrollment Process 
Prior to launch of Durham Community Power, all eligible customers will be mailed notifications and 
provided the opportunity to “opt-out” or “opt-in” to the program, depending on whether they 
currently take service from a Competitive Electric Power Supplier or are on default service provided 
by Eversource or NH Electric Cooperative: 

• Customers already served by Competitive Electric Power Suppliers will be notified and may 
request to “opt-in” to the program; and 

• Customers currently on default service provided by Eversource or NH Electric Cooperative will 
be notified, provided the opportunity to decline participation, and thereafter transferred to 
Durham Community Power if they do not “opt-out”. 

Notifications to customers on utility-provided default service will include the initial fixed rate for 
the program’s default service compared with the Eversource or NH Electric Cooperative rate, be 
mailed to customers at least 30 days in advance of program launch and provide instructions for 
customers to decline participation (for example, by return postcard, calling a phone number or 
using a web portal). 

After the launch of Durham Community Power, any new customers that move to the Town will be 
transferred onto default service provided by the program, unless they choose to take service from 
Eversource or NH Electric Cooperative or a Competitive Electric Power Supplier. 

All customers on Durham Community Power default service will remain free to switch back to the 
Eversource or NH Electric Cooperative or to take service from a Competitive Electric Power Supplier. 



 

3 

Customer Accounts and Electricity Usage Estimates 
The tables below show the total number and annual electricity usage of customers within Durham’s 
territory who would initially receive either “opt-out” or “opt-in” notifications: 

 

 

 

Aggregated data shown was provided by Eversource  for the 12 months ending November 2021. 
(The number of NH Electric Cooperative customers in Durham is too small to allow sharing of 

usage data due to privacy regulations.) 

Membership in the Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire 
Durham is a founding member of the Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire (“the 
Coalition”), a joint powers agency authorized under RSA 53-A (“Agreements Between Governments: 
Joint Exercise of Powers”) that will operate on a not-for-profit basis.  

The Coalition was created so that towns, cities, and counties across New Hampshire could:  

1. Access the resources and support required to streamline the process of establishing an Electric 
Aggregation Committee, drafting an Electric Aggregation Plan and approving a new Community 
Power program. 

2. Jointly solicit and contract for third-party services and staff support to launch and operate 
Community Power programs, without requiring any upfront costs or imposing any financial 
liabilities on participating communities. 

3. Participate in joint power solicitations and local project development opportunities. 

4. Share knowledge and collaborate regionally on clean energy and resilient infrastructure 
development at the community-level throughout the state. 

5. Speak with one voice at the Legislature and Public Utilities Commission on public advocacy 
issues related to energy and Community Power. 

 Utility Default Supply Customers Competitive Supply Customers 

 (Eligible for Opt-Out Notifications & 
Automatic Enrollment) 

(Eligible for Opt-In Notifications & 
Voluntary Enrollment) 

 Customer 
Accounts 

Annual Usage 
(MWh) 

Customer 
Accounts 

Annual Usage 
(MWh) 

Residential 3168 22,131  467 4,303 

Commercial 441 12,414 138 11,244 

Industrial 2 3.9 2 123 

ST Lighting 5 5.9 2 1.7 

Total 3616 43,554.8 609 15,671.7 

https://www.cpcnh.org/


 

4 

The Coalition’s joint powers agency governance model and competitive business model have 
been designed in accordance with energy industry best practices to ensure that participating 
Community Power programs benefit from transparent governance and high-quality services —so 
that all communities are able to take full advantage of their local control authorities under RSA 
53-E and achieve the full scope of their local energy policy goals. 

The Coalition will be governed “for communities, by communities” under a voluntary and flexible 
membership structure, will provide competitive electricity service on a statewide basis, and will 
strengthen the ability of communities to coordinate effectively on public advocacy issues.  

Key aspects of the Coalition’s design, governance, services and start-up process are summarized in: 

• The appendix (Attachment 2) which provides an overview of the communities, volunteers and 
experts involved in the process of designing the power agency. 

• The chapter “Overview of the Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire”, which provides 
context regarding the purpose of joint action power agencies, highlights the importance of joint 
public advocacy (and summarizes the Coalition’s successful engagements at the Legislature and 
Public Utilities Commission on Community Power and public advocacy issues to-date), and 
summarizes key features of the Coalition’s business model and services.    

• The chapter “Durham Community Power Goals, Objectives and Requirements”, which explains 
how the Coalition’s joint action governance and business model should enable Durham to 
achieve the full scope of our policy goals, delineates what our goals are over the short-to-long 
term, and summarizes the program’s near-term operational requirements as a power 
enterprise.  

• The remainder of this chapter, which summarizes the Town’s anticipated role in the Coalition’s 
governance and implementation process through the launch of Durham Community Power.  

Purpose of this Electric Aggregation Plan 
The Durham Energy Committee was tasked by the Town Council to prepare this Electric Aggregation 
Plan, which sets forth Durham’s policy goals for our Community Power program, summarizes 
program governance and implementation processes, and commits Durham Community Power to 
comply with applicable statutes and regulations in terms of: 

• Providing universal access, reliability, and equitable treatment of all classes of customers 

COMMUNITY POWER COALITION: MEMBER BENEFITS 

Local Shared Public 
Control Services Advocacy 

-'· ---- ----11111 All 
Governed by Statewide Operations Regulatory and 
Communities & Economy-of-Scale Legislative Affairs 



 

5 

subject to any differences arising from varying opportunities, tariffs, and arrangements 
between different electric distribution utilities in their respective franchise territories; and 

• Meeting, at a minimum, the basic environmental and service standards established by the 
Public Utilities Commission and other applicable agencies and laws and rules concerning the 
provision of service under Community Power. 

This plan does not otherwise commit Durham to any defined course of action, including 
participation in the Coalition for the purposes of launching the program, and does not impose any 
financial commitment on the Town. 

The Town Council retains the power to contract for all required program services and electricity 
supplies, to set rates, and to pursue related projects independently of the Coalition.  

Approval Process for Durham Community Power 
This Electric Aggregation Plan was developed by the Durham Energy Committee with due input 
from the public, as required under RSA 53-E. Public hearings were held on June 15 and July 6, 2022. 
Refer to Attachment 7 for additional information. 

The Durham Energy Committee has determined that this Electric Aggregation Plan satisfies 
applicable statutory requirements and is in the best, long-term interest of the Town and its 
residents, businesses, and other ratepayers.  

Adoption of this Plan by the Town Council, by majority approval of those present and voting, 
establishes Durham Community Power as an approved aggregation with statutory authorities 
defined under RSA 53-E:3 (to be exercised with due oversight and local governance, as described 
herein), and authorizes the Town Council to arrange and contract for the necessary professional 
services and power supplies to launch Durham Community Power. 

Implementation Process for the Coalition & Durham Community Power 
The Town became a founding member of the Coalition on September 27, 2021 when the Town 
Council approved entering into the Coalition’s Joint Powers Agreement.  

The Coalition's Joint Powers Agreement includes the Articles of Agreement and Bylaws of the 
nonprofit. It establishes the general purpose, authorities, structure, Board of Directors, 
committees, cost-sharing principles, liability protections, and other aspects of the organization.  

The Coalition was incorporated on October 1, 2021 by the following founding local government 
Members: the cities of Lebanon, Nashua and Dover; the towns of Hanover, Harrisville, Exeter, Rye, 
Warner, Walpole, Plainfield, Newmarket, Enfield and Durham; and Cheshire County.  

This plan assumes, but does not require, the Town to participate fully in the Coalition for the 
purposes of implementing and operating Durham Community Power. 

Town Participation in Joint Powers Agency Governance 

The Coalition’s initial Board of Directors is constituted of representatives appointed by the 
governing bodies of each founding member. 

The Town Council has appointed primary and alternate representatives of Durham Community 
Power to serve on the Coalition's Board of Directors. The Town’s representatives will directly 
oversee the Coalition's initial startup and implementation activities, including the: 

• Adoption of Board policies and the election of officers;  



 

6 

• Hiring of expert staff to provide qualified management and oversight;  

• Solicitation and contracting of third-party service vendors to launch and operate Community 
Power programs; and  

• Appointment of Board members and other community representatives to committees.  

Durham and all other members will be directly represented on the Coalition’s Board until more than 
twenty-one (21) members join, at which point directors will be elected by vote of the members ’
representatives at annual meetings (with a Board size of between 11 and 21 representatives, at the 
members ’direction). 

Additionally, to exercise more regular oversight over specific aspects of the joint powers agency, 
the Coalition will have six standing committees: Executive, Finance, Audit, Regulatory and 
Legislative Affairs, Risk Management and Governance. The Board may also establish ad-hoc 
committees, and each direct project that members choose to pursue in the future will be overseen 
by a committee specific to that project. 

All meetings of the Coalition will comply with New Hampshire’s Right-to-Know Law (RSA 91-A), the 
purpose of which is to “ensure both the greatest possible public access to the actions, discussions 
and records of all public bodies, and their accountability to the people”, based on the recognition 
that “openness in the conduct of public business is essential to a democratic society.” 

Development of Member Cost Sharing Agreement and Services for Durham Community 
Power 

Under the terms of New Hampshire’s Community Power law (RSA 53-E): 

• Community Power programs must be self-funded, with ongoing costs paid for using the 
revenues generated by participating customers. 

• Municipalities are only allowed to incur incidental costs associated with implementing 
Community Power programs, such as the costs necessary to comply with the Community Power 
law, up to the time that the program starts to produce revenue from participating customers. 

Membership in the Coalition, and the implementation of Durham Community Power, will not 
require any upfront cost for the Town other than such incidental expenses (i.e., the staff time, 
counsel review of agreements, and other costs required to comply with the Community Power law). 

To provide the services, credit support and electricity supply required to launch and operate 
Durham Community Power: 

• The Coalition will administer competitive solicitations on behalf of all participating Community 
Power programs to contract with qualified vendors and credit-worthy suppliers.  

• Vendors are expected to fund and self-manage the upfront cost of launching Community Power 
programs, under at-risk and performance-based contract structures with payments contingent 
upon successful launch. 

• Program implementation costs for Durham, along with ongoing operational and power 
procurement expenses, will be factored into the customer rates adopted by the Town Council 
and be recovered from the revenues received from participating customers after the launch of 
Durham Community Power. 

Similar solicitations and at-risk, performance-based contract structures have been used to 
successfully launch and operate new joint powers agencies in other Community Power markets.  

http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/iii/53-E/53-E-mrg.htm


 

7 

Durham’s representatives on the Coalition's Board of Directors are participating in the solicitation 
of services, agency startup activities and the development of a cost-sharing agreement with other 
founding members.  

The Coalition’s Joint Powers Agreement provides certain requirements regarding how costs will be 
tracked and shared across participating Community Power programs, which will guide the 
development of the Coalition cost-sharing agreement:  

• Costs will be tracked in three distinct categories: direct project costs, member services, and 
general and administrative costs (which are overhead costs that are not associated with any 
specific project or member service);  

• Member cost-sharing agreements will be the same in all material respects: general and 
administrative costs will be allocated based on each Community Power program’s share of total 
electricity usage each year, while each member will choose and separately pay for the costs of 
specific services and projects (under terms that reflect a fair allocation across all the members 
that chose the same services and projects); and  

• The debts, liabilities and obligations of the Coalition, and of other participating Community 
Power programs, will be non-recourse to Durham (unless expressly agreed to by the Town 
Council under Durham’s Cost Sharing Agreement or a Project Contract).  

The Coalition intends to contract for all the services required to launch and operate member 
Community Power programs, which is expected to enable access to advanced services and 
expertise at least cost for Durham Community Power. However, note that: 

• The Town will be under no obligation to rely on the services provided through the Coalition until 
the Town Council executes the Coalition’s cost-sharing agreement and chooses which services 
will be provided through the Coalition.  

• At that time, the Town Council may decide to rely on the Coalition for all or a subset of the 
services required to launch and operate Durham Community Power.  

• Alternatively, the Town Council could decide to withdraw from the Coalition entirely, prior to 
executing the cost-sharing agreement, and launch Durham Community Power independently. 

• Lastly, after Durham Community Power launches, the Town could still decide to procure certain 
services independently or to withdraw from the Coalition at a future date, subject to the terms, 
conditions and any continuing obligations specified in the cost-sharing agreement approved by 
the Town Council.   

Decisions made by the Town Council regarding how to best implement and operate Durham 
Community Power, including the execution of the Coalition cost-sharing agreement and selection 
of services provided through the Coalition, will be made at duly noticed public meetings. 

Coalition Engagement on Rule Making at the Public Utility Commission  
Durham Community Power will launch after administrative rules governing Community Power are 
adopted by the Public Utilities Commission. Rules are expected to require submission of Durham’s 
Electric Aggregation Plan to the Commission in order to:  

• Provide formal notice that the Town is planning to launch a Community Power program;  
• Authorize the Town to request access to additional customer data from Eversource and NH 

Electric Cooperative that will be needed for the implementation and administration of Durham 
Community Power.  



 

8 

Over the course of 2020-2022, members of the Coalition have actively participated in the informal 
rule drafting process by providing initial and subsequent sets of draft rules for review and 
refinement, arranging and facilitating bilateral meetings with utilities and other stakeholders, and 
leading stakeholder workshop discussions and editing sessions at the request of Public Utilities 
Commission staff.  

On December 1, 2021, the Coalition submitted a petition for rulemaking to implement RSA 53-E 
for Community Power Aggregations, which was filed on behalf of the Coalition’s Members and 
other stakeholders that had been invited to join the petition. The Commission approved the 
petition in Docket DE 21-142 and issued an Initial Proposal on February 3, 2022, putting forward 
the Coalition’s recommended rules for public review and comment. Durham Community Power 
and the Coalition actively participated in the review and public comment process proceeding the 
Commission’s July 27, 2022 issuance of a Final Proposal for CPA Administrative Rules which was 
approved by the Joint Legislative Committee on Administrative Rules on September 16, 2022. 
Durham Community Power will continue to coordinate with the Coalition to engage in relevant 
legislative and regulatory processes. 

Coalition & Durham Community Power Implementation Milestone Charts 
The milestone charts below show the anticipated approval, formation and launch processes for 
Durham Community Power and the Coalition power agency, as described in the sections above. 

The first chart below summarizes the different categories of activities required to approve Durham 
Community Power and join the Coalition as a founding member to create the joint powers agency: 

Approval Process for Coalition Agency & Durham Community Power 

Durham’s directors on the Coalition Board are overseeing startup activities, including engagement 
at the Public Utilities Commission to finalize the administrative rules governing the Community 
Power market, and will bring forward the Coalition’s cost-sharing agreement along with an Energy 
Risk Management and Financial Reserve policies for approval by the Town Council:  

Process Initiated 

I Municipality approves 
Coalition Joint Powers 

Govern ing Body votes to approve 
the Coa lition Joint Powers 
Agreement, delegates signing 
authority, and designates primary 
and alternative representatives to 
serve on Board of Directors 

Community Power 
Committee Established 
Governing Body directs Committee 
to prepare an Electric Aggregation 
Plan in compliance with RSA S3-E 
(Community Power Act) 

Committee adopts Plan 
after Public Hearings 
Committee (1) holds public 
meetings and incorporates public 
feedback and (2) adopts Plan "in 
the best, long-term interest" of 
ratepayers and community (RSA 
S3-E requirement); Governing body 
passes to Legislative Body for 
approva l 

! i l
co~':~~ityl 

1---.;- ---eT,__ ____________ -4e1--..... e---------------~ ---.,_-----------I- Program 

I Approved 

Coalition established as a 
Joint Powers Agency 
Founding members execute the 
Coalition Joint Powers Agreement 
& incorporate the "Community 
Power Coalition of New 
Hampshire" as a new joint powers 
agency 

Electric Aggregation Plan 
drafted 
Data request submitted to utility 

Coalition facilitates engagement, 
provides draft plan for Committee 
to finalize & provides advisory 
support t h roughout the process 

Legislative Body 
approves Electric 
Aggregation Plan 
Requires approval by a majority 
present and voting 

Community Power program is 
officia lly established 

https://www.puc.nh.gov/Regulatory/Docketbk/2021/21-142.html


 

9 

Coalition Startup, Rule Making and Risk Management Policy Approval Process  

 

After the Public Utility Commission adopts rules and opens the market, the Coalition will be allowed 
to launch Durham Community Power (and the programs of other participating municipalities). The 
milestones below summarize the process by which the Coalition will structure and conduct data 
collection, forecasting, power procurement solicitations and rate setting exercises — in compliance 
with the Energy Risk Management and Financial Reserve policies adopted by the Town, and with 
oversight provided by Durham’s representatives on the Coalition’s Board of Directors — and the 
local outreach, customer notification mailings and public meeting process that culminates in the 
launch of Durham Community Power: 

Durham Community Power Launch Process 

Durham 
Community 

Power 
Approved 

Durham Representatives NH Public Utilities 
oversee startup activities Commission approves EAP 
Coalition Board of Directors Durham submits Electric 
oversees I adopts: Board policies, Aggregation Plan for 
officers, standing committees, compliance review & approval 
business planning, key staff Coalition facilitates engagement 
hiring, competitive solicitation & & requests for clarifications or 
contract negotiations with amendments to the plan 
vendors (to launch programs) 

NH Public Utilities 

The Coalition has been drafting 
rules with Commission staff & 
utilities, and is engaging 
throughout the public review 
process through CPA 
Administrative rule adoption 

Utilities provide 
detailed usage data 
Coalition receives detailed 
energy usage data for 
customers in Enfield 

Constructs load/price forecasts, 
energy portfolio strategy & 
conducts power procurement 

Public Outreach Campaign 
Coalition supports Durham's 
public events, virtual meetings, 
website and media relations, 
education re: Net Energy 
Metering and "opt-up" 
customer products and rates, 
and promotion of local 
programs 

Town Council adopts 
Cost-Sharing Agreement 
Durham's Directors submit 
Coalition Cost-Sharing 
Agreement to Town Council for 
approval & recommend Coal ition 
services to launch and operate 
Community Power Program 
(provided at no upfront cost) 

Coalition 
Prepares 
to Launch 
Programs 

Town Council adopts Risk 
Management policies 
Energy Risk Management and 
Financial Reserves policies 
submitted for approval, along 
with any associated delegation of 
authorities to Durham's 
Directors (on Coalition Board) 

Customer notifications & 

Coalition vendors activate 
customer call center 

30+ days prior to launch: 
mailers sent to al l customers 

15 days after notification: public 
information meeting held 

Coalition Durham 

Prepares to - --- ------------- - - ------------- - ---------------1Community 
Launch Power 

Programs Launched 

Coalition oversees power 
procurement 
Coalition Board of Directors 
oversees power procurement 
to meet Member's customer 
rate and portfolio content 
requirements (in compliance 
with Energy Risk Management 
& Financial Reserve policies) 

Utilities provide 
customer mailing data 
Customer names, addresses 
and account numbers received 

Coa lition prepares customer 
notifications with required 
disclosures 

Program launch initiated 
Coalition vendors establish 
services (integration, testing 
and compliance requirements) 

Utilities notified of 
account switch-over via 
Electronic Data Interchange 
process 



 

10 

OVERVIEW OF THE COMMUNITY POWER COALITION OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 

Durham is a founding member of the Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire, a nonprofit 
joint powers agency authorized under RSA 53-A.  

Joint powers agencies are governed by communities, operated on a not-for-profit basis and allow 
Community Power programs to voluntarily join forces to take advantage of economies of scale and 
shared services to boost operational efficiencies.  

The public power industry has created over seventy joint powers agencies in the last fifty years, and 
several hundred local governments operate Community Power programs through joint powers 
agencies or comparable collaborative governance structures in Massachusetts, New York, Ohio, 
Illinois and California.  

The experience of these markets demonstrates that the economics of joint purchasing can enable 
access to advanced services and expertise for participating Community Power programs, which 
helps keep power rates competitive and supports long-term financial stability. 

The Coalition was incorporated on October 1, 2021 by the following founding local government 
Members: the cities of Lebanon, Nashua and Dover; the towns of Hanover, Harrisville, Exeter, Rye, 
Warner, Walpole, Plainfield, Newmarket, Enfield and Durham; and Cheshire County. Following 
incorporation, the city of Portsmouth and the towns of Hudson, New London, Pembroke, 
Peterborough, and Webster joined the Coalition’s membership. 

The 19 city and town members of the Coalition represent more than 270,000 residents, or ~20% of 
the population of New Hampshire. To put the anticipated electricity usage of all Coalition Members 
Community Power programs in context, at full enrollment of all eligible customers, the Coalition 
would be larger in size than the default service loads of Unitil, Liberty Utilities, and the New 
Hampshire Electric Coop on an individual basis, and smaller than Eversource (New Hampshire's 
largest investor-owned distribution utility). 

Durham anticipates relying upon the Coalition’s member services to launch and operate Durham 
Community Power, but approval of this plan does not commit the Town to doing so. The Town 
Council retains the authority to contract for any and all required program services and electricity 
supplies, and to pursue projects independently of the Coalition.  

Based on the design and projected size of the Coalition, the Electric Aggregation Committee 
anticipates that participation will result in cost savings, lower staff requirements and enhanced 
quality of services for Durham Community Power and other member programs.  

Operating Durham Community Power through the Coalition is expected to provide a number of 
distinct benefits in terms of transparency, scope and cost of services, regulatory and policy 
engagement, local program options, quality of energy risk management advice, the accrual of 
financial reserves sufficient to ensure long-term financial stability, and opportunities to develop 

COMMUNITY 
POWER COALITION 
OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 
For communities, by communities. 



 

11 

new energy projects. These benefits are summarized in the “Regulatory and Policy Advocacy” and 
“Coalition Member Services” sections below.  

Regulatory and Policy Advocacy 
Changes in law and regulations that adversely impact Community Power programs will be a non-
trivial source of risk for Durham Community Power.  

Additionally, extending and maintaining the full range of benefits that Durham Community Power 
could create for customers will require informed participation and advocacy on energy issues at the 
Legislature and Public Utilities Commission.  

Coordination with other municipalities and Community Power initiatives on matters of common 
interest through the Coalition have already produced meaningful results in these areas. For 
example, over the last year, the communities involved in the formation of the Coalition have:  

• Participated in the Community Power informal rule drafting process, including by providing the 
initial and subsequent draft rules for discussion, arranging bilateral meetings with utilities and 
other stakeholders, and leading significant portions of the subsequent stakeholder workshops 
at the request of Public Utilities Commission staff. 

• Intervened in regulatory proceedings to represent the interests of customers and Community 
Power programs, such as by advocating for expanded data access in the Commission’s 
Statewide Data Platform docket (DE 19-197), under which a settlement agreement with the 
utilities was negotiated and recently submitted to the Public Utilities Commission. (If adopted, 
the settlement would create a “Statewide Data Platform” to enables data access for customers 
and Community Power programs, which would be overseen by a Governance Council that 
includes Coalition representatives.) 

• Testified in legislative hearings — and organized hundreds of people, elected officials and civic 
organizations to register in support of the Coalition’s position on key legislation — in order to 
successfully negotiate critical amendments to two bills recently signed into law: 

o House Bill 315, which clarifies and expands key Community Power authorities; and 
o Senate Bill 91, which expands battery storage options for customers as well as Net 

Energy Metering for communities and established a committee to study the creation of 
a new market that would expand the ability of Community Power programs to buy from 
in-state generators and battery storage projects (under 5 megawatts in size). 

Durham Community Power will continue and expand on these activities through the Coalition. 

Coalition Member Services 
The Coalition’s business model has been designed to provide Community Power programs with: 

• Innovative local programs and customer services: new rates, technologies and services for 
customers that lower electricity supply costs and risk for the program in aggregate, along with 
the electricity bills of participating customers from a “full bill” perspective (i.e., inclusive of 
transmission and distribution charges). 

• Energy Risk Management & Financial Reserve Policies, Procedures and Practices: expert 
guidance on energy risk management, procurement of a diversified portfolio of energy 
contracts, rate setting, and financial reserves — sufficient to ensure the stability and 
operational continuity of Community Power programs over the long-term (as technologies, 



 

12 

market dynamics, risk factors, consumer preferences and energy policies continue to evolve). 
• Development of Renewable and Battery Storage Projects: joint contracting opportunities for 

the construction of new renewable and battery storage projects financed under long-term 
contracts — to diversify program energy portfolios, provide a physical hedge against wholesale 
market price fluctuations, enhance the resiliency of our electrical grid, and stimulate local 
construction and economic development.  

The Coalition intends to contract with qualified vendors and credit-worthy suppliers to provide the 
services, credit support and electricity required to launch and operate Community Power programs. 
These third parties are expected to fund the upfront cost of implementing Community Power 
programs, the expense of which would be amortized and recovered for a specified term, along with 
ongoing operating costs, in customer rates.  

The extent of services offered by the Coalition is expected to thereafter expand over time, in 
response to new market opportunities and ongoing regulatory rule reforms, and to meet the local 
objectives of participating Community Power programs. The Coalition also plans to hire a small 
number of qualified staff to ensure effective oversight of operations, as well as enhanced 
transparency and expert management as the Coalition’s business operations evolve.   

The proceeding sections explain how the above categories of member services are interrelated in 
ways that combine to ensure Durham Community Power remains operationally stable, competitive 
and able to achieve the full range of our local policy goals over the long-term. 

Innovative Local Programs & Customer Services 

Cost-effective local programs provide new retail products and services that enable customers to: 

• Intelligently moderate their use of electricity from the grid during times of high wholesale 
power prices and when the physical grid is constrained (at-risk of not being able to deliver 
enough power to meet all customers’ usage requirements during the hours of “peak demand”);  

• Increase their use of electricity from the grid when wholesale prices are relatively low and the 
physical grid is not constrained.  

Examples of innovative retail products and services that enable customers to do so include time-
based rate options, individual and group net metering, targeted efficiency, distributed generation 
and energy storage programs, electric vehicle charging rates, and other offerings that empower 
customers directly and enable the services of third-party energy companies that are helping 
customers adopt and use new technologies. 

Programs that enable the intelligent use of electricity will help Durham Community Power to: 

• Lower electricity supply costs and risk for the program in aggregate, along with the electricity 
bills of participating customers from a “full bill” perspective (inclusive of transmission and 
distribution charges); 

• Strengthen customer relationships and local brand recognition; and  
• Protect against customer attrition (the risk that customers opt-out of the program by choosing 

an alternative supplier) and potentially grow the program’s customer base over time. 
Local programs, in order to be cost-effective, need to be designed in ways that relate to and actively 
help manage the various sources of cost and risk involved in operating a competitive power agency.  



 

13 

As explained in the section below, the Coalition will adopt a structured approach to monitoring, 
analyzing and actively managing energy cost and risk — both to enable the design of cost-effective 
local programs, and provide additional benefits such as long-term financial stability.  

Energy Risk Management & Financial Reserve Policies, Procedures and Practices  

Durham Community Power’s ability to maintain competitive rates, as market prices and Eversource 
and NH Electric Cooperative default rates change over time, is a primary goal for the program. 
Competitive rates will significantly reduce the risk that customers opt-out of Durham Community 
Power and allow the program to achieve our medium- to long-term goals.  

To that end, working with the other members of the Coalition, Durham Community Power will 
adopt Energy Risk Management and Financial Reserve policies. The purpose of these policies is to: 

• Ensure that Durham Community Power allocates customer revenues in ways that balance our 
community’s goals and objectives over the short-to-long term; and 

• Define how the Coalition will conduct energy risk management, procurement and market 
operations on behalf of Durham Community Power (so that the agency remains in compliance 
with our adopted policies).  

Combined with the operational procedures and practices of the Coalition’s business model, these 
policies are designed to ensure that Durham Community Power and all participating members of 
the Coalition will be able to: 

• Foresee, forecast and adequately plan for adverse contingencies (such as power supply shocks, 
economic downturns and changes in policy and regulations); 

• Structure and manage a diversified portfolio (or “book”) of physical and financial energy 
contracts in order to (1) hedge price risk in an optimal fashion by assessing the cost of entering 
into forward contracts against the risk of wholesale market price exposure, (2) transact quickly 
to take advantage of changing market conditions and (3) incorporate energy contracts from a 
variety of preferred sources (e.g., renewables and battery storage assets, local generators, 
customer-generators and demand response programs, etc.);  

• Maintain competitive rates, and additionally set aside funds to accrue financial reserves, while 
also implementing local programs (designed in ways that lower portfolio costs and risk factors);  

• Draw on financial reserves or credit support sufficient to maintain (1) rate stability for 
participating customers and (2) adequate cash flow for the Coalition’s operations over the 
course of any adverse events and periods.  

As Durham Community Power accrues financial reserves, the Coalition will be able to facilitate 
additional ways to lower costs, create new value, and further enhance the financial stability of the 
program. As one example, the accrual of sufficient reserves will allow Durham Community Power 
to begin self-providing the collateral required for wholesale power market transactions and power 
purchase agreements. This will lower the capital costs and risk premiums otherwise embedded into 
the price of power contracts negotiated by the Coalition. Similarly, the Coalition also intends to 
facilitate pooled power procurement across participating Community Power programs, and to 
explore opportunities to jointly satisfy collateral obligations within these arrangements.  

Lastly, as explained further in the section below, the combination of the Coalition’s approach to 
energy portfolio risk management and the accrual of sufficient financial reserves by participating 



 

14 

members is what will enable Durham Community Power to enter into long-term contracts — in 
order to construct new renewable and battery storage projects.  

Development of Renewable and Battery Storage Projects 

As Durham Community Power and other participating Community Power programs demonstrate 
the ability to accrue reserves sufficient to ensure our collective financial stability — and maintain 
or grow our customer base by offering competitive rates and innovative services over time — the 
Coalition will be able to facilitate new project developments for Durham Community Power and 
other Community Power programs that elect to jointly participate in long-term contracting 
solicitations. As context: 

• Project developers and financiers require long-term power purchase agreements (typically 10 
years or longer in duration) to justify the upfront cost of constructing renewables and battery 
storage facilities;  

• Consequently, project financiers will not execute long-term contracts with a Community Power 
program if they do not believe that the program is likely to remain a stable, credit-worthy 
counterparty (i.e., unlikely to default on payment obligations over the contract term). 

Achieving the ability to execute long-term contracts and build new renewables and battery storage 
projects is a priority for Durham Community Power and the other Community Power programs 
joining together to create the Coalition. This objective is an important policy goal for our program 
and will additionally diversify the energy supply portfolio managed by the Coalition.  

Portfolio diversification helps to stabilize operating margins by intelligently hedging Durham 
Community Power’s exposure to wholesale market dynamics and price fluctuations. The objective 
is to enter into contracts that help to manage risk and maximize revenues for the program from 
total portfolio management perspective, in order to further strengthen our program’s financial 
performance and stability over the long-term. As context: 

• When bidding on joint project development solicitations, developers will submit different 
combinations of technologies, project locations, prices, term lengths and contractual clauses 
with operational and financial implications.  

• Selecting which contracts to enter into — and effectively negotiating contract terms and prices 
— requires analyzing the different contracts being offered, individually and in combinations, 
and simulating the impact that the new contracts would have on Durham Community Power’s 
cashflow, total portfolio costs and risk profile over the length of the contract.  

• This exercise, which is a key component of the Coalition’s broader “portfolio strategy” analysis, 
is referred to as “contract valuation” or “deal valuation”. These simulations will allow the 
Coalition to quantify the value of the contract (from a portfolio risk management perspective), 
compare the value against the price being offered by developers, negotiate for better terms 
and prices as necessary, and enter into contracts on behalf of Durham Community Power that 
are likely to cost less than the value created at the program portfolio level.  

As described in the preceding section “Energy Risk Management & Financial Reserve Policies, 
Procedures and Practices”, the Coalition’s business model has been designed to actively manage a 
diversified portfolio of energy contracts at launch — which entails:  

• Understanding and analyzing energy cost and risk factors on a continuous basis; 
• Conducting contract valuation simulations; 



 

15 

• Negotiating contract terms and prices with a variety of counterparties to construct a portfolio 
of energy contracts that, in aggregate, is designed to optimally hedge price risk; and 

• Thereafter, actively and continuously managing the “book” of contracts in response to market 
dynamics, price movements and opportunities.  

In these ways, the Coalition’s business model provides the foundational capabilities required to 
support joint project development solicitations for Durham Community Power and other 
participating programs — inclusive of long-term contract valuation simulations, counterparty 
negotiation, and active management of the contract and overall portfolio thereafter. 

  



 

16 

Durham Community Power Goals, Objectives and Requirements 
Durham Community Power affords the Town the capacity and flexibility to realize and build on our 
policies pertaining to energy, environment, economic development, and infrastructure. 

Our policy goals will need to be pursued through a combination of direct program activities and 
informed public advocacy at the Legislature and Public Utilities Commission. This will require 
enhanced coordination with other communities as well as advanced operational services, 
dedicated expertise, innovation and sustained initiative carried out over a period of multiple years.  

Simultaneously, maintaining competitive rates compared to Eversource and NH Electric 
Cooperative’s default service rates — as market prices, energy technologies and policies change 
over time — will require nimble decision-making and the ability to evolve business operations in 
response to changing market conditions in order to actively manage risk, minimize costs and 
maximize the creation of customer value.   

The structure of the Coalition — the combination of the joint powers agency’s community 
governance model, competitive business model and coordinated approach to engaging in public 
advocacy — has been designed to enable and streamline these activities for Durham Community 
Power at an advantageous, cost-effective economy-of-scale.  

Participation in the Coalition is therefore expected to strengthen the capacity and financial 
performance of Durham Community Power (DCP), such that the program is able to operate 
continuously as a self-supporting, competitive enterprise for the foreseeable future, and will 
therefore be able to work towards achieving the full scope of our policy goals and objectives over 
the long-term. 

Durham’s Policy Goals  
Durham Master Plan -- From the Durham Master Plan, 2015: “…the Town of Durham, along with 
commercial property owners and homeowners will continue to realize cost savings while reducing 
carbon emissions, thereby increasing the community’s resiliency and sustainability relative to 
energy use.”  
 
Global Covenant of Mayors (GCOM) – The Durham Energy Committee will continue to encourage 
the town’s commitment to implement GCOM guidelines in establishing long-range energy plans 
for the Town. By joining GCoM, Durham has pledged to develop, adopt, use, and regularly report 
on the following, among others: 

• Ambitious, measurable and time-bound target(s) to reduce/avoid greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions; 

• An ambitious and just goal to improve access to secure, sustainable and affordable energy; 
and 

• A formally adopted plan(s) addressing climate change mitigation / low emission 
development, climate resilience and adaptation, and access to sustainable energy.   

  

Refer to Attachment 8 for additional select excerpts of these policies: 

 References:  
1. Durham Master Plan, 2015, Energy Chapter. 



 

17 

2. Global Covenant of Mayors website, https://www.globalcovenantofmayors.org/ 

 

Durham Community Power Objectives 
To achieve our policy goals, DCP will be guided by the following objectives: 

1. Save Customers Money: DCP will only launch if it is able to initially offer default rates that are 
lower than or competitive with those offered by Eversource and NH Electric Coop.  

2. Provide Green Power: DCP will additionally offer easy to opt-in products, with varied levels of 
renewable energy to further the town’s goal of reducing overall greenhouse gas emissions. 

3. Plan for Rate Stability: By adopting an Energy Risk Management Policy to guide procurement 
and coordinating with CPCNH to deposit a portion of revenues into a rate reserve fund, DCP will 
protect its default service customers against rate fluctuation and ensure its own long-term 
stability as a program. 

4. Consumer Protections & Public Advocacy: DCP will 

a. Ensure that the contracts entered on behalf of DCP customers are fair by operating 
with transparency, providing regular disclosures to customers, and working with 
oversight by the Durham Town Council. 

b. Represent the interests of Durham and the program’s customers at the Legislature 
and Public Utilities Commission on matters pertaining to Community Power and 
Rate-payer protection. 

c. Will support the creation of a more competitive, efficient, and green energy market 
for New Hampshire. 

5. Assist Customers to Lower Total Energy Costs: DCP will develop education and outreach 
programs to lower the carbon emissions and the overall cost of customer energy use, through 
electrification of appliances and vehicles and through thermal efficiency programs to lower 
heating and cooling energy costs.  The adoption by customers of technologies that will reduce 
the electricity demand of DCP during peak hours will lower transmission and capacity costs for 
all DCP customers (and other ratepayers).  Eventually DCP intends to offer opt-in time varying 
rates to incentivize shifting power consumption away from times when electricity wholesale 
market prices are high and demand on the system is peaking.   

6. Promote Renewable Energy: DCP will advocate for the development of cost-effective projects 
to supply an affordable energy portfolio using in-state, regional, and local renewable energy 
and battery storage projects. 

7. Community Resilience: DCP will advocate for measures and projects that enhance our ability 
to maintain electric service at all times. DCP will  

a. Advocate for projects that include back-up power supplies (batteries and 
generation), and community microgrids on critical facilities; 

b. Identify collaboration opportunities with UNH on sharing of power assets or other 
utilities in emergencies 

 

https://www.globalcovenantofmayors.org/


 

18 

8. Community Investment:  DCP will strive to increase the financial strength of the community by 
encouraging local energy generation and storage projects, and supporting customer installation 
of technologies that control when power is taken from the grid and when it is supplied to the 
grid to better manage costs. Such projects can attract investment capital and create returns 
that remain in the community.   

9. Regional Collaborations: DCP will collaborate with municipalities, other Community Power 
programs and government agencies to jointly advocate for: 

a. Cost-effective local renewable generation and storage projects,  

b. Electric vehicle fleets and charging networks, and  

c. Other clean energy infrastructure developments 

10. Grid Modernization: DCP will join with other Community Power programs to advocate for 
policies, regulations, and infrastructure investments (e.g., advanced metering) that are 
necessary to enable: 

a. Innovative customer services 

b. The intelligent use of new clean technologies,  

c. Cost-effective integration of local and regional renewable generation 

d. The reliable operation of customer and community owned microgrids and utility 
grids. 

Through strategies and initiatives like these, enabled by the scope and scale of service provided 
through the Coalition, Durham Community Power intends to:  

• Reduce fossil fuel consumption overall while enhancing the reliability of our electricity grid; 
• Create savings and new value for customers; and  
• Attract and support local businesses. 
These objectives are essential to our continued success as a vital, sustainable community. 

Near-Term Operational Requirements 
While many of the broader benefits Durham Community Power intends to create for customers 
and the Town will be developed over time, the program’s immediate objective is to offer 
competitive default supply rates compared to Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative while 
accruing a reserve fund sufficient to ensure long-term financial stability, and additionally offering 
voluntary products that retail customers may opt-up to receive, as well as Net Energy Metering 
supply rates that allow customer generators to participate in the program. 

Durham Community Power will need to balance customer rate levels, renewable power content 
and the accrual of program reserves to meet these objectives.  

Performance Relative to Utility Default Service and Net Energy Metering Generation Rates   

Compensation to customer generators under Net Energy Metering generation rates, the timing of 
the program’s rate setting decisions and, to a certain degree, the procurement of electricity will 
need to take into account Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative’s tariffs, processes and timing in 
regard to these activities.  



 

19 

Refer to Attachment 3, Attachment 4, Attachment 5 and the section “Net Metering and Group Net 
Metering Policies” for additional documentation and discussion of these factors. 

Customer Rates and Products 

The table below provides an illustrative example of a default service product and optional rates 
that could be offered to customers:  

 DEFAULT SERVICE 
(automatic enrollment) 

OPTIONAL PRODUCTS 

 Basic Service Green Start Prime 

Attributes 5-10% above Renewable 
Portfolio Standard (RPS) Meets RPS ~50% Renewable 100% 

Renewable 

Price Meet or beat default 
utility rate at launch 

Below default 
utility rates 

Higher or 
competitive w/ 

default utility rate 

Exceeds default 
utility rate 

 

The products that Durham Community Power initially offers to customers, and the rates charged 
for each product, will be refined and finalized in advance of program launch.  

Renewable Portfolio Standard Requirements 

New Hampshire’s Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS) requires all electricity suppliers to obtain 
RECs for four distinct “classes” of renewables, each distinguishing between different technologies 
and dependent upon the year that the generators came online.  

For 2021, Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative is required to include 21.6% renewable energy 
in their energy supply. This minimum compliance requirement will increase incrementally to 25.2% 
by 2025 and remain fixed thereafter, absent an increase in the RPS. 

Durham Community Power will seek to procure voluntary renewables in excess of the RPS minimum 
requirements from “Class I” resources (as defined in Attachment 3). Additionally, the program could 
prioritize including as much renewable energy sourced from generating resources located in New 
Hampshire and New England as possible. 

The chart below shows the different classes and quantities of renewable power required under the 
RPS between 2023 and 2025, along with, for the sake of illustration, Durham Community Power’s 
additional voluntary purchases (assuming that the default product from the table in the proceeding 
section, which exceeds RPS requirements by 5% to 10% each year): 



 

20 

 
Energy Risk Management and Financial Reserve Policies Compliance 

Durham Community Power’s power procurement, budgeting and rate-setting will be coordinated 
with the Energy Risk Management and Financial Reserve policies developed in coordination with 
CPCNH that will be adopted by the Town Council.  

This decision-making framework is intended to guide the program to allocate revenues in a manner 
that appropriately balances our competing priorities — to ensure that Durham Community Power 
will remain stable, and able to work towards achieving all of our policy goals, over the long-term. 

  

Renewable Portfolio Standard Requirements+ Voluntary Purchases 

40% 

35% 

30% 
■ Community Power Default (Voluntary) 

25% ■ RPS Class IV (Existing Small Hydro) 

20% 
■ RPS Class Ill (Existing Biomass/Methane) 

■ RPS Class II (Solar) 

15% 

■ RPS Class I (Thermal) 

10% 
■ RPS Class I (Non-Thermal) 

5% 

0% 

2023 2024 2025 



 

21 

ELECTRIC AGGREGATION PLAN STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS 
The following requirements for this Electric Aggregation Plan, in compliance with RSA 53-E:6, are 
addressed below: 

A. Organizational structure of the program; 
B. Methods of entering into and terminating agreements; 
C. Operation and funding; 
D. Rate setting, costs, and customer enrollment process;  
E. Rights and responsibilities of program participants; 
F. Net metering and group net metering policies; 
G. Ensuring discounts for Electric Assistance Program participants; and,  
H. Termination of program. 

Organizational Structure of the Program 
Upon approval of this plan, Durham Community Power will be authorized to provide electricity and 
other related services to participating residents, businesses, and other customers in the Town. 

The Town Council will oversee the program and has overall governance authority. Decisions 
regarding Durham Community Power, such as amending and modifying program goals or this 
Electric Aggregation Plan (in accordance with RSA 53-E:7, IX), adoption of Energy Risk Management 
and Financial Reserve policies and approval of customer rates, will be made at duly noticed public 
meetings. 

The Town Council has appointed a primary and alternate representative to participate in the 
Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire and to serve on the agency’s initial Board of 
Directors and may delegate certain decision-making authorities to them to carry out their 
responsibilities at the Town Council’s direction.  

In general, Durham’s representatives will be expected to help oversee the start-up and operation 
of the agency, provide input regarding the Coalition’s public advocacy on matters of policy and 
regulation, provide direction to the Coalition’s vendors and/or staff as the agency’s operations and 
customer services evolve over time, and report back regularly regarding the performance of 
Durham Community Power and on any matter that warrants attention or requires action by the 
Town Council.  

Additionally, the Durham Energy Committee will continue to hold meetings for the purpose of (1) 
providing community input and advisory support regarding the program and (2) facilitating public 
education and engagement in our community.  

Methods of Entering Into and Terminating Agreements 
This Electric Aggregation Plan authorizes the Town Council to negotiate, enter into, modify, enforce, 
and terminate agreements as necessary for the implementation and operation of Durham 
Community Power. 



 

22 

Operation and Funding 
Durham Community Power will work through CPCNH to contract with qualified vendors and credit-
worthy suppliers to provide the services, credit support and electricity required to launch and 
operate the program.  

This plan assumes, but does not require, Durham to participate fully in the Coalition and thereby 
contract for operational services jointly with other participating Community Power programs.  

The Coalition’s third-party contractors will be expected to fund the upfront cost of implementing 
Durham Community Power, the expense of which will be amortized and recovered in the program’s 
rates and charges to participating customers. The program may also seek opportunities to apply for 
grant funding, either independently or through the Coalition. 

Services provided by third-party entities required to launch and operate the program may include 
portfolio risk management advisory services, wholesale Load Serving Entity (LSE) services, financial 
services, electronic data interchange (EDI) services with the utility, and customer notification, data 
management, billing, and relationship management (e.g., call center, website, etc.) services. 
Additional information on how Durham Community Power will implement Load Serving Entity (LSE) 
services is found in Attachment 10, How Load Serving Entity Services will be Implemented. 

Additional support services such as management and planning, budgeting and rate setting, local 
project development support, regulatory compliance, and legislative and regulatory engagement 
services (on matters that could impact the program and participating customers) will be addressed 
through a combination of staff support and third-party services. 

Durham Community Power will work through CPCNH to provide “all-requirements” electricity 
supply for its customers, inclusive of all of the electrical energy, capacity, reserves, ancillary 
services, transmission services, transmission and distribution losses, congestion management, and 
other such services or products necessary to provide firm power supply to participants and meet 
the requirements of New Hampshire’s Renewable Portfolio Standard. (Refer to Attachment 3 for 
details regarding the requirements of Renewable Portfolio Standard statute, RSA 362-F.) 

Electricity supply contracts through CPCNH will be executed or guaranteed by investment-grade 
entities, and suppliers will be required to use proper standards of management and operations, 
maintain sufficient insurance and meet appropriate performance requirements. 

Additionally, RSA 53-E provides Community Power programs with authorities pertaining to meter 
ownership, meter reading, billing, and other related services. These authorities provide Durham 
Community Power with the practical ability to help customers adopt and use innovative 
technologies (for example, building management systems, smart thermostats, backup battery 
storage systems, controllable electric vehicle chargers, etc.) in ways that save money, enhance grid 
resiliency and decarbonize our power supply.  

However, the implementation of these authorities is expected to take some time, as it requires 
action by the Public Utilities Commission to adopt enabling rules and coordination with Eversource 
and NH Electric Cooperative to adapt existing meter and billing system processes. 

Rate Setting, Costs, Enrollment Process, and Options 
Customers who choose not to participate in Durham Community Power shall not be responsible for 
any costs associated with the program, apart from incidental costs incurred by the Town prior to 
the point at which the program starts producing revenue from participating customers (for 



 

23 

example, contract review by an attorney, but not any operational or capitalized costs of the 
program). 

Rate Setting and Costs 

Durham Community Power will only launch if it is able to offer residential default rates that are 
initially lower than or competitive with those offered by Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative; 
thereafter, the program will strive to maintain competitive rates for all default service customers, 
as well as customers who opt-in or opt-up to receive optional retail products, while working to 
achieve the program’s goals (as set forth in this Electric Aggregation Plan and modified from time 
to time at the direction of the Town Council).  

The Town Council, in coordination with CPCNH, will adopt Energy Risk Management and Financial 
Reserve policies to govern the program’s power procurement and rate-setting decisions. Rates will 
be set at a level such that revenues from participating customers are projected to meet or exceed 
the ongoing operating and capital costs of the program.  

To ensure the financial stability of Durham Community Power, a portion of revenues will be 
deposited through CPCNH in a financial reserve account. In general, the fund will be restricted for 
uses such as: 

• In the near-term, maintain competitive customer rates in the context of price fluctuations in 
the electricity market and other factors; 

• In the medium term, as collateral for power purchase agreements (including for the 
development of new renewable and battery storage projects), and for additional credit 
enhancements and purposes that lower the program’s cost of service; and 

• Over the long term, may also be used to directly fund other program financial requirements, or 
to augment the financing for development of new projects and programs in the later years of 
the program, subject to the Town Council’s approval. 

As required by law, the program will ensure the equitable treatment of all classes of customers, 
subject to any differences arising from varying opportunities, tariffs, and arrangements between 
different electric distribution utilities in their respective franchise territories.  

In other words, customers will be treated the same based on their circumstances. For example, any 
customers that opt-in after being offered the opportunity to participate during the initial 
enrollment period may be offered rates that reflect how market prices have changed in the 
intervening period. 

Changes to the program’s default service rates shall be set and publicly noticed at least 30 days in 
advance of any rate change.  

Enrollment Process and Options 

Durham Community Power intends to launch on an opt-out basis, providing an alternative default 
service to the utility provided default service rate. After approval of this Electric Aggregation Plan 
and before the launch of Durham Community Power, all customers in the Town will be sent 
notifications regarding the program and offered the opportunity to participate: 

• Customers currently on default service provided by Eversource or NH Electric Cooperative will 
be sent “opt-out” notifications — describing the program, its implications for the Town, the 
rights and responsibilities of customers, and program rates and charges — with instructions on 
how to decline participation, and thereafter be transferred to Durham Community Power if they 



 

24 

do not opt-out of the program prior to launch.  
• Customers already served by Competitive Electric Power Suppliers will receive “opt-in” 

notifications describing the program and may request to opt-in to the program.  
Customers will be notified through a mailing, which will be posted not less than 30 days prior to the 
enrollment of any customers. All information will be repeated and posted at the Town’s Community 
Power website. A public information meeting will be held within 15 days of the notification to 
answer program questions or provide clarification. 

Optional products, such as increased renewable power content in excess of the Renewable 
Portfolio Standard (RPS) content of the program’s default product and other energy services, may 
be offered on an opt-in basis. 

After launch and in accordance with any applicable rules and procedures established by the Public 
Utilities Commission, new customers will be provided with the default service rates of Eversource 
or NH Electric Cooperative and Durham Community Power, and will be transferred onto Durham 
Community Power’s default service unless they choose to be served by Eversource, NH Electric 
Cooperative or a Competitive Electric Power Supplier.  

Customers that request to opt-in to the program may do so subject to the terms of Durham 
Community Power. 

Residents, businesses, and other electricity customers may opt-out of participating in Durham 
Community Power default service at any time, by submitting adequate notice in advance of the 
next regular meter reading by Eversource or NH Electric Cooperative (in the same manner as if they 
were on utility provided default service or as approved by the Public Utilities Commission). 

Customers that have opted-in to an optional product offered by Durham Community Power may 
switch back to the Eversource or NH Electric Cooperative or to take service from a Competitive 
Electric Power Supplier subject to any terms and conditions of the optional product. 

Rights and Responsibilities of Program Participants 
All participants will have available to them the customer protection provisions of the law and 
regulations of New Hampshire, including the right to question billing and service quality practices. 

Customers will be able to ask questions of and register complaints with the Town, Eversource and 
NH Electric Cooperative and the Public Utilities Commission. 

Durham Community Power shall maintain the confidentiality of individual customer data in 
compliance with its obligations as a service provider under RSA 363:38 (privacy policies for 
individual customer data; duties and responsibilities of service providers) and other applicable 
statutes and Public Utilities Commission rules. Individual customer data includes information that 
singly or in combination can identify that specific customer including the individual customers ’
name, service address, billing address, telephone number, account number, payment information, 
and electricity consumption. Such individual customer data will not be subject to public disclosure 
under RSA 91-A (access to governmental records and meetings). Suppliers and vendors for Durham 
Community Power will be contractually required to maintain the confidentiality of individual 
customer data pursuant to RSA 363:38, V(b). Attachment 11, Customer Data Protection Plan, details 
the reasonable security procedures and practices that the Town and Durham Community Power 
will employ to protect individual customer data from unauthorized access, use, destruction, 
modification, or disclosure. 



 

25 

Aggregate or anonymized data that does not compromise confidentiality of individual customers 
may be released at the discretion of Durham Community Power and as required by law or 
regulation. 

Participants will continue to be responsible for paying their bills. Failure to do so may result in a 
customer being transferred from Durham Community Power back to Eversource and NH Electric 
Cooperative (the regulated distribution utility and provider of last resort) for default energy service, 
payment collections and utility shut offs under procedures subject to oversight by the Public 
Utilities Commission. 

Net Metering and Group Net Metering Policies 
Under the net metering process, customers who install renewable generation or qualifying 
combined heat and power systems up to 1,000 kilowatts in size are eligible to receive credit or 
compensation for any electricity generated onsite in excess of their onsite usage.  

Any surplus generation produced by these systems flows back into the distribution grid and offsets 
the electricity that would otherwise have to be purchased from the regional wholesale market to 
serve other customers.  

Currently, customer-generators are charged their full retail rate for electricity supplied by 
Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative and receive credits for electricity they export to the grid 
based on Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative’s Net Energy Metering (NEM) tariffs.  

Durham Community Power intends to provide new rates and terms that compensate participating 
customer-generators for the electricity supply component of their net metered surplus generation.  

Customer-generators will continue to receive any non-supply related components (e.g., 
transmission and distribution credits) directly from Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative, as 
specified under the terms of their applicable net energy metering tariff.  

For group net metering where the host customer-generator is on default service, to the extent  
Durham Community Power’s supply rates are lower than Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative’s 
default service rate or if the host is located outside of Durham, it may be most advantageous for 
the host to remain a Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative default service customer, while the 
other group members are free to switch to Durham Community Power for their supply and continue 
to receive on-bill credits for their participation in the group. 

Durham Community Power’s exact terms, conditions, and rates for compensating and crediting 
different types of NEM customer generators in the Town will be set at duly noticed public meetings 
and fully disclosed to all prospective NEM customers through the program’s enrollment notification 
process and thereafter. 

Certain aspects of administering net energy metering require coordination Eversource and NH 
Electric Cooperative and Durham Community Power. The enabling services and strategies that 
Durham Community Power may pursue, in order to benefit and encourage customers to adopt 
distributed generation, include but are not limited to:  

• Dual-billing customer-generators separately for supply services;  
• Offering time-varying rates and alterative credit mechanisms to compensate customers for 

surplus generation;   
• Streamlining the establishment of new Group Net Metering and Low-Moderate Income Solar 



 

26 

Project groups; 
• Facilitating interval meter and Renewable Energy Certificate (REC) meter installations for 

customer-generators; and 
• Engaging at the Legislature and Public Utilities Commission to advocate for upgrades and 

reforms to metering and billing infrastructure and business processes to enable Net Energy 
Metering and other innovative services to benefit customer-generators.    

For additional details regarding these enabling services and strategies, refer to: 

• Attachment 5 provides an overview of Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative’s net energy 
metering tariffs in use today, including the “standard” and “alternative” tariffs for individual 
customer-generators as well as Group Net Metering and Low-Moderate Income Solar Project 
options, and tables showing the number of customer-generators on net metered service in each 
utility territory; 

• Attachment 6 provides an in-depth discussion regarding operational and strategic opportunities 
to enhance net metering and group net metering through Durham Community Power.  

Ensuring Discounts for Electric Assistance Program Participants 
Income eligible households can qualify for discounts on their electric bills under the Electric 
Assistance Program. Durham Community Power will support income eligible customers who enroll 
in the Electric Assistance Program to receive their discount. 

Electric Assistance Program discounts are funded by all ratepayers as part of the System Benefits 
Charge, which is charged to all customers and collected by the distribution utilities.  

At present, the Public Utilities Commission and utilities only support provision of the discount to 
individual customers when the customer’s electricity supply charges are billed through the 
distribution utility. 

Durham Community Power consequently plans to rely on Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative 
to bill all customer accounts enrolled in the Electric Assistance Program. This represents no change 
in the provision or funding of this program.  

This arrangement may be revisited if, at some point in future, the Public Utilities Commission 
enables Community Power programs to provide Electric Assistance Program customers with their 
discount directly. 

Termination of the Program 
There is no planned termination date for Durham Community Power. 

Durham Community Power may be terminated by majority approval of the Town Council. If so 
terminated, Durham Community Power would cease operations after satisfying any obligations 
contractually entered into prior to termination, and after meeting any advance notification period 
or other applicable requirements in statute or regulation, at which point participating customers 
would either be transferred to default service provided by Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative 
or to a Competitive Electric Power Supplier of their choosing.  

Durham Community Power will provide as much advance notice as possible regarding the potential 
or planned termination of the program to participating customers, the Coalition, the Public Utilities 
Commission and Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative. 



 

27 

Upon termination, the balance of any funds accrued in the program’s financial reserve fund and 
other accounts, if any, would be available for distribution or application as directed by the Town 
Council and in accordance with any applicable law and regulation. 



 

1 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachments 



 

1 

Attachment 1: Legislative Background and Local Control 
Authorities 
In 1996, New Hampshire led the nation in being the first state to pass an Electric Utility 
Restructuring Act (RSA 374-F), the purpose of which is excerpted in full below: 

I. The most compelling reason to restructure the New Hampshire electric utility industry is to 
reduce costs for all consumers of electricity by harnessing the power of competitive markets. 
The overall public policy goal of restructuring is to develop a more efficient industry structure 
and regulatory framework that results in a more productive economy by reducing costs to 
consumers while maintaining safe and reliable electric service with minimum adverse 
impacts on the environment. Increased customer choice and the development of competitive 
markets for wholesale and retail electricity services are key elements in a restructured 
industry that will require unbundling of prices and services and at least functional separation 
of centralized generation services from transmission and distribution services. 

II. A transition to competitive markets for electricity is consistent with the directives of part II, 
article 83 of the New Hampshire constitution which reads in part: “Free and fair competition 
in the trades and industries is an inherent and essential right of the people and should be 
protected against all monopolies and conspiracies which tend to hinder or destroy it.” 
Competitive markets should provide electricity suppliers with incentives to operate 
efficiently and cleanly, open markets for new and improved technologies, provide electricity 
buyers and sellers with appropriate price signals, and improve public confidence in the 
electric utility industry. 

III. The following interdependent policy principles are intended to guide the New Hampshire 
public utilities commission in implementing a statewide electric utility industry restructuring 
plan, in establishing interim stranded cost recovery charges, in approving each utility’s 
compliance filing, in streamlining administrative processes to make regulation more 
efficient, and in regulating a restructured electric utility industry. In addition, these 
interdependent principles are intended to guide the New Hampshire general court and the 
department of environmental services and other state agencies in promoting and regulating 
a restructured electric utility industry.  

Prior to this point, state regulators set retail customer rates to allow electric utilities to recover 
profits and prudently earned costs for “vertically integrated” monopoly service — spanning 
wholesale electricity generation, transmission, local distribution and retail customer services 
(metering, billing, collections, call center operations and so on).  

Restructuring sought to increase competition and technological innovation in the markets for 
wholesale electricity supply and retail customer services, by requiring electric utilities to divest of 
their generation portfolios, creating a Federally regulated regional electricity market or 
“Independent System Operator” (ISO New England is the market operator for New England), and 
allowing Competitive Electric Power Suppliers (CEPs) to offer electricity supply rates and other 
services to retail customers.  

Customers that did not choose a competitive supplier were left on “default service” provided by 
the electric utilities — afterwards referred to as “electric distribution companies” — which continue 
to be regulated by the Public Utilities Commission. The distribution utilities periodically hold 
auctions for competitive suppliers to bid against one another for the right to supply electricity to 

http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/374-F/374-F-mrg.htm


 

2 

default service customers in large groups to competitive suppliers. (Refer to Attachment 4 for 
additional details on this process.) 

Status of the Competitive Market   
Nearly a quarter century has passed, and New Hampshire’s competitive market has seen little 
growth since 2013. Four out of five customers remain on default service provided by the 
distribution utilities, and the customers that are on competitive supply only account for about half 
of total electricity usage.  

Regulated distribution utilities continue to provide services that are not natural monopolies, and 
could therefore be available by competitive means, such as: default electricity supply, metering, 
meter data management, billing and other retail customer services (such as demand response and 
energy storage for smaller customers). 

The continued reliance on utilities to provide these customer-facing services has necessitated state 
regulation over many aspects of the retail customer market. Utility regulation relies on 
administrative regulatory proceedings, which are necessarily more slow-moving and unable to 
respond to changing customer technologies and wholesale market dynamics (such as the increased 
price volatility caused by higher levels of renewable generation) compared to the nimbler, market-
based framework envisioned under the Electric Utility Restructuring Act. 

Residential customers, in particular, are not offered many rate options or clean technology 
innovations today: out of the 29 competitive suppliers currently offering service in New Hampshire, 
only nine offer service to residential customers (and only four serve customers in every distribution 
utility territory). 

As a consequence, New Hampshire has fallen behind every other state with a restructured 
electricity market in terms of price competition: 

 
Credit: Retail Energy Supply Association, 2020. 

The Community Power Act 
In order to support the growth of competitive market services in alignment with The Electric Utility 
Restructuring Act, RSA 53-E (as modified by Senate Bill 286 and House Bill 315) authorizes towns, 

All Sector Price% Price Change by State, 2008-2019 
Source: EIA 861M 

60% 

50% 

40% 

30% 

20% 

10% 

0% 

-10% 

-20% 

-30% 

Majority of monopoly states Competitive jurisdictions tend 
cluster in the upper range to cluster in the lower range 

◄ ► 

1 1 11 ■ • --
I I I I I I I I I I I I I • - -

+ 11 1111 . - ■■ I NEW HAMPSHIRE 

■ Monopoly States ■ Competitive States 

http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/iii/53-E/53-E-mrg.htm


 

3 

cities and counties to launch Community Power programs that replace distribution utilities as 
default suppliers of electricity to retail customers. The purpose of RSA 53-E is excerpted below:  

“The general court finds it to be in the public interest to allow municipalities and counties to 
aggregate retail electric customers, as necessary, to provide such customers access to 
competitive markets for supplies of electricity and related energy services. The general court 
finds that aggregation may provide small customers with similar opportunities to those 
available to larger customers in obtaining lower electric costs, reliable service, and secure 
energy supplies. The purpose of aggregation shall be to encourage voluntary, cost effective 
and innovative solutions to local needs with careful consideration of local conditions and 
opportunities.” 

To achieve this purpose, RSA 53-E:3 allows Community Power programs to enter into agreements 
and provide for:  

“the supply of electric power and capacity; demand side management; conservation; meter 
reading with commission approval for meters owned or controlled by the electric distribution 
utilities or used for load settlement; customer service for aggregation provided services; 
other related services; and the operation of energy efficiency and clean energy districts 
adopted by a municipality pursuant to RSA 53-F and as approved by the municipality’s 
governing body.” 

RSA 53-E further provides Community Power programs with authorities and regulatory pathways 
to offer more advanced meters for customers, and to provide for alternative customer billing 
options. Both metering and billing services are important means by which Community Power 
programs will be able to better engage customers and offer more innovative services that lower 
the energy expenditures and carbon emissions for individual customers and communities. 

To enable all municipalities to work together to achieve this purpose, RSA 53-E:3 provides that 
“such agreements may be entered into and such services may be provided by a single municipality 
or county, or by a group of such entities operating jointly pursuant to RSA 53-A.” 

To ensure that utilities are fairly compensated for their continuing role in owning and operating the 
distribution grid, RSA 53-E:4(III) stipulates that:  

“Transmission and distribution services shall remain with the transmission and distribution 
utilities and who shall be paid for such services according to rate schedules approved by the 
applicable regulatory authority, which may include optional time varying rates for 
transmission and distribution services that may be offered by distribution utilities on a pilot 
or regular basis.” 

The law further provides that Community Power programs “shall not be required to own any utility 
property or equipment to provide electric power and energy services to its customers.”  

Enabling locally controlled Community Power programs, in order to exercise local control over 
these authorities and bring in third-party competitors to provide more innovative services on a 
community-wide scale, represents a viable and stable pathway to animate competitive retail 
markets across New Hampshire — and thus realize a lower-cost, more innovative and sustainable 
future for both our community and all Granite Staters. 

https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/III/53-A/53-A-mrg.htm


 

4 

Durham is committed to using its local control authorities granted under RSA 53-E to accelerate 
innovation, customer and community choice in electricity supply, the creation of new economic 
value, and a sustainable and resilient future for our Town and customers.  



 

5 

Attachment 2: The Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire  
Durham is a founding member of the Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire (“CPCNH” or 
“the Coalition”), a nonprofit joint powers agency authorized under RSA 53-A and governed by 
participating communities under the terms of the Joint Powers Agreement unanimously approved 
by Durham’s Town Council on September 27, 2021.  

The Joint Powers Agreement is available on the Coalition’s webpage (http://www.cpcnh.org). The 
agreement includes the nonprofit’s Bylaws and Articles of Agreement, and details the common 
purpose, authorities, structure, Board of Directors, committees, cost sharing principals, liability 
protections, and other aspects of the organization.  

The Coalition was incorporated on October 1, 2021 by the following founding local government 
Members: the cities of Lebanon, Nashua and Dover; the towns of Hanover, Harrisville, Exeter, Rye, 
Warner, Walpole, Plainfield, Newmarket, Enfield and Durham; and Cheshire County. Subsequent 
communities to have joined the Coalition’s Membership include: the city of Portsmouth and the 
towns of Hudson, New London, Pembroke, and Webster. 

Each Member has appointed a Director and Alternate to serve on the Coalition’s Board of Directors. 
The Board will directly oversee the initial startup and implementation activities of the Coalition. 

Municipalities that adopt the Joint Powers Agreement in the future may subsequently apply for 
membership in the Coalition under the terms and procedures provided for under the agreement. 

Since incorporating, the agency has:  

• Established an Executive Committee, Finance Committee, Member Operations & 
Engagement Committee, Risk Management Committee, Regulatory & Legislative Affairs 
Committee, and CEO & Staff Search Committee 

• Received approximately $135,000 in grants and donations to cover start-up administrative 
expenses and consulting services.  

• Contracted for General Counsel legal services on an at-risk, deferred compensation basis (to 
be repaid after the launch of Community Power Aggregation (CPA) service) provided by 
Duncan Weinberg Genzer & Pembroke, P.C. with Eli Emerson from Primmer Piper Eggleston 
& Cramer as New Hampshire counsel.  

• Contracted for technical consulting services provided by Community Choice Partners, Inc., 
with two-thirds compensation on an at-risk, deferred basis (to be repaid after the launch of 
CPA service).  

• Contracted with Herndon Enterprises, LLC to provide organizational support and Member 
services.  

• Issued a Request for Information and subsequent Request for Proposals for Comprehensive 
Services and Credit Support, both of which received numerous competitive responses from 
candidate service providers. 

CPCNH intends to contract with qualified vendors and credit-worthy suppliers to provide the 
services, credit support and electricity required to launch and operate member Community Power 
programs.  

These third parties are expected to fund the upfront cost of implementing Community Power 
programs, the expense of which is expected to be amortized and recovered in the program’s rates 
and charges to participating customers for a specified term. Similar at-risk and performance-

http://www.cpcnh.org/


 

6 

based contract structures have been used to successfully launch and operate new joint powers 
agencies in other Community Power markets.  

To ensure effective management of operations, as well as enhanced transparency and oversight, 
the Coalition plans to hire a small number of qualified staff.  

Coalition Design Process 
The Coalition “Organizing Group” was initially convened in December 2019, with communities 
interested in Community Power meeting regularly to research national best practices and explore 
the viability of establishing a collaborative nonprofit to share services across municipalities and 
counties:  

• The Coalition’s initial Organizing Group consisted of the cities of Lebanon and Nashua, the 
towns of Hanover and Harrisville, and Cheshire County; 

• Technical and community advisors included representatives from both Thayer School of 
Engineering and Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth, the Monadnock Sustainability Hub, 
Clean Energy New Hampshire, Growing Edge Partners and Community Choice Partners;  

• Activities were carried out in four working group tracks: Governance Agreements, Regulatory 
and Policy Engagement, Design and Implementation, and Community Engagement.  

Members of the Coalition’s Organizing Group have:  

• Participated in the Community Power informal rule drafting process, including by providing the 
initial and subsequent draft rules for discussion, arranging bilateral meetings with utilities and 
other stakeholders, and leading significant portions of the subsequent stakeholder workshops 
at the request of Public Utilities Commission staff; 

• Intervened in regulatory proceedings and legislative hearings to represent the interests of 
communities and customers, such as by advocating for expanded data access in the 
Commission’s Statewide Data Platform docket, DE 19-197, and successfully negotiating the 
clarification and expansion of key Community Power authorities in House Bill 315;  

• Assessed power agency design best practices — in terms of public governance and competitive 
operating models — by interviewing elected officials, senior staff and vendors operating 
Community Power programs in other states, along with representatives from public power 
associations (such as the American Public Power Association and the Vermont Public Power 
Supply Authority) and other industry experts; and 

• Hosted a virtual summit on Community Power that was attended by over eighty representatives 
from thirty-one municipalities, collectively representing one-quarter of the state’s default 
electricity market. 

The City of Lebanon, using grant funding and in collaboration with the Organizing Group executed 
legal, community engagement and professional service contracts to help formally establish and 
implement the Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire.  

Joint Powers Agreement Drafting Process 
The Organizing Group began by surveying other Community Power states and the broader public 
power industry, assessed the legal and governance structure of a selection of successful nonprofit 
power agencies that provide services to multiple municipal members, and interviewed staff and 
elected officials involved.  



 

7 

After discussing joint governance issues and reviewing the governance documents of comparable 
entities, the Organizing Group created a draft Joint Powers Agreement for the Coalition in July 2020. 
In September 2020, the City of Lebanon and Town of Hanover, in collaboration with the Organizing 
Group, reviewed six responses to a Request for Qualifications and retained the legal services of 
Duncan, Weinberg, Genzer & Pembroke (DWGP). The firm was hired to provide advice on key 
aspects of joint power agency governance and to finalize the Coalition’s Joint Powers Agreement, 
in compliance with RSA 53-A., with additional support provided by New Hampshire counsel on a 
subcontracted basis. DWGP are national leaders with over 50 years in public power legal guidance, 
and the project was led by DWGP President Michael Postar Esq.  

The Joint Powers Agreement was finalized in December 2020. 

Outreach and Implementation Process 
In February 2021, the City of Lebanon, using previously secured grant funding and in collaboration 
with the Coalition’s Organizing Group, contracted with Henry Herndon (formerly the Director of 
Local Energy Solutions at Clean Energy New Hampshire) and Samuel Golding of Community Choice 
Partners, Inc., to provide implementation support services prior to launch.  

Mr. Herndon was enlisted to facilitate branding and policy communication efforts, draft an 
outreach strategy, compile resources and facilitate the engagement of prospective members, and 
onboard new members and their representatives throughout the state to the Coalition.  

Mr. Golding was enlisted to advise on Community Power rule development at the Public Utilities 
Commission and other regulatory and legislative affairs, draft Electric Aggregation Plans and 
support municipalities through the local approval process, create educational materials and 
presentations, draft a business plan and budget for the Coalition, advise on Board policies and 
staffing, prepare vendor surveys and a request for proposals for the services and financing required 
to launch Community Power programs, and assist in the bid evaluation, award and contracting 
process. 

  



 

8 

Attachment 3: New Hampshire’s Renewable Portfolio Standard 
New Hampshire’s Electric Renewable Portfolio Standard (“RPS”) statute, RSA 362-F, established the 
renewable energy policy for the State. 

The RPS statute requires each electricity provider, including Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative 
and Durham Community Power, to meet a certain percentage of customer load by purchasing, 
generating or otherwise acquiring Renewable Energy Certificates (“RECs”): 

• One REC represents the renewable attributes of one megawatt-hour of electricity, or the 
equivalent amount of useful thermal energy. 

• RECs are generated by certified renewable energy facilities for power that is physically delivered 
into the New England wholesale electricity market operated by ISO-New England (which means 
the power can come from within New England, New York or eastern Canada). 

• The New England Power Pool Generation Information System (NEPOOL GIS) issues and tracks 
RECs for the region. 

• RECs are generally used for compliance in the same year as the renewable power was 
generated, though suppliers may “bank” RECs for up to two years to meet up to 30% of 
compliance requirements. 

There are four distinct “classes” of renewable certificates under the RPS, each distinguishing 
between different technologies and dependent upon the year that the generators came online: 

1. Class I is divided between thermal and non-thermal renewables: 

o Class I non-thermal electricity, from generators that came online after January 1, 2006: 
wind, solar, small hydroelectric, methane (biologically derived such as from anerobic 
digestion of organic materials), biomass, hydrogen (from methane or biomass), ocean 
thermal, current, tidal or wave energy and also biodiesel (if produced in state). 

o Class I thermal energy, from generators that came online after January 1, 2013 (and are 
producing thermal energy, rather than electricity): geothermal, solar thermal, biomass 
and methane. 

2. Class II: solar generation that came online after January 1, 2006 

3. Class III: biomass & methane that came online before January 1, 2006 

4. Class IV: small hydroelectric that came online before January 1, 2006 

Electricity suppliers must obtain RECs for each of the four classes of renewables as a set percentage 
of their retail electric load, which increase on an annual basis (until plateauing after 2025, unless 
the RPS is raised in future): 

Compliance Total RPS Class I Class I Class II 
Class III Class IV 

Biomass & Year Requirement Non-Thermal Thermal Solar 
Methane 

Small Hydro 

2020 20.700/o 8.90% 1.60% 0.70% 8.00% 1.50% 

2021 21.600/o 9.60% 1.80% 0 .70% 8 .00% 1.50% 

2022 22.500/o 10.30% 2.00% 0 .70% 8 .00% 1.50% 

2023 23.400/o 11.00% 2.20% 0 .70% 8.00% 1.50% 

2024 24.300/o 11.90% 2 .20% 0.70% 8 .00% 1.50% 

2025 onwards 25.200/o 12.80% 2 .20% 0.70% 8 .00% 1.50% 



 

9 

Note the following flexibilities in meeting Class I requirements: 

• Class I non-thermal requirements may be met with Class I thermal biomass and methane 
resources; 

• Class I requirements may also be met with Class III (biomass & methane, thermal and non-
thermal) or Class IV (small hydroelectric, non-thermal) resources that have been restored 
through significant investment or have otherwise begun generating in excess of historic 
baselines; and 

• Solar that came online after January 1, 2006 may be used to satisfy Class II or Class I 
requirements. 

Additionally, net metered customers (primarily customers with solar photovoltaics) that meet 
certain registration and administrative requirements can track and sell their RECs (which are 
accounted for in NEPOOL’s Generation Information System). Not all customers do, however, and 
the REC production from such customer generators are estimated by the Public Utilities 
Commission each year and applied to lower the Class I and Class II procurement requirements of 
the utilities and other suppliers. 

If the electricity providers are not able to meet the RPS requirements by purchasing or acquiring 
renewable energy certificates, they must pay alternative compliance payments (ACPs). The funds 
are used for a variety of renewable programs in New Hampshire. 

The result is that these alternative compliance payment prices essentially act as a price ceiling for 
the REC market in New Hampshire. The ACPs for RECs by class in recent years are: 

For example, Eversource, Unitil and the New Hampshire Electric Cooperative have recently made 
alternative compliance payments instead of purchasing certain categories of RECs: 

For additional information on the Renewable Portfolio Standard, refer to: 

• New Hampshire’s RPS statute (RSA 362-F) 
• Public Utilities Commission RPS Website 
• New Hampshire Renewable Energy Fund Annual Report (1 October 2020) 
• UNH Sustainability Institute Study: New Hampshire RPS Retrospective 2007 to 2015 
  

Inflation Adjusted Alternative Compliance Payment Rate($ per Megawatt Hour) 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Class I (Non-Thermal) $ 56.02 $ 56.54 $ 57.15 $ 57 .61 $ 57.99 

Class I Thermal $ 25.46 $ 25 .69 $ 25.97 $ 26 .18 $ 26 .35 

Class II $ 56.02 $ 56.54 $ 57.15 $ 57 .61 $ 57.99 

Class III $ 55 .00 $ 55 .00 $ 55 .00 $ 34 .54 $ 34.99 

Class IV $ 27.49 $ 28.00 $ 28.60 $ 29 .06 $ 29.44 

2019 Alternative Compliance Payments (ACPs) 

Company Class I Class I Thermal Class II Class Ill Class IV Total 

Liberty Utilities $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -

New Hampshire Electric Cooperative $ - $ 187,192 $ - $ $ - $ 187,192 

Eversource Energy $ - $ 519,893 $ - $ $ - $ 519,893 

Unitil Energy Systems, Inc. $ - $ - $ 1,029 $ $ - $ 1,029 

Distribution Utilities Subtotal $ - $ 707,085 $ 1,029 $ - $ - $ 708,114 

http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/NHTOC/NHTOC-XXXIV-362-F.htm
https://www.puc.nh.gov/sustainable%2520energy/Renewable_Portfolio_Standard_Program.htm
https://www.puc.nh.gov/sustainable%2520energy/Renewable%2520Energy%2520Fund/20201001-PUC-SE-2020-REF-Report-to-Legislature.pdf
https://www.puc.nh.gov/sustainable%2520energy/RPS/NH%2520RPS%2520Retrospective%25202007-2015%2520Report%2520-%2520FINAL.pdf


 

10 

Attachment 4: Utility Default Procurement Cycles and Rate Setting  
Durham Community Power has a goal of maintaining competitive default rates compared to 
Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative, while also offering voluntary products that retail 
customers may opt-in to receive.  

The timing of the program’s rate setting decisions and, to a certain degree, the procurement of 
electricity will need to consider when Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative conducts these same 
activities (particularly for the program’s default electricity product).   

As context, Eversource, Liberty Utilities and Unitil all issue requests for proposals (RFPs) twice 
annually for competitive suppliers to assume load-serving entity obligations and supply default 
customers with electricity for 6-month “strip” periods, with suppliers bidding to serve individual 
“tranches” or segments of customers by class.  

The procurement schedules, tranches and rate practices for each distribution utility are: 

• Eversource (Public Service Company of New Hampshire): issues RFPs in May and November 
with bids due in early June and December for suppliers to begin serving customers in August 
and February, offering four ~100 MW tranches to serve small customers and a single tranche 
to serve large customers (five tranches in total). Retail rates are fixed over the 6-month period 
for small customers and vary by month for large customers. 

• Liberty Utilities: follows the same supplier RFP schedule and retail pricing as Eversource but 
(1) solicits supply for small customers in a single 6-month block tranche and for large 
customers in two, consecutive three-month block tranches (3 tranches total), and (2) allows 
bidders to include and price RPS compliance obligations separately (as an additional product). 

• Unitil: issues RFPs in March and August for delivery beginning in June and December, offering 
tranches of residential, small commercial, outdoor lighting and large customers classes (four 
tranches). The large customer RFP is structured in a distinct fashion, in that it passes through 
market costs for energy and so suppliers compete to price capacity, congestions, ancillary 
services, etc. for the large customer tranche over the 6-month term; retail rates reflect these 
load-serving entity costs along with the pass-through of real time locational marginal market 
prices (which are load-weighted by the entire class’ hourly load shape i.e., not the individual 
large customer’s usage profile). Retail rates for the residential, small commercial, and outdoor 
lighting classes are fixed over the 6-month term, though customers have the option to choose 
variable monthly pricing if the election is made prior to the start of the next 6-month term. 

Supplier bids are priced in dollars per megawatt-hour ($/MWh) on a monthly basis and generally 
exclude Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS) compliance obligations (called “Renewable Energy 
Certificates” or “RECs”), though Liberty Utilities allows RECs to be bid as a separate product. 
Distribution utilities typically procure most or all of their supply of RECs through competitive 
solicitations held separately from the auctions for default electricity service.  

New Hampshire’s RPS requires all electricity suppliers to procure or otherwise obtain RECs for four 
distinct “classes” of renewables, each distinguishing between different technologies and 
dependent upon the year that the generators came online.  

For 2022, Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative is required to include 22.5% renewable energy 
in their energy supply. This minimum compliance requirement will increase incrementally to 25.2% 
by 2025 and remain fixed thereafter, absent an increase in the RPS.  



 

11 

Refer to Attachment 3 for further details on the RPS.  



 

12 

Attachment 5: Overview of Utility Net Energy Metering Tariffs 
Discussion of Utility Net Metering, Group Net Metering and Low-Moderate 
Income Solar Project Tariffs 
Under the net metering process, customers who install renewable generation or qualifying 
combined heat and power systems up to 1,000 kilowatts in size are eligible to receive credit or 
compensation for any electricity generated onsite in excess of their onsite usage.  

Any surplus generation produced by these systems flows back into the distribution grid and offsets 
the electricity that would otherwise have to be purchased from the regional wholesale market to 
serve other customers.  

The credits and compensation customer-generators receive for electricity exported to the grid are 
defined under Net Energy Metering (NEM) tariffs offered by Eversource, Liberty Utilities, Unitil and 
the New Hampshire Electric Co-op (NHEC). Note that: 

• NHEC is member-owned cooperative and as such, its rules and regulations are approved by its 
Board of Directors and are not subject to regulation by the Public Utilities Commission. 
Additional information regarding NHEC’s Net Energy Metering tariffs may be found online under 
their “Terms and Conditions”. 

• The Public Utilities Commission regulates the distribution utilities’ Net Energy Metering (NEM) 
tariffs in accordance with PUC Rule 900 and RSA 362-A:9 (refer to RSA 362-A:9, XIV specifically 
for Group Net Metering statutes).  

The remainder of this chapter concerns NEM tariffs regulated by the Public Utilities Commission. 
Note that: 

• NEM tariffs offered by the utilities underwent a significant change several years ago; 
• Customer-generators that installed systems before September 2017 may still take service 

under the “NEM 1.0” tariff (“standard” or “traditional” NEM); whereas  
• Systems installed after August 2017 must take service under the “NEM 2.0” tariff 

(“alternative NEM”) 
• NEM 1.0 customers are allowed to switch to taking service under the NEM 2.0 tariff, but 

cannot subsequently opt-back to NEM 1.0 (with limited exceptions, e.g., participation in 
certain pilot programs).  

Under both tariffs, customer-generators are charged the full retail rate for electricity supplied by 
Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative and receive credits for electricity they export to the grid 
for some (but not all) components of their full retail rate. Refer to the next subsection for tables 
comparing NEM 1.0 to 2.0 tariffs. 

To appropriately measure and credit customer-generators taking service under a NEM tariff, the 
utility installs a bi-directional net meter that records each kilowatt-hour (kWh) supplied to the 
customer from the grid and also each kWh that flows back into the grid. This data is recorded and 
collected on a monthly billing-cycle basis.  

For NEM 1.0 tariff systems (installed before September 2017), any kWh exported to the grid are 
netted against kWh consumed.  If there is a net surplus of kWh at the end of the monthly billing 
period (i.e., more power was exported to the grid by the customer-generator than was consumed) 

https://www.nhec.com/new-terms-conditions/
https://www.puc.nh.gov/regulatory/Rules/PUC900.pdf
https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/362-A/362-A-9.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/362-A/362-A-9.htm


 

13 

those surplus or negative kWh are carried forward and can be used to offset future kWh 
consumption (so the customer only pays for their “net” energy consumption).   

For NEM 2.0 tariff systems (installed after August 2017), all customer-generators receive a 
monetary credit for each kWh that is exported valued at 100% of their default electricity supply 
rate component for the month. Smaller systems (up to 100 kilowatts in size) additionally receive 
credits for 100% of the transmission component and 25% of the distribution component of their 
retail rate. (Larger systems, up to 1,000 kilowatts in size, only receive full credit for the electricity 
supply rate component.)  

Note that most customer-generators in Durham Community Power are expected to be taking 
service under NEM 2.0 tariffs going forward. 

Any credits that accumulate over time are tracked and used to offset the customer-generator’s 
future electricity bills. Customers may also request to cash-out their surplus credit once a year, after 
their March billing cycle, if the balance exceeds $100 (or any balance in the event of moving or 
service disconnection). NEM 1.0 surplus balances are tracked as kWh credits and are converted to 
dollars at wholesale avoided costs, while NEM 2.0 surplus balances are tracked as monetary credits 
directly (in dollars). Note that these cash-outs are treated as taxable income by the Internal 
Revenue Service (IRS). Payments of $600 or more remitted to the customer are accompanied by a 
1099 form for the IRS. Utilities may also issue IRS Form 1099s for smaller amounts.  

Alternatively, Group Net Metering is a process that allows any customer-generator to share the 
proceeds of their surplus generation credits to directly offset the electricity bills of other customers, 
which is financially more advantageous and can increase the effective value of the system. All the 
members in the group need to be within the same distribution utility service territory but may be 
served by different suppliers. The credits are calculated based on the host site’s NEM tariff and 
retail rate, and payments are credited to offset the electricity bills of each member directly by the 
utility (assuming the utility is billing the customers for supply). These allocations are governed by a 
Group Net Metering Agreement between the host customer-generator and group members, which 
is part of the registration process overseen by the Public Utilities Commission.  

Note that larger systems (up to 1,000 kilowatts in size) actually have to register as group hosts in 
order to qualify for net metering in the event that the customer-generator exports more than 80 
percent of the power produced onsite to the distribution grid. Additionally, if the electricity 
exported from larger systems exceeds the total electricity usage of the group on an annual basis, 
the credit for the residual amount (e.g., electricity exported in excess of the group’s total usage) is 
re-calculated based on their utility’s avoided cost of electricity supply. This rate is lower than the 
NEM credit based on the customer-generator’s retail rate, and results in a downward payment 
adjustment issued by the utility to the host customer. Residential systems under 15 kilowatts, 
however, are not subject to this adjustment.  

Most recently, a Low-Moderate Income (LMI) Community Solar Project option has been 
implemented under Group Net Metering. The program currently provides an incentive of 3 cents 
per kWh (dropping down to 2.5 cents after July 2021) in addition to the host site’s NEM credits, and 
solar systems may be either rooftop or ground-mounted systems. To qualify, groups must include 
at least five residential customers, a majority of which are at or below 300 percent of the federal 
poverty guidelines, and non-residential customers cannot account for more than 15 percent of the 
total projected load in the group.  



 

14 

Lastly, all group hosts (except for residential systems under 15 kilowatts) must file an annual report 
with the Public Utilities Commission and their utility that includes the annual load of the host and 
members, annual total and net surplus generation of the host site system, and additional 
information for Low-Moderate Income Community Solar Projects.  

In addition to NEM credits, all customer-generators have the option of selling the Renewable 
Energy Certificates (RECs) produced by their systems. This can provide an additional revenue 
stream to customer-generators, but requires a separate REC meter, registration and ongoing 
reporting requirement.  

Alternatively, the Public Utilities Commission estimates the RECs that could be produced by all 
customer-generators who do not separately meter and sell their RECs and lowers the Renewable 
Portfolio Standard procurement requirements for all load-serving entities by an equivalent amount. 

Comparison of Utility “Standard” and “Alternative” Net Energy Metering 
Tariffs 
The tables below compare the two tariff structures, which offer different credits to customers 
depending on the size of their installed system: 

Net Energy Metering (NEM) Credit on Net Monthly Exports to Grid 

 NEM 1.0 

“Standard NEM” 

Offered prior to 9/1/2017 

NEM 2.0 

“Alternative NEM” 

Effective 9/1/2017 

Large Systems 

100 Kilowatts to 
1 Megawatt 

Full credit (at the customer’s retail rate) for electricity supply only 

Small Systems 

≤ 100 Kilowatts 

Full credit for electricity supply, 
distribution, transmission, System 
Benefits, Stranded Cost & Storm 

Recovery charges 

Full credit for electricity supply and 
transmission; 25% credit for 

distribution & no credit for other 
charges 

 

 
As shown in the table above, levels of compensation for small customer-generators (with systems 
up to 100 kilowatts) were lowered, such that these customers no longer receive full compensation 
on their distribution rate component or several other small charges (e.g., the System Benefits, 
Stranded Cost and Storm Recovery charges).    

Additionally, the NEM 2.0 tariff modified the type of credit, and the ways credits for surplus 
generation are tracked and refunded, for both small and large customer generators: 

• Under NEM 1.0, any surplus generation would be tracked as a kilowatt-hour (kWh) credit, which 
was carried forward to offset the customer’s consumption (and bill) in future months. For any 
kWh credits remaining on an annual basis (at the end of March each year), such customers have 
the option of either continuing to bank their credits to offset future usage, or to convert the 



 

15 

kWh credit into a monetary credit, at a rate set by the Public Utilities Commission (typically ~3-
4 cents per kilowatt-hour) and to apply the amount to their account or receive a check for the 
amount owed. 

• Under NEM 2.0, kWh credits are automatically converted into a monetary credit every month, 
valued at the customer’s retail rate for that specific month. Customers have the option of either 
carrying the credit forward to offset to their electricity bill in future months or may receive the 
refund directly as a check. 

The crediting mechanism under NEM 1.0 was relatively more advantageous for customers in one 
respect. Solar systems generate more power in the spring and summer months relative to other 
seasons; consequently, the credits that customer-generators would accrue during the summer 
months would offset their consumption in the winter months on a one-to-one, kWh per kWh basis. 
This is advantageous because winter supply rates are above summer rates on average. 

In another respect, NEM 2.0 offers an advantage to customers that accrue surplus credits over the 
course of the year, because the surplus is calculated based on components of the customer’s retail 
rate — which is higher than the ~3-4 cents per kilowatt-hour value that is applied to convert NEM 
1.0 kWh credits into a monetary credit whenever customers elect to cash-out their surplus.  

These changes are summarized in the table below, and apply to all customer-generators regardless 
of system size:  

NEM 1.0 

“Standard NEM” 

Offered prior to 9/1/2017 

NEM 2.0 

“Alternative NEM” 

Effective 9/1/2017 

kWh credit carried forward. 

May be refunded at a rate 
calculated by the Public Utilities 
Commission (typically ~3-4¢ per 

kWh). 

kWh converted to monetary credit 
automatically each month. 

Monetary credit carried forward as 
a bill credit or refundable. 

 

 
Additional details may be found in the Eversource, Liberty Utilities and Unitil tariffs and the Public 
Utilities Commission website: 

• Eversource Tariffs  
• Unitil Tariffs 
• Liberty Utilities Tariffs 
• PUC overview of Net Metering 
• PUC graphic explanation of NEM 1.0 vs. NEM 2.0. 

Net Energy Metering Systems by Utility Territory 
According to the most recent Energy Information Agency (EIA) Form 861m data, there are about 
11,000 customer-generators taking service under Net Energy Metering tariffs in New Hampshire, 

https://www.eversource.com/content/docs/default-source/rates-tariffs/electric-delivery-service-tariff-nh.pdf?sfvrsn=7fb7f062_68
https://unitil.com/sites/default/files/tariffs/Schedule_QF_01.01.19.pdf
https://new-hampshire.libertyutilities.com/uploads/Rates%2520and%2520Tariffs/Electric%25202021/2021-02-01%2520Tariff%2520No.%252021b.pdf
https://www.puc.nh.gov/Sustainable%2520Energy/Net%2520Metering/Net_Metering.html
https://www.puc.nh.gov/Sustainable%2520Energy/Group%2520Net%2520Metering/PUC-SE-NEM-Tariff-2020.pdf
https://www.eia.gov/electricity/data/eia861m/#netmeter


 

16 

with a cumulative installed capacity of approximately 140 megawatts (in terms of nameplate 
capacity in alternating current, or “AC”). Estimated numbers of customer-generators and installed 
capacity by technology are summarized below:  

• Solar photovoltaics: ~120 megawatts (MW) and 10,760 customer-generators; note that: 
o Group Net Metering accounts for an additional ~1.5 MW serving 56 customers; and 
o Sixteen residential customers, in addition to solar photovoltaics, also have battery 

storage systems with a cumulative capacity of 175 kilowatts (an average size of ~11 
kilowatts per customer). 

• Onsite wind: 412 kilowatts (kW) and 72 customer-generators. 
• “Other” technologies (presumably, small hydro or qualifying combined heat and power 

systems, or “CHP”): ~17.5 megawatts (MW) and 55 customer-generators.  
The table below provides the number of customer-generators in each distribution utility territory: 

 Number of Net Metered Customer-Generators by Technology 

 Customer-Generators by Technology Subsets of Solar PV 
Customers 

 
Total Wind 

Other (CHP or 
Hydro) Solar PV 

Group Net 
Metering 

Battery 
Storage 

Eversource 7,949 37 52 7,860 21 0 

Unitil 1,066 3 1 1,062 0 0 

Liberty Utilities 724 1 0 723 22 16 

NHEC 1,204 31 2 1,171 13 0 

Total 10,943 72 55 10,816 56 16 

 

 

The number of customer-generators by customer class with onsite solar photovoltaic systems, total 
installed capacity, and average solar system size in each utility territory are provided for reference 
in the tables below.  

Note that these tables do not include Group Net Metered systems and participating customers 
within groups and reflect only installed solar photovoltaic system capacity (i.e., exclusive of onsite 
battery storage capacity).  

  



 

17 

       Net Metered Solar Photovoltaic Systems: Number of Customer-Generators 

 
Residential Commercial Industrial 

Total Customer- 
Generators 

Eversource 7,195 630 35 7,860 

Unitil 973 61 6 1040 

Liberty Utilities 633 77 0 710 

NH Electric Coop 1,065 81 4 1,150 

Total 9,866 849 45 10,760 

 

 

   

   Net Metered Solar Photovoltaic Systems: Total Installed Capacity (MW-AC) 

 
Residential Commercial Industrial 

Total Installed 
Capacity (MW-AC) 

Eversource 54.15 29.66 5.09 88.91 

Unitil 7.40 2.30 0.73 10.43 

Liberty Utilities 4.78 5.12 0.00 9.90 

NH Electric Coop 7.61 2.46 0.60 10.66 

Total 73.94 39.54 6.42 119.90 

 

 

 

 Net Metered Solar Photovoltaic Systems: Average System Size (kW-AC) 

 
Residential Commercial Industrial 

Average System Size 
(kW-AC) 

Eversource 7.5 47.1 145.5 66.7 

Unitil 7.6 37.8 121.2 55.5 

Liberty Utilities 7.6 66.5 N/A 24.7 

NH Electric Coop 7.1 30.3 149.0 62.2 



 

18 

Average  7.5 45.4 138.6 52.3 

 

 

  



 

19 

Attachment 6: Durham Community Power Net Metering, Group 
Net Metering and Low-Moderate Income Solar Project 
Opportunities 
Please refer to Attachment 5: Overview of Utility Net Metering Tariffs as context for this section. 

RSA 362-A:9,II grants Community Power programs broad statutory authority to offer customer-
generators new supply rates and terms for the generation supply component of Net Energy 
Metering (NEM). The relevant statutory authority is quoted in full below: 

“Competitive electricity suppliers registered under RSA 374-F:7 and municipal or county 
aggregators under RSA 53-E determine the terms, conditions, and prices under which they 
agree to provide generation supply to and credit, as an offset to supply, or purchase the 
generation output exported to the distribution grid from eligible customer-generators. The 
commission may require appropriate disclosure of such terms, conditions, and prices or 
credits. Such output shall be accounted for as a reduction to the customer-generators ’
electricity supplier’s wholesale load obligation for energy supply as a load service entity, net 
of any applicable line loss adjustments, as approved by the commission. Nothing in this 
paragraph shall be construed as limiting or otherwise interfering with the provisions or 
authority for municipal or county aggregators under RSA 53-E, including, but not limited to, 
the terms and conditions for net metering.” 

Durham Community Power intends to offer a NEM generation rate and terms to customers with 
onsite renewable generation eligible for net metering from Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative. 
Note that any non-supply related components of the Net Energy Metering tariff (e.g., credits for 
transmission and distribution) will continue to be provided to customer-generators directly by their 
utility.  

How Durham Community Power calculates, accounts for and provides NEM credits to participating 
customer-generators for the different types of eligible system sizes, customer types and group 
configurations will have a number of important financial and practical implications for the program 
and customers in the Town.  

Durham Community Power also anticipates encountering practical challenges of an operational 
nature in administering net metering and group net metering programs. This is partly because net 
energy metering continues to evolve in response to new policy and regulatory requirements, and 
the day-to-day processes that govern the coordination between the program, participating 
customers and Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative are subject to refinement and change over 
time.  

In particular, Durham Community Power will be one of the first default aggregation programs to 
launch in New Hampshire, and the process of transferring significant numbers of NEM customers 
may cause unanticipated issues due to the metering, billing and data management requirements 
of this subset of customers. Durham Community Power will maintain close coordination with 
Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative to expeditiously resolve any such issues that may occur.  

For example, Durham Community Power may decide to separately issue supply bills to customers 
that have installed systems after September 2017.  

The advantage in dual-billing this subset of customers stems from what is essentially an accounting 
irregularity in how utility billing systems currently treats customer-generators taking service under 

https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/362-A/362-A-9.htm


 

20 

the NEM 1.0 tariff, which applies to systems installed before September 2017, versus the NEM 2.0 
tariff, which applies to all systems installed after that date. As context: 

• The cumulative surplus generation exports of net metered customer-generators will decrease 
the amount of electricity that Durham Community Power will have to purchase from the 
regional power market to supply other customers in the program. The surplus generation from 
both NEM 1.0 and NEM 2.0 customer-generators is tracked and netted out from the program’s 
wholesale load obligations by [UTILITY] for this purpose.  

• However, for the purpose of netting out of the program’s Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS) 
compliance requirements, the surplus generation from NEM 1.0 customers is tracked and 
accounted for differently than it is for NEM 2.0 customers: 

o Surplus generation from NEM 1.0 customers is tracked as a kWh credit that is carried 
forward to offset the customer’s future electricity supply requirements; these kWh 
credits will be counted as an offset that decreases the total electricity supplied by the 
program to retail customers in aggregate — which lowers the program’s RPS compliance 
obligation.  

o Surplus generation from NEM 2.0 customers is tracked as a monetary credit that is 
carried forward to offset the customer’s future electricity bills; even though the 
monetary credit is calculated each month based on every customer’s kWh surplus 
generation, the monetary credit is treated as a re-sale or delivery of power generated 
by NEM 2.0 customer and provided to other participating customers through the 
program — it is not treated, in other words, as an offset that decreases the total 
electricity supplied by program to retail customers in aggregate — and therefore does 
not lower RPS compliance obligations in the same way.  

The practical consequence of this accounting treatment is that Durham Community Power 
would have to purchase Renewable Energy Certificates for the amount of surplus generation 
supplied by NEM 2.0 customer-generators (but not NEM 1.0 customer-generators) in the same 
way as if the program had imported that amount of electricity from the regional wholesale 
market.  

• Taking on the responsibility of billing this subset of NEM 2.0 customers directly may allow 
Durham Community Power to track and account for the impact of their surplus generation in 
ways that lower the program’s RPS compliance obligations and costs. Specifically, the program 
could credit customers currently on the utility’s NEM 2.0 tariff in the same way that NEM 1.0 
customers are credited (i.e., using kWh credits to track surplus generation on the supply portion 
of the bill). Note that RSA 362-A:9,II explicitly grants Community Power programs the flexibility 
to offer net metered customers either: 

o A “credit, as an offset to supply” for their surplus generation, which is equivalent to the 
NEM 1.0 tariff accounting; or  

o To “purchase the generation output exported”, which is equivalent to how the NEM 2.0 
tariff tracks surplus generation.  

Exercising the first option listed above, by offering NEM 2.0 customers a kWh credit tracked as 
an offset to supply, would allow Durham Community Power to harmonize the accounting 
treatment of NEM 1.0 and 2.0 surplus generation for the purpose of program RPS compliance 
reporting. This would lower program rates and is an option that the program may therefore find 
cost-effective to implement.  



 

21 

Additionally, certain customer-generators currently receiving IRS Form 1099 taxable income 
from monetary credits paid out by their utility under NEM 2.0 tariff may benefit financially from 
receiving kWh credits for the supply portion of their monthly surplus generation instead.  

While dual billing is typically avoided — as it is less convenient for most customers to receive a 
separate bill from their utility and supplier — customers with onsite generation systems tend to be 
highly informed on energy issues and respond positively to more active engagement with both their 
utility and supplier.  

Consequently, dual billing may enhance customer satisfaction, awareness and ongoing 
participation in the program for customer-generators. Furthermore, dual billing could be done 
electronically, which is more convenient for the customer and less costly for the program than 
sending paper bills.  

Furthermore, Durham Community Power may be able to create additional value for customer-
generators through a combination of dual billing, assistance with metering upgrades and time-
varying rate structures. For example: 

• Many customer-generators with solar systems may benefit from local programs that help them 
reduce their full energy bill costs; 

• Providing the customer with a separate supply-only bill would allow Durham Community Power 
to also offer a time-varying rate (which may not otherwise be available through Eversource and 
NH Electric Cooperative’s billing system);  

• Upgrading to an interval meter (if the customer does not have one) and installing onsite battery 
storage, combined with a time-varying rate, may enable the customer-generator to further 
lower their overall bill by shifting their pattern of electricity usage at times of high-power prices 
and constrained generation and transmission capacity. This could also help to manage and 
lower the program’s electricity supply costs in aggregate as well, and thus benefits all 
participating customers.  

Similarly, Durham Community Power may be able to streamline the process and cost of installing 
REC production meters, registering customer-generators and purchasing their RECs for the onsite 
power generated to satisfy part of the program’s overall RPS compliance requirements. This would 
allow the program to source RECs locally and would provide an additional source of revenue for 
customer-generators in the Town. 

Durham Community Power also intends to evaluate ways to enhance the value of the NEM credits 
that customers receive overall, from both the program and Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative. 
For example, customer-generators may benefit by becoming hosts in Group Net Metering, 
including by establishing a Low-Moderate Income Solar Project group. The program may be able to 
streamline the process required to do so, which entails:  

• Matching customers interested in becoming members with prospective group hosts;  
• Executing a Group Net Metering Agreement together; 
• Registering the group with the Public Utilities Commission and Eversource or NH Electric 

Cooperative; and  
• Thereafter filing annual compliance reports. 
Lastly, NEM tariffs are subject to revision and Durham Community Power, through the Coalition, 
intends to work with Eversource and NH Electric Cooperative, participate in Public Utilities 



 

22 

Commission proceedings and engage at the Legislature on issues that impact how the tariffs evolve 
going forward.  

Customers are increasingly adopting new energy technologies and expect to be offered rates and 
services that provide them with new choices and fair compensation based on their investment; the 
program’s ability to assist customers in these ways is heavily dependent on how state policies and 
utility regulations evolve over time.  

Durham Community Power will seek to represent the interests of our community and customers in 
these matters.   



 

23 

Attachment 7: Durham’s Public Planning Process  
The following is a draft schedule of key activities taking place in the Public Planning phase for 
Durham Community Power. 

January 2022: 

• Jan 4: Durham Energy Committee (DEC) meeting- We will devote most of the meeting to 
discussing the draft EAP, and will incorporate comments/revisions as appropriate. 

• Jan 7: In the Town’s Friday Update newsletter, re-post the notice for the 1-10-2022 Clean 
Energy NH (CENH) webinar providing an introduction to the Community Power concept and 
CPCNH, along with a ZOOM link. 

• Jan 10: CENH webinar with Lisa Sweet and Henry Herndon (we consider this to be a good 
introductory presentation prior to our providing our own first public hearing.). 

• Jan 19: Durham’s EAP submitted to CPCNH for technical review. 

• Feb 26: Durham EAP accepted by CPC-NH reviewers, questions about relationship to CPCNH 
clarified. 

 

Spring – Fall 2022: 

• April:  Publicity for Earth Day includes information about Community Power for Durham. 

• April 23:  Earth Day celebration in downtown includes Durham Energy Committee table with 
discussion points about Community Power effort. 

• May 6:  Friday Updates Town Newsletter publicizes NH Network webinar 

• June 1:  Rehearsal for Town information session held for Energy Committee  

• June 3: Postcards mailed to all Durham residents announcing Public Information Sessions 
about Community Power on June 15 and July 6th at Town Hall, via DCAT Public access cable, 
and Zoom meeting registration. Card also contains a link to an online survey for Durham 
residents to express their opinions about Community Power plans. 

• June 4: Durham Day also had an information table for Durham Energy Committee staffed to 
discuss Community Power and hand out flyers with information and dates.  

• June 15:  First Public Information Session held at Town Hall, recorded and available for 
viewing online.  

• July 6: Second Public Information session at Town Hall. 

• June – July: Continued research on business and financial related questions about 
Community Power, CPC-NH, and Durham’s relationship with CPC-NH that are of interest and 
concern to Town Council members. 

• October 3:  Presentation of EAP to Town Council for approval. 

 

  



 

24 

Attachment 8: Town Policy Excerpts  
Durham Master Plan – Vision: In 2025 and beyond, the Town of Durham, along with 
commercial property owners and homeowners, will continue to realize cost savings while 
reducing carbon emissions, thereby increasing the community’s resiliency and sustainability 
relative to energy use. [Durham Master Plan, 2015, Energy Chapter, 
https://www.ci.durham.nh.us/planning/master-plan-2015 ] 
 
Global Covenant of Mayors -- On January 13, 2021, Durham joined the Global Covenant of 
Mayors, a movement of more than 10,000 cities and local governments, from 6 continents and 
138 countries, representing more than 800 million people intent on reducing our environmental 
impact upon the globe.  
 
By 2030, Global Covenant cities and local governments could account for 2.3 billion tons of 
CO2e annual emissions reduction, matching yearly passenger road emissions from the U.S., 
China, France, Mexico, Russia, and Argentina combined. 
By joining GCoM, Durham has pledged to develop, adopt, use, and regularly report on the 
following: 

• A community-scale GHG emission inventory, following the recommended guidance; 
• An assessment of climate risks and vulnerabilities; 
• Ambitious, measurable and time-bound target(s) to reduce/avoid GHG emissions; 
• Ambitious climate change adaptation vision and goals, based on quantified scientific 

evidence when possible, to increase local resilience to climate change; 
• An ambitious and just goal to improve access to secure, sustainable and affordable 

energy; and 
• A formally adopted plan(s) addressing climate change mitigation / low emission 

development, climate resilience and adaptation, and access to sustainable energy. 

Thanks to a partnership with UNH, Durham is already well on the way to fulfilling this 
commitment. Over the last several years, UNH Sustainability Fellows have undertaken research 
to meet our commitment. [Durham Energy Committee home page, 
https://www.ci.durham.nh.us/boc_energy ] 
 

   

https://www.ci.durham.nh.us/planning/master-plan-2015
https://www.globalcovenantofmayors.org/
https://www.globalcovenantofmayors.org/
https://www.ci.durham.nh.us/boc_energy


 

25 

Attachment 9: Abbreviations 

Acronym Meaning 

AC Alternating Current (electric current that reverses direction many times a second at 
regular intervals; the N. American standard for power supply is 60 Hertz) 

ACP Alternative Compliance Payment (under the NH Renewable Portfolio Standard) 

CEPS Competitive Electric Power Suppliers 

CHP Combined Heat and Power 

CPA Community Power Aggregation 

CPCNH Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire 

EAC Electric Aggregation Committee 

EAP Electric Aggregation Plan 

ISO-NE Independent System Operator New England (the wholesale electricity market operator) 

KW Kilowatt (a measure of electrical capacity, equivalent to 1,000 watts of power) 

kWh Kilowatt-hour (a measure of electrical energy, equivalent to using or producing 1,000 
watts for 1 hour, and typically used to refer to customer generation or onsite usage) 

MW Megawatt (a measure of electrical capacity, equivalent to 1,000,000 watts of power) 

MWh Megawatt-hour (a measure of electrical energy, equivalent to using or producing 
1,000,000 watts for 1 hour, and typically used in reference to power plants or large 
aggregations of customers) 

NEM Net Energy Metering (tariffs that provide compensation for customer-generators) 

NEPOOL 
GIS 

The New England Power Pool Generation Information System (which issues and tracks 
Renewable Energy Credits) 

NHEC New Hampshire Electric Co-Op (a member-owned electric distribution cooperative) 

NHPUC New Hampshire Public Utilities Commission (which regulates NH’s investor-owned 
electric distribution utilities: Eversource, Unitil and Liberty Utilities) 

PV Solar Photovoltaics 

REC Renewable Energy Credit (under the NH Renewable Portfolio Standard) 

RPS New Hampshire’s Renewable Portfolio Standard (authorized under RSA 362-F) 

RSA Revised Statutes Annotated (refers to the codified state law of New Hampshire) 

 
  



 

26 

Attachment 10: How Load Serving Entity Services will be 
Implemented 
Durham Community Power will implement Load Serving Entity (LSE) services, for the purpose of 
procuring or selling electricity on behalf of customers participating in the aggregation.  

This plan assumes, but does not require, that the Town will participate fully in and rely on the 
services provided through the Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire (CPCNH) for the 
purposes of implementing and operating Durham Community Power. 

The Role & Responsibility of Load Serving Entities 
A Load Serving Entity (LSE) is an entity that has registered with ISO New England (ISO-NE, the 
nonprofit regional wholesale electricity market operator) as a market participant and assumes 
responsibility for securing and selling electric energy and related services to serve the demand of 
retail customers at the distribution level (i.e., homes and businesses). 

As context, every retail customer in New Hampshire (and across New England) is assigned to a 
specific Load Serving Entity at all times:  

• Customers on utility default service are periodically re-assigned to whichever Competitive 
Supplier has won the utility’s most recent auction or the utility as LSE.  Refer to Attachment 4 
for an overview of utility default procurement solicitations.  

• Similarly, customers are assigned to a different Load Serving Entity whenever they are 
transferred to CPA service on an opt-out default basis, choose to opt-in to take service from the 
CPA, or switch to a Competitive Supplier of their choosing.    

Consequently, all Competitive Suppliers and Community Power Aggregators (CPAs) in New 
Hampshire are required to either: 

1. Register as a Load Serving Entity with ISO-NE; or  

2. Contract with a third-party that has agreed to be the Load Serving Entity responsible for the 
Competitive Supplier’s or CPA’s customers.  

To ensure that customers receive firm power supply, there are a variety of services that need to be 
performed and electrical products that must be procured or otherwise provided.  The required 
products and services are referred to as “all requirements energy” (or alternatively, “full 
requirements service”).  

The role of Load Serving Entities is to provide, arrange for, or otherwise pay for the cost of providing 
all requirements energy to customers.  The majority of these requirements are defined by the ISO-
NE wholesale market operator, which is subject to Federal oversight, but certain requirements are 
defined by the state in which the LSE registers to serve customers (Renewable Portfolio Standard 
requirements, for example).  

In New Hampshire, full-requirements energy is defined as the provision or cost of (1) electrical 
energy, capacity, and reserves (including transmission and distribution losses); (2) ancillary services, 
congestion management, and transmission services (to the extent not already provided by the 
customer’s utility); (3) the costs associated with complying with New Hampshire’s Renewable 
Portfolio Standard (i.e., the cost of purchasing Renewable Energy Credits or, if an insufficient 
number of credits is procured, the cost of Alternative Compliance Payments, as detailed in 



 

27 

Attachment 3); and (4) other services or products necessary to provide firm power supply to 
customers (i.e., because the definition and requirements of the above products and services are 
subject to change over time). 

Each of the above products and services is procured, provided, and accounted for in different ways, 
through market mechanisms and regulated processes that have been designed to accommodate 
the unique characteristics of the product or service in question. 

Given the complex and capital-intensive nature of providing all requirements electricity to 
customers, Load Serving Entities are subject to significant state and Federal oversight, in terms of 
registration, reporting, and financial security requirements.  

The web pages below provide current information regarding Load Serving Entity registration, 
financial security, and renewal requirements to operate in ISO-NE and New Hampshire: 

• ISO-NE: New Participant Registration Instructions 

• NH PUC: Forms for Competitive Electric Power Suppliers and Electric Load Aggregators  

• Eversource: Electric Information for Suppliers & Aggregators 

• Unitil: Energy Supplier Resources 

• Liberty Utilities: Become a Liberty Utilities Approved Supplier 

• New Hampshire Electric Cooperative: Supplier Information  

Responsibilities of the Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire (CPCNH) 
The Town currently anticipates that it will contract with CPCNH, as an all-requirements joint powers 
agency, for the provision of LSE services, all requirements energy supply and all other energy 
services required to implement and operate Durham Community Power.  

CPCNH Competitive Solicitation for Comprehensive Services and Credit Support  

On behalf of the Town and CPCNH’s eighteen other Member communities, each of which are in 
various stages of authorizing Community Power Aggregations, CPCNH issued a Request for 
Proposals (RFP) for Comprehensive Services and Credit Support on April 25, 2022 and is currently 
conducting a solicitation process “to select a qualified entity or group of entities to provide 
comprehensive services and credit support to enable CPCNH to develop, finance, launch, and 
operate of Community Power Aggregation (CPA) programs.”1 As context: 

• For an overview of CPCNH’s authorities as a Joint Powers Agency, the RFP, proposal evaluation 
and contracting process, and the process by which CPCNH’s Board of Directors and participating 
Member communities, including the Town, plan to draft and adopt enabling agreements, 
contracts and policies (such as the Energy Risk Management and Financial Reserves policies) 
refer to  “Responsibilities of the Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire (CPCNH)” in 
Attachment 10: Customer Data Protection Plan below.  

• CPCNH’s RFP is primarily based upon the solicitation and contracting strategy pioneered by the 
Redwood Coast Energy Authority (RCEA), a CPA Joint Powers Authority in California that is 

 
1 CPCNH’s Request for Proposals for Comprehensive Services and Credit Support, and additional supporting reference 
documentation, including the draft Business Plan for CPCNH, are posted online here: 
https://www.cpcnh.org/solicitations.  

https://www.iso-ne.com/participate/applications-status-changes/new-registration/registration-checklist
https://www.puc.nh.gov/Electric/Becoming%20Suppliers%20and%20Aggregators.html
https://www.eversource.com/content/ct-c/business/about/doing-business-with-us/energy-supplier-information/electric---new-hampshire
https://unitil.com/suppliers/energy-supplier-resources
https://new-hampshire.libertyutilities.com/acworth/commercial/for-energy-suppliers.html
https://www.nhec.com/electric-choice/supplier-information/
https://redwoodenergy.org/
https://www.cpcnh.org/solicitations


 

28 

similar in size to CPCNH and which successfully contracted for comprehensive services and 
credit support (inclusive of LSE services) on an at-risk, deferred compensation basis.  

o RCEA subsequently launched CPA program service and began providing LSE services and 
all-requirements supply to CPA customers in 2017 and has operated continuously while 
accruing financial reserves and enabling numerous local programs and new project 
developments.  

o The three Professional Services Agreements that RCEA negotiated and executed 
subsequent to their RFP process provided (1) LSE and portfolio risk management 
services and credit support, (2) retail data management, billing, and customer care 
services, and (3) various support services (e.g., administration, marketing, etc.). All three 
contracts are available for review online here.  

• Subsequent CPA Joint Powers Agencies have employed similar solicitation and contracting 
strategies in order to successfully contract for and implement LSE and portfolio management 
services for participating CPA customers. 

• CPCNH previously issued a Request for Information for Comprehensive Services and Credit 
Support in December 2021 and received numerous submissions from well-established third-
party vendors that provide LSE services, portfolio management services and credit support in 
response.  (CPCNH’s Board of Directors has designated the responses as confidential due to fact 
that the competitive solicitation is ongoing.)2 

The scope of operational services requested under CPCNH’s RFP is to broadly “provide all required 
services and credit support necessary to operate the agency and supply all-requirements electricity 
to CPA customers”.  The specific scope of operational functions requested in CPCNH’s RFP is 
provided below:  

1. Retail Data Management and Billing Services  
a. Utility Electronic Data Interchange (EDI) 
b. Customer Data Validation and Error Resolution Management 
c. Billing Calculations  
d. Utility Payment Receipt  
e. Revenue Oversight and Tracking  

2. Retail Customer Solutions  
a. Customer and Program Analytics and Insights  
b. Rate Design Development, Pricing and Product Structuring  
c. Grid Edge Enablement and Portfolio Integrations  
d. Key Account Relationship Management  
e. Inbound and Outbound Call Center Operations  
f. Digital Engagement and Orchestration  

3. Portfolio Risk Management Services  
a. Energy Portfolio Planning and Development  
b. Contract Valuation and Procurement  
c. Deal Capture, Contract Management and Counterparty Monitoring  
d. Trading, Position Management and Reporting  

 
2  CPCNH’s Request for Information for Comprehensive Services and Credit Support is available online at: 
https://www.cpcnh.org/solicitations  

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1pAXg21BWR-v_w4bsho_Ii4MNa1oxNLA8
https://www.cpcnh.org/solicitations


 

29 

e. Forecasting, Scheduling and Settlements  
f. ISO shadow settlements and dispute resolution  
g. ISO monitoring, stakeholder processes, collateral posting and onboarding 

support 
4. Banking and Financial Services  

a. Credit Support  
b. Secure Revenue Account Administration  
c. Accounting Support and Controls  
d. Financial Statement Setup and Review  
e. Revenue Forecasting and Budgeting  
f. Invoice Validation  

5. Enterprise Data Management: to support the development of an in-house central 
repository of customer and other data for use by CPCNH staff and authorized third 
parties for the purpose of enabling research and development of new energy services.  

6. Additional Services: respondents should provide additional descriptions of services not 
provided for above. 

CPCNH Proposal Evaluation Process and Contracting Timeline 

As detailed in Attachment 10, CPCNH’s Risk Management Committee is responsible for evaluating, 
ranking, and scoring proposals and recommending an award to the Board of Directors. 

To ensure that the committee fully evaluates proposals to provide LSE and portfolio management 
services, CPCNH has contracted with independent experts with domain expertise in: 

• Managing and overseeing power supply portfolios and LSE services for an operational CPA Joint 
Power Agency; 

• Evaluating proposals, interviewing proposers, and recommending an award for LSE and 
portfolio management services on behalf of a CPA Joint Power Agency that subsequently 
launched CPA program service, has operated continuously since 2018, and recently gained an 
industry-first “A” credit rating from S&P Global Ratings on the basis of its fiscal discipline and 
approach to energy portfolio risk management; and/or 

• Working for an established publicly owned nonprofit enterprise that maintains three 
operational control centers to support 24/7/365 operations across multiple ISO/RTO markets 
in order to provide LSE and portfolio management services to substantial numbers of public and 
private sector clients that serve retail end-use customers.  

CPCNH expects to conclude the RFP process, enter into contract negotiations in July-August, and 
execute contracts to provide comprehensive services and credit support (inclusive of LSE services) 
in August to September 2022.  

Thereafter, CPCNH’s Board of Directors expects to finalize and approve the agency’s Cost Sharing 
Agreement and Energy Risk Management and Financial Reserves policies, which Durham’s 
appointed Directors expect to provide to the Town Council for approval between October – 
December 2022.  

At this point, the Town may contract for and authorize CPCNH to provide comprehensive services 
and credit support (inclusive of LSE services) to implement and operate Durham Community Power. 



 

30 

Responsibilities of the Town of Durham  
The Town expects that CPCNH’s solicitation and contracting strategy will be successful, and that 
CPCNH and the third-party contractors contracted by CPCNH will implement LSE services and all 
other services required to launch and operate Durham Community Power.  

Depending on the result of CPCNH’s solicitation and contract negotiation process, LSE services may 
be implemented as follows:  

• CPCNH may contract directly for LSE services with a third-party that is registered or will register 
with ISO-NE as a market participant and Load Serving Entity, satisfies all applicable financial 
security and other registration requirements with ISO-NE, the Commission, and NH’s 
distribution utilities, and has contractually agreed to assume responsibility for providing all 
requirements energy on behalf of Durham Community Power’s customers.  

Typically, such a third-party would additionally provide portfolio management services and 
credit support and assist CPCNH in structuring and maintaining a portfolio of physical and 
financial contracts to provide all requirements energy to participating customers.  At a certain 
future point, CPCNH may be positioned to register with NEPOOL and ISO-NE as a market 
participant and Load Serving Entity directly.3   

This implementation option would essentially replicate the same approach and structure 
employed by the New Hampshire Electric Cooperative, which actively manages an all-
requirements energy portfolio, accrues financial reserves, and provides LSE services for default 
service customers.  

Additionally, note that the Town of Hanover (whose Member director and alternate director 
are both participating on CPCNH’s Risk Management Committee and proposal evaluation) is 
already a market participant and Load Serving Entity for the Town’s load obligations.  

• CPCNH may alternatively contract with one or more Competitive Electric Power Suppliers to 
provide LSE services and all requirements electricity to customers at a pre-specified rate for a 
set length of time.  Under this arrangement, the Competitive Supplier would either be the 
designated Load Serving Entity or would contract with a third-party that has agreed to be the 
Load Serving Entity responsible for the CPA’s customers.  

This implementation option would essentially replicate the same approach and structure 
employed by NH’s regulated distribution utilities (Eversource, Unitil and Liberty Utilities), under 
which customers are periodically re-assigned to whichever Competitive Suppliers have won the 
utilities’ default service solicitations. Refer to Attachment 4 for an overview of utility default 
procurement solicitations. 

• CPCNH may also propose a combination of the above approaches for the Town’s consideration.  

In the event that the Town does not contract with CPCNH to provide LSE and other services to 
Durham Community Power, then the Town may contract to implement LSE services independently, 
either with a third-party LSE acting as the Town’s agent or with a Competitive Electric Power 
Supplier (CEPS) that contracts to provide LSE services for customers taking service from Durham 
Community Power.  

 
3  Refer to CPCNH’s draft Business Plan for further details, available under RFP Reference Materials online at: 
https://www.cpcnh.org/solicitations 

https://www.cpcnh.org/solicitations


 

31 

The Town will ensure that contracts entered into provide for the implementation of LSE services 
and full requirement energy supply for customers participating in Durham Community Power. 

 

  



 

32 

Attachment 11: Customer Data Protection Plan 
Durham Community Power will protect and maintain the confidentiality of Individual Customer 
Data in compliance with its obligations as a Service Provider under RSA Chapter 363 ( RSA 363:38 
and RSA 363.37 (“privacy policies for individual customer data; duties and responsibilities of service 
providers and definitions”) and other applicable statutes and Public Utilities Commission rules.   

Individual Customer Data (ICD) includes information that is collected over the course of providing 
energy services to customers participating in Durham Community Power and that, singly or in 
combination, can be used to identify specific customers, including: individual customer names, 
service addresses, billing addresses, telephone numbers, account numbers, electricity consumption 
data, and payment, financial, banking, and credit information. 

As described herein, the Town of Durham is responsible for ensuring that reasonable security 
procedures and practices are implemented and maintained to protect the confidentiality of 
Individual Customer Data from unauthorized access, destruction, modification, disclosure, or use. 

This plan assumes, but does not require, that the Town will participate fully in the Community 
Power Coalition of New Hampshire (CPCNH) for the purposes of implementing and operating 
Durham Community Power.  

Responsibilities of the Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire (CPCNH) 
CPCNH is a Joint Powers Agency authorized under RSA 53-A (“Agreements Between Governments: 
Joint Exercise of Powers”) and RSA 53-E:3 (“Municipality and County Authorities”).  CPCNH’s Joint 
Powers Agreement expressly authorizes the agency to: 4  

• “[C]omply with orders, tariffs, and agreements for the establishment and implementation of 
community power aggregations and other energy related programs”;  

• “Make and enter into contracts” and “[m]ake and enter into service agreements relating to 
the provision of services necessary to plan, implement, operate, and administer CPCNH’s 
affairs”; and 

• “[D]o all acts permitted… as well as any act necessary, consistent with New Hampshire law 
to fulfill the purposes” set forth under the agreement, which include assisting “member 
municipalities and counties in complying with the provisions of NH RSA 53-E in developing 
and implementing … Community Power Aggregations”.  

CPCNH has begun the process of soliciting and hiring third-parties to provide comprehensive 
services and credit support to launch Member CPA programs, and is drafting various related 
enabling agreements, policies, and internal protocols necessary to do so.  

CPCNH Request for Proposals for Comprehensive Services and Credit Support 

CPCNH issued a Request for Proposals for Comprehensive Services and Credit Support on April 25, 
2022, and is currently conducting a solicitation process “to select a qualified entity or group of 
entities to provide comprehensive services and credit support to enable CPCNH to develop, finance, 

 
4  From Section 2.3, Powers, of the By-Laws of CPCNH, found at pages 21-22 of the JPA, available here: 
https://www.cpcnh.org/_files/ugd/202f2e_601bfada901c4a89a1c2812a0638090a.pdf, and more specifically §2.3.11, 
§2.3.6, §2.3.9, and §2.3 introductory paragraph. Similar language in also in the Articles of Agreement.   

http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/xxxiv/363/363-mrg.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/363/363-37.htm
https://www.cpcnh.org/_files/ugd/202f2e_601bfada901c4a89a1c2812a0638090a.pdf
https://www.cpcnh.org/_files/ugd/202f2e_601bfada901c4a89a1c2812a0638090a.pdf
https://www.cpcnh.org/_files/ugd/202f2e_601bfada901c4a89a1c2812a0638090a.pdf


 

33 

launch, and operate of Community Power Aggregation (CPA) programs”5 on behalf of CPCNH’s 
nineteen Member communities, each of which are in various stages of authorizing Community 
Power Aggregations.  

For additional information regarding the use of customer data, and expected operational needs of 
CPCNH, refer to (1) the RFP at pp. 20-236 and to (2) the RFP Addendum #2 (issued May 24, 2022), 
at pp. 11 in response to Questions 15.7 The latter is excerpted below, and provides a concise 
summary of CPCNH’s requirements to ensure the confidentiality of ICD:    

Regarding Customer Privacy Compliance:  

RSA 53-E:4, VI, requires CPAs to maintain the confidentiality of individual customer information 
in compliance with their obligations as service providers under RSA 363:37 (Definitions) and RSA 
363:38 (“Privacy Policies for Individual Customer Data; Duties and Responsibilities of Service 
Providers”). RSA 53-E:7, X also requires the Public Utilities Commission to adopt Administrative 
Rules for CPAs governing “access to customer data” and other matters.  

The selected Proposer will be expected to demonstrate physical and cybersecurity readiness 
sufficient to ensure customer data is held in strict confidence — e.g., through audits in accordance 
with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statements on Standards for 
Attestation Engagements No. 16 (SSAE 16) Service Organizational Controls (SOC) Reports, 
periodic network vulnerability assessments, etc. — and will be contractually required to maintain 
the confidentiality of individual customer data pursuant to RSA 363:38, V(b) and applicable Public 
Utilities Commission rules. 

As previously noted, Administrative Rules for CPAs are under development.  Refer to the PUC’s 
Initial Proposal for CPA Administrative Rules (Chapter Puc 2200), specifically the definitions in Puc 
2202.07 (“Confidential customer information”) and Puc 2202.02 (“Anonymized”), and Puc 
2205.02 ("Application of Puc 2000 to CEPS When Providing Electricity Supply to CPA Customers"). 

The selected Proposer, as applicable, should expect to comply with relevant portions of the PUC’s 
current Administrative Rules for Competitive Electric Power Suppliers and Aggregators (Chapter 
Puc 2000). Refer to Chapter Puc 2000, Puc 2002.09 (definition of “Confidential Customer 
Information”) and Puc 2004.19 (“Protection of Confidential Customer Information”), which is 
proposed to apply to CEPS providing electricity supply service to CPA customers pursuant to Puc 
2205.02 under the PUC's Initial Proposal for CPA Administrative Rules. 

The Request for Proposals and evaluation process is being overseen by CPCNH’s Risk Management 
Committee, composed of CPCNH Member municipality representatives, with additional support 
from (1) independent experts with experience operating Community Power Aggregation Joint 
Powers Agencies, and (2) CPCNH’s General Counsel, DWGP, P.C., a nationally recognized law firm 
with substantial expertise in the Community Power and broader public power industry.  

 
5 CPCNH’s Request for Proposals for Comprehensive Services and Credit Support, and additional supporting reference 
documentation, including the draft Business Plan for CPCNH, are posted online here: 
https://www.cpcnh.org/solicitations.  
6 https://www.cpcnh.org/_files/ugd/202f2e_e781638c123d4cf3977358f845081313.pdf  
7 Pages 11-12 at https://www.cpcnh.org/_files/ugd/202f2e_8ceed8824453482c902a8a0fa1ab826c.pdf.  

http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/III/53-E/53-E-4.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/363/363-37.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/363/363-38.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/363/363-38.htm
https://gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/III/53-E/53-E-7.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/363/363-38.htm
https://www.puc.nh.gov/Regulatory/Docketbk/2021/21-142/LETTERS-MEMOS-TARIFFS/21-142_2022-02-03_GOLDNER_INITIAL-PROPOSAL.PDF
https://www.puc.nh.gov/regulatory/Rules/Puc2000.pdf
https://www.cpcnh.org/solicitations
https://www.cpcnh.org/_files/ugd/202f2e_e781638c123d4cf3977358f845081313.pdf
https://www.cpcnh.org/_files/ugd/202f2e_8ceed8824453482c902a8a0fa1ab826c.pdf


 

34 

CPCNH’s Risk Management Committee will evaluate, rank, and select vendors with a proven track 
record of successful qualification for EDI transactions, protection of confidential customer 
information, including what is characterized as ICD under RSA 363, and other relevant factors.  

• Refer to CPCNH’s RFP at p.2 for a summary of the substantial domain expertise participating on 
the Risk Management Committee and proposal evaluation process. 

• For example, the committee includes a Member Director who previously worked for Eversource 
for 26 years, where he was responsible for deploying and/or operating Eversource’s Customer 
Information System and day to day interface with competitive electric suppliers and was most 
recently the Director of Eversource’s Customer Center Operations.  

CPCNH expects to conclude the solicitation process and execute contracts in August to September 
2022.  

CPCNH Enterprise Risk Management & Customer Data Policies  

After CPCNH has executed service contracts, CPCNH’s Board of Directors will finalize and approve 
the agency’s Cost Sharing Agreement and Energy Risk Management and Financial Reserves policies. 
CPCNH’s Energy Risk Management and Financial Reserves policies will be subsets of CPCNH’s 
Enterprise Risk Management Policy, which will additionally cover relevant elements of 
cybersecurity and data confidentiality requirements and other topics.  

• CPCNH’s Joint Powers Agreement requires CPCNH’s Risk Management Committee to draft and 
recommend the Enterprise Risk Management Policy for consideration and adoption of CPCNH’s 
Board of Directors on or before October 1, 2022.8  

• Between October and December 2022, Durham’s appointed Directors are expected to provide 
CPCNH's Cost Sharing Agreement and Energy Risk Management and Financial Reserves policies 
to the Town Council for approval between October – December 2022.  

• At this point, the Town will contract for and authorize CPCNH to provide specific services on 
behalf of Durham Community Power. 

CPCNH’s Board of Directors has been recently presented with a plan to develop additional specific 
policies and CPCNH’s Treasurer has prepared a budget to allocate sufficient funding to support the 
drafting and review process over the summer and fall.  Two relevant such policies are listed below:  

• Record Retention & Disposal Policy: to provide a process that ensures compliance with the 
proper retention, protection, and timely destruction of all records created or obtained by, or 
otherwise in the possession and control of, CPCNH, consistent will all legal requirements. 

• Data Security and Privacy Policy: to define the specific goals, requirements, and controls 
necessary to safeguard the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of confidential information. 

CPCNH Requirements to Access and Use of Individual Customer Data 

In CPCNH’s capacity as a service provider to the Town, the agency and third parties contracted 
through CPCNH to provide services to Durham Community Power will need to access and use ICD 

 
8 CPCNH’s Risk Management Committee is also responsible for (1) reviewing major risk exposures and monitoring the 
steps taken to control risk exposures and (2) commissioning an independent agent to conduct and deliver an evaluation 
of the operational performance of the agency relative to the Enterprise Risk Management Policy every two years 
(starting three years after the commencement of CPA service, and as otherwise requested by the Board). 



 

35 

for operational needs and for the research, development, and implementation of new rate 
structures and tariffs, demand response, customer assistance, energy management, or energy 
efficiency programs on behalf of Durham Community Power.  

Third parties under contract to CPCNH that may require access to ICD on behalf of Durham 
Community Power may include CEPS (Competitive Electric Power Suppliers) functioning as Load 
Serving Entities (LSEs) for the supply of all requirements energy, or other third-party vendors 
providing Load Serving Entity (LSE) services on behalf of CPCNH, as well as portfolio management, 
Electronic Data Interchange (EDI), Customer Information System (CIS), billing, accounting, and 
related services, and other contractors and academic institutions under contract to support the 
research and development of potential new energy services to offer to customers participating in 
Durham Community Power. 

Specific types of ICD that Durham Community Power, CPCNH, and third parties under contract are 
expected to receive and possess include:  

• Name, address, account number, and other information about electric customers within 
the Town for purposes of sending required notification of Durham Community Power 
Commencement of Service and enrollment of customer in Durham Community Power, 
consistent with initially proposed Puc 2204.04, .05, and .06, as they, or equivalent rule 
provisions, may be adopted by the PUC and the requirements of RSA 53-E:7, III, V, and VI. 

• Individual customer information used for operation of Durham Community Power, such as 
that in initially proposed Puc 2205.13, most of which may be accessed through the EDU 
EDI.  The need and use for such information, and a proposed modification of this particular 
rule, are addressed in CPCNH’s 3/14/22 Comments on the PUC’s initial rule proposal for 
CPAs, in docket # DE 21-1429,  and in its 3/28/22 Reply Comments.10  

• Other confidential customer information that may be received or collected directly by 
Durham Community Power or CPCNH, or through sources other than the EDU due to 
customer participation in particular related programs or services, billing operations, other 
customer services, or that may be volunteered by customers, will likewise only be used for 
statutorily authorized purposes as ICD.    

Ongoing collection and use of individual customer data of the types described in proposed Puc 
2205.13 will be used for both: 

1. General operational needs for retail power supply and related energy services operational 
needs, such as load and supply forecasting, portfolio management, billing and audit 
processes, and for research and development of potential new energy services to offer to 
customer participants; and  

2. Programmatic and customer-specific services and offerings, such as responding to 
customer account queries, opt-in rates or demand side management for customers with 
flexible demand, distributed generation or storage, and interval meters; and other energy 
services that may be offered including programs for LMI participants that are qualified in 

 
9 See p. 2 ¶4  and p. 4 ¶6 at: https://www.puc.nh.gov/Regulatory/Docketbk/2021/21-142/LETTERS-MEMOS-
TARIFFS/21-142_2022-03-14_CPCNH_COMMENTS.PDF. 
10 See p.4-11, and Comments on proposed Puc 2203.02(b)(1) on p. 13, Puc 2204.02(a)(1)-(4) on pp. 16-17, and Puc 
2205.13 p. 23 https://www.puc.nh.gov/Regulatory/Docketbk/2021/21-142/LETTERS-MEMOS-TARIFFS/21-142_2022-
03-28_CPCNH_OCA_CENH-COMMENTS.PDF. 

http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/III/53-E/53-E-7.htm
https://www.puc.nh.gov/Regulatory/Docketbk/2021/21-142.html
https://www.puc.nh.gov/Regulatory/Docketbk/2021/21-142/LETTERS-MEMOS-TARIFFS/21-142_2022-03-14_CPCNH_COMMENTS.PDF
https://www.puc.nh.gov/Regulatory/Docketbk/2021/21-142/LETTERS-MEMOS-TARIFFS/21-142_2022-03-14_CPCNH_COMMENTS.PDF
https://www.puc.nh.gov/Regulatory/Docketbk/2021/21-142/LETTERS-MEMOS-TARIFFS/21-142_2022-03-28_CPCNH_OCA_CENH-COMMENTS.PDF
https://www.puc.nh.gov/Regulatory/Docketbk/2021/21-142/LETTERS-MEMOS-TARIFFS/21-142_2022-03-28_CPCNH_OCA_CENH-COMMENTS.PDF


 

36 

the Electric Assistance Program (EAP). 

In compliance with RSA 363:38 and RSA 363.37, CPCNH and third parties contracted through CPCNH 
that require access to ICD to provide services to Durham Community Power will be contractually 
required to:  

• Implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices appropriate to the 
nature of the ICD.  

• Protect ICD from unauthorized access, use, destruction, modification, or disclosure.  

• Use ICD solely for primary purposes, such as: complying with the provisions of RSA 53-E:7, 
II; providing or billing for electrical service; meeting system, grid, or operational needs; 
researching, developing, and implementing new rate structures and tariffs, demand 
response, customer assistance, energy management, or energy efficiency programs; and for 
research and development of potential new energy services to offer to customer 
participants.  

• Collect, store, use, and disclose only as much ICD as is necessary to accomplish the 
aforementioned primary purposes.  

• Not use ICD for a secondary commercial purpose unrelated to the aforementioned primary 
purposes of the contract without the express consent of the customer.  

• Return or permanently delete all ICD after contract termination and deliver a certificate, 
signed by an authorized representative, stating that all ICD has been returned or 
permanently deleted and that all materials based on ICD has been destroyed, as appropriate 
(i.e., except for copies necessary for tax, billing, or other financial purposes).  

Additionally, if CPCNH contracts with one or more Competitive Suppliers to provide Load Serving 
Entity services to participating customers, or brokers to support operations in a capacity that would 
require access to ICD, then the Competitive Suppliers and/or brokers would additionally be 
required to comply with the requirements of Puc 2004.19 (Protection of Confidential Customer 
Information), which are excerpted below in the section “Statutory and Rule Requirements” for 
reference.  

Responsibilities of the Town of Durham  
The Town currently anticipates that it will contract for all requirements electricity supply and 
related energy services through CPCNH, as a joint powers agency, and that the primary acquisition 
and use of ICD will be through CPCNH and the vendors placed under contract to provide 
comprehensive services for the operation of Durham Community Power.  

The Town Manager shall review and confirm that CPCNH has adequate policies, procedures and 
measures in place to protect confidential information and that contractual requirements 
consistent with the Town’s obligations to protect ICD as required under RSA 363.37, RSA 363:38 
and RSA 53-E:4, VI, and consistent with PUC rules, including Puc 2004.19 and its non-disclosure 
restrictions, are incorporated into any contracts with CPCNH, or any other third parties that are 
authorized to access ICD on behalf of the Town before executing any such contracts.   

The Town expects contracts and policies to provide for:  

• Third-party security assessment requirements regarding: Information Security Management; 

http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/xxxiv/363/363-mrg.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/363/363-37.htm
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.gencourt.state.nh.us%2Frsa%2Fhtml%2FXXXIV%2F363%2F363-37.htm&data=05%7C01%7CClifton.Below%40lebanonnh.gov%7C42feb6a3c02146d750be08da4d45fee5%7C92a5f37da56c44ce9e96290ef2f04776%7C0%7C0%7C637907260280677619%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=78zPmkh2NvQ0Yx5%2FYuAK2Ibc95hXXuCizVd8yAepNRM%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.gencourt.state.nh.us%2Frsa%2Fhtml%2Fxxxiv%2F363%2F363-mrg.htm&data=05%7C01%7CClifton.Below%40lebanonnh.gov%7C42feb6a3c02146d750be08da4d45fee5%7C92a5f37da56c44ce9e96290ef2f04776%7C0%7C0%7C637907260280677619%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=z3onRDY2GWvjJoUg6S1%2F3ZUYEtYwPoU8ulmyoyAXkG0%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.gencourt.state.nh.us%2Frsa%2Fhtml%2FIII%2F53-E%2F53-E-4.htm&data=05%7C01%7CClifton.Below%40lebanonnh.gov%7C42feb6a3c02146d750be08da4d45fee5%7C92a5f37da56c44ce9e96290ef2f04776%7C0%7C0%7C637907260280677619%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=YVizC1QKV%2BJKKwd55%2FZIEODEV3BMeHHu8b3Y1FnsOBI%3D&reserved=0


 

37 

Personnel Security; Systems Development and Maintenance; Application Security; System 
Security; Network Security; Data Security and Integrity; Access Control; and Vulnerability 
Management. 

• Third-party security requirements including: (1) User Account and Access Controls to ensure 
that only authorized individuals have access to ICD for legitimate primary purposes under RSA 
368:38, which may include the need for non-disclosure agreements; (2) Handling of Sensitive 
Data Protocols to protect confidential customer information from unauthorized access, use, 
destruction, modification, or disclosure; (3) Breach Reporting, including obligations to report 
a security breach as defined in RSA 359-C:19, V and required by RSA 359-C:20 and any other 
applicable laws,  rules, or utility requirements for data breach reporting; (4) Plan for deletion 
and destruction ICD when it is no longer necessary to accomplish primary purposes pursuant 
to RSA 368:38; and (5) Prohibitions on use of ICD for a secondary commercial purpose not 
related to the primary purpose of vendor’s contract without the express consent of the 
customer. 

• Third-party documentation and reporting requirements regarding, as applicable: Audit 
Reports (e.g. SSAE 16/SOC Report); Documentation describing Control practices used to review 
sub-vendors; Maintenance of an Information Security Program; Training Program for 
Employees on Cyber Awareness; Background checks performed for all employees with access 
to ICD; Immediate Data Breach reporting to appropriate parties; and any material changes in 
Data Security practices since prior review and approval. 

Lastly, in the event that the Town does not contract with CPCNH to provide energy services to 
Durham Community Power, then the Town will develop and adopt policies and contracts that 
ensure compliance with the Town’s obligations as a Service Provider to protect and maintain the 
confidentiality of ICD under RSA 363:38, RSA 363.37 and other applicable statutes and Public 
Utilities Commission rules prior to directly collecting, storing, using, or disclosing any ICD or 
contracting with other Competitive Suppliers, brokers and/or other third-party vendors that require 
access to ICD.   

Additional References: Statutory and Regulatory Requirements  
The sections below are provided for additional reference, and summarize the different 
requirements that apply to (1) Community Power Aggregators and Service Providers, (2) brokers 
and Competitive Electric Power Suppliers (CEPS) that provide Load Serving Entity services under 
contract to Community Power Aggregators, and (3) access to ICT through the Multi-Use Energy Data 
Platform authorized under RSA 378:50-54 (if and when it becomes operational).  

Statutory Requirements for Community Power Aggregators & Service Providers  

Statutory requirements regarding the use of Individual Customer Data for Community Power 
Aggregators are summarized below:  

• RSA 363:37, I defines Individual Customer Data (ICD) as “information that is collected as part 
of providing electric, natural gas, water, or related services to a customer that can identify, 
singly or in combination, that specific customer, including the name, address, account 
number, quantity, characteristics, or time of consumption by the customer.”  

• RSA 363:38, IV requires Service Providers to “use reasonable security procedures and 
practices to protect individual customer data [ICD] from unauthorized access, use, 

https://gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXI/359-C/359-C-19.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/xxxi/359-c/359-c-20.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/xxxiv/363/363-mrg.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/363/363-37.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/363/363-37.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/363/363-38.htm


 

38 

destruction, modification, or disclosure.” 

• RSA 53-E:4, VI provides that Community Power Aggregations (CPAs) “shall be subject to 
RSA 363:38 as service providers and individual customer data shall be treated as 
confidential private information and shall not be subject to public disclosure under RSA 91-
A”.  

o The definition of Service Provider under RSA 363:37, II includes “an aggregator, as 
defined by RSA 53-E:2, II…and any other service provider that receives individual 
customer data [ICD]...”  

o RSA 53-E:2, II defines an “aggregator” in this context as “any municipality or county 
that engages in aggregation of electric customers within its boundaries”.  

o RSA 53-E:2, VI further defines “municipality” in this context as “any Town, town, 
unincorporated place, or village district within the state.” 

• RSA 363:38, II requires Service Providers to: "(a) Collect, store, use, and disclose only as 
much individual customer data [ICD] as is necessary to accomplish primary purposes, and 
(b) Use individual customer data solely for primary purposes.” 

• RSA 363:37, III defines "[p]rimary purpose" as “the main reason for the collection, storage, use, or 
disclosure of individual customer data [ICD] which is limited to: (a) Providing or billing for electrical 
or gas service. (b) Meeting system, grid, or operational needs. (c) Researching, developing, 
and implementing new rate structures and tariffs, demand response, customer assistance, 
energy management, or energy efficiency programs.” 

• RSA 53-E:4, VI further authorizes approved Community Power Aggregations to “use 
individual customer data to comply with the provisions of RSA 53-E:7, II and for research 
and development of potential new energy services to offer to customer participants.” 

• RSA 363:38, V(b) further makes clear that a Service Provider may disclose ICD “to a third 
party for system, grid, or operational needs, or the research, development, and 
implementation of new rate structures and tariffs, demand response, customer assistance, 
energy management, or energy efficiency programs” — provided that the Service Provider 
“has required by contract that the third party implement and maintain reasonable security 
procedures and practices appropriate to the nature of the information, to protect the 
personal information from unauthorized access, use, destruction, modification, or 
disclosure, and to prohibit the use of the data for a secondary commercial purpose not 
related to the primary purpose of the contract without the express consent of the 
customer.”  

• RSA 363:38, V(c) provides that “[n]othing in this section shall preclude a service provider 
from disclosing electric, natural gas, or water consumption data required under state or 
federal law, or which is identified as information subject to warrant or subpoena or by an 
order of the commission.” 

• RSA 363:38, V(a) makes clear that ICD may be aggregated and used for “analysis, reporting, 
or program management after information that identifies an individual customer has been 
removed.” 

http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/III/53-E/53-E-4.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/363/363-37.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/III/53-E/53-E-2.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/363/363-38.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/363/363-37.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/III/53-E/53-E-4.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/363/363-38.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/363/363-38.htm
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXIV/363/363-38.htm


 

39 

Additional Requirements Specific to Brokers & Competitive Suppliers  
Pursuant to Puc 2205.02 under the PUC's Initial Proposal for CPA Administrative Rules, brokers and 
Competitive Suppliers that are hired by municipalities to manage and operate Community Power 
Aggregations and provide Load Serving Entity services to participating customers must comply with 
the requirements of Puc 2004.19 (Protection of Confidential Customer Information), which is 
excerpted below for reference along with Puc 2002.09 (Confidential Customer Information). 

Note that the use of the term “aggregator” throughout Puc 2004.19 below refers to brokers and 
does not refer to or otherwise apply to Community Power Aggregators.  

As context, these requirements are part of the Commission’s Chapter Puc 2000 rules (“Competitive 
Electric Power Supplier and Aggregator Rules), which apply to Competitive Suppliers and brokers— 
referred to as “CEPS” and “aggregators” below, respectively — and are expressly not applicable to 
“municipalities or counties providing electricity or aggregating within the boundaries of 
participating municipalities under RSA 53-E” (Community Power Aggregators) per Puc 2001.02 
(application of rules).   

Puc 2002.09  “Confidential customer information” means information that is collected as 
part of providing electric services to a customer that can identify, singly or in combination, 
that specific customer, and includes the customer name, address, and account number and 
the quantity, characteristics, or time of consumption by the customer, and also includes 
specific customer payment, financial, banking, and credit information.   

… 

Puc 2004.19  Protection of Confidential Customer Information. 

(a) No CEPS or aggregator shall, except as permitted under (c) below or as otherwise 
required by law, release confidential customer information without express written 
authorization from the customer. 

(b) A CEPS or aggregator shall implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and 
practices appropriate to the nature of the information, to protect confidential customer 
information from unauthorized access, use, destruction, modification, or disclosure, and to 
prohibit the use of the confidential customer information for a secondary commercial 
purpose not related to the primary purpose of the service provided to the customer, without 
the express written consent of the customer. 

(c) A CEPS or aggregator may disclose to a third party subject to non-disclosure restrictions 
confidential customer information as necessary for any one or more of the following 
purposes: 

(1) Billing for electric service;  

(2) Meeting electric system, electric grid, or other operational needs; 

(3) Implementing any one or more of the following programs: 

a. Demand response; 

b. Customer assistance; 

c. Energy management; and 

d. Energy efficiency. 

https://www.puc.nh.gov/regulatory/Rules/Puc2000.pdf


40 

(d) For purposes of this section, the term “non-disclosure restrictions” means that the CEPS
or aggregator has required by contract that the third party implement and maintain
reasonable security procedures and practices appropriate to the nature of the information,
to protect the confidential customer information from unauthorized access, use, destruction,
modification, or disclosure, and to prohibit the use of the confidential customer information
for a secondary commercial purpose not related to the primary purpose of the contract
without the express consent of the customer.

(e) A customer granting authorization to release confidential customer information for
purposes described in the terms and conditions of service shall satisfy the requirement in (a)
above.

(f) A CEPS or aggregator granted agency authority shall be deemed authorized to obtain
customer usage information when it has received customer authorization as described in Puc
2004.08 or Puc 2004.09.

(g) In the event of a dispute about the release of confidential customer information, including
whether the information is or should be confidential, a CEPS, aggregator, or customer may
file a complaint with the commission for resolution.

Additional Requirements for the Multi-Use Energy Data Platform 

If and when the Multi-Use Energy Data Platform (Platform) authorized under RSA 378:50-54 
becomes operational, Durham Community Power and any third-parties under contract that 
require access to ICD sourced from the Platform — such as CPCNH and third-parties contracted 
through CPCNH — will be required to comply with any Platform User Requirements, Privacy 
Standards, Annual Attestations, and obligations to report a security breach pursuant to terms of 
Settlement Agreement conditionally approved by the PUC in DE 19-197 and detailed in Exhibit C 
of the Agreement found in Exhibit 1B and as may be actually implemented. 

https://www.puc.nh.gov/Regulatory/Docketbk/2019/19-197.html
https://www.puc.nh.gov/Regulatory/Docketbk/2019/19-197/TRANSCRIPTS-OFFICIAL%20EXHIBITS-CLERKS%20REPORT/19-197_2021-05-05_EXH_1B.PDF

	I. Call to Order
	AGENDA
	Oct 3 TC - Res to accept NHDOT Monies.pdf
	RESOLUTION #2022-XX OF DURHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

	Oct 3 TC - 11A.pdf
	Oct 3 TC - Sansoucy Spreadsheet.pdf
	Proposed Rates


	Oct 3 TC - 11E.pdf
	Oct 3 TC - Durham Community Power Electric Aggregation Plan.pdf
	INTRODUCTION TO COMMUNITY POWER
	OVERVIEW OF Durham COMMUNITY POWER
	Customer Notification and Enrollment Process
	Customer Accounts and Electricity Usage Estimates
	Membership in the Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire
	Purpose of this Electric Aggregation Plan
	Approval Process for Durham Community Power
	Implementation Process for the Coalition & Durham Community Power
	Town Participation in Joint Powers Agency Governance
	Development of Member Cost Sharing Agreement and Services for Durham Community Power

	Coalition Engagement on Rule Making at the Public Utility Commission
	Coalition & Durham Community Power Implementation Milestone Charts

	OVERVIEW OF THE COMMUNITY POWER COALITION OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
	Regulatory and Policy Advocacy
	Coalition Member Services
	Innovative Local Programs & Customer Services
	Energy Risk Management & Financial Reserve Policies, Procedures and Practices
	Development of Renewable and Battery Storage Projects


	Durham Community Power Goals, Objectives and Requirements
	Durham’s Policy Goals
	Durham Community Power Objectives
	Near-Term Operational Requirements
	Performance Relative to Utility Default Service and Net Energy Metering Generation Rates
	Customer Rates and Products
	Renewable Portfolio Standard Requirements
	Energy Risk Management and Financial Reserve Policies Compliance


	ELECTRIC AGGREGATION PLAN STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS
	Organizational Structure of the Program
	Methods of Entering Into and Terminating Agreements
	Operation and Funding
	Rate Setting, Costs, Enrollment Process, and Options
	Rate Setting and Costs
	Enrollment Process and Options

	Rights and Responsibilities of Program Participants
	Net Metering and Group Net Metering Policies
	Ensuring Discounts for Electric Assistance Program Participants
	Termination of the Program

	Attachment 1: Legislative Background and Local Control Authorities
	Status of the Competitive Market
	The Community Power Act

	Attachment 2: The Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire
	Coalition Design Process
	Joint Powers Agreement Drafting Process
	Outreach and Implementation Process

	Attachment 3: New Hampshire’s Renewable Portfolio Standard
	Attachment 4: Utility Default Procurement Cycles and Rate Setting
	Attachment 5: Overview of Utility Net Energy Metering Tariffs
	Discussion of Utility Net Metering, Group Net Metering and Low-Moderate Income Solar Project Tariffs
	Comparison of Utility “Standard” and “Alternative” Net Energy Metering Tariffs
	Net Energy Metering Systems by Utility Territory

	Attachment 6: Durham Community Power Net Metering, Group Net Metering and Low-Moderate Income Solar Project Opportunities
	Attachment 7: Durham’s Public Planning Process
	Attachment 8: Town Policy Excerpts
	Attachment 9: Abbreviations
	Attachment 10: How Load Serving Entity Services will be Implemented
	Responsibilities of the Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire (CPCNH)
	Responsibilities of the Town of Durham

	Attachment 11: Customer Data Protection Plan
	Responsibilities of the Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire (CPCNH)
	CPCNH Requirements to Access and Use of Individual Customer Data
	Responsibilities of the Town of Durham
	Additional References: Statutory and Regulatory Requirements
	Statutory Requirements for Community Power Aggregators & Service Providers
	Additional Requirements Specific to Brokers & Competitive Suppliers
	Additional Requirements for the Multi-Use Energy Data Platform






